
NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE
CITY OF NAVASOTA, TEXAS

JANUARY 10, 2022

Notice is hereby given that a Regular Meeting of the governing body of the City of
Navasota will be held on the 10th of January, 2022 at 6:00 PM at the City Hall in the
City Council Chambers, Room No. 161, located at 200 E. McAlpine Street, Navasota,
Texas 77868, at which time the following subjects will be considered, to wit:

To watch the City Council meeting live please visit the City of Navasota's Youtube
here: https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCltnx7BQt0TCIYJRiZ14g5w
 
1. Call to Order.

2. Invocation
Pledge of Allegiance

3. Remarks of visitors: Any citizen may address the City Council on any matter.
Registration forms are available on the podium and/or table in the back of the city
council chambers. This form should be completed and delivered to the City
Secretary by 5:45 p.m. Please limit remarks to three minutes. The City Council will
receive the information, ask staff to look into the matter, or place the issue on a
future agenda. Topics of operational concerns shall be directed to the City
Manager.

4. Staff Report:

(a) Introduce State Representative Kyle Kacal;

(b) Introduce new employees;

(c) Update on Capital Improvements Project;

(d) Navasota Housing Authority update;

(e) Library update;

(f) EDC update;

(g) Blue Santa update;

(h) Board and Commission update; and

(i) Reports from City Staff or City Officials regarding items of community interests,
including expressions of thanks, congratulations or condolence; information
regarding holiday schedules; honorary or salutary recognition of public officials,
public employees, or other citizens; reminders about upcoming events organized
or sponsored by the City; information regarding social, ceremonial, or community
events organized or sponsored by a non-City entity that is scheduled to be
attended by City officials or employees; and announcements involving imminent
threats to the public health and safety of people in the City that has arisen after
the posting of the agenda. [Jason Weeks, City Manager]



5. Consideration and possible action on Republic Services contract. [Lance Hall,
Finance Director]

6. Consideration and possible action on the first reading of Ordinance No. 988-22,
amending Chapter 3 Building Regulations, Article 3.02 Technical and Construction
Codes and Standards, of the City of Navasota Code of Ordinances, adopting 2021
International Building Codes & 2020 National Electrical Code (NEC). [Jack Kelso,
Building Inspector]

7. Consideration and possible action on the first reading of Ordinance No. 989-22,
amending Chapter 5 Fire Prevention and Protection, Article 5.04 Fire Prevention
Code, of the City of Navasota Code of Ordinances, adopting 2021 International Fire
Codes. [Jason Katkoski, 
Fire Chief/EMC]

8. Consideration and possible action on the approval of Change Order No. 2 for the
Wastewater Treatment Plant Improvement Project. [Jennifer Reyna/Bleyl
Engineering]

9. Consideration and possible action on the purchase of a software upgrade from
Tyler Technologies. [Lance Hall, Finance Director]

10. Consideration and possible action on Resolution No. 707-22, designating the
persons authorized to sign checks and authorizing designated persons to access
bank accounts for certain purposes. [Lance Hall, Finance Director]

11. Discussion, consideration and possible action regarding the sale of certain tracts of
City-owned real property located in Navasota, Grimes County, Texas;
determination of the method of sale; and authorize City staff to complete the
procedures necessary for the proposed sale of said real property subject to final
approval by the City Council. [Lupe Diosdado, Development Services Director]



12. Consent Agenda: The following items may be acted upon with one motion and
vote. No separate discussion or action is necessary unless requested by the Mayor
or City Councilmember, in which event the item will be removed from the Consent
Agenda for separate discussion and/or action by the City Council as part of the
regular agenda. [City Council]

Consent Items are:

A. Consideration and possible action on the minutes for the month of December
2021;

B. Consideration and possible action on the expenditures for the month of
December 2021;

C. Consideration and possible action on the second reading of Ordinance No. 985-
21, approving a zoning change application submitted by James C Hassell for the
properties located in the A0062 J Whitesides Abstract. The zoning change
application requests to change the zoning from A/O: Agriculture/Open Space
District to Pecan Lakes Estates Phase IV PUD, a planned unit development, for the
development of a 63.55-acre single dwelling unit subdivision. The properties
affected are legally described as A0062 J Whitesides, Tract 17-2, Acres 31.76,
A0062 J Whitesides, Tract 17, Acres 31.79 , located in Navasota, Grimes County,
Texas;

D. Consideration and possible action on the second reading of Ordinance No. 986-
21, amending Chapter 3 Building Regulations, Article 3.06 Signs, Section 3.06.013
Signs on Public Property, for the purpose of allowing and regulating signs on public
property owned or controlled by a governmental entity; and

E. Consideration and possible action on the second reading of Ordinance No. 987-
21, approving an application submitted by Serafin Estupinan to the City of
Navasota requesting to abandon a twenty foot (20') public alleyway located in
Block H of the Park Place Addition, in the City of Navasota, Grimes County, Texas.

13. Executive Session: The City Council will conduct an Executive Session in
accordance with Section 551.072, Texas Government Code, deliberation regarding
real property and discussion regarding the potential sale and/or value of City-
owned property.

14. Executive Session: The City Council shall meet in Executive Session in accordance
with Section 551.086 - Texas Government Code - Utility Competitive Matters - City
of Navasota Gas Utility System - Natural Gas Supply Agreements, Arrangements
and Associated Matters.

15. Reconvene in open session.

16. Deliberation and possible action regarding the sale of a certain tract of City-owned
real property located in Navasota, Grimes County, Texas; determination of the
method of sale; and authorize City staff to complete the procedures necessary for
the proposed sale of said real property subject to final approval by the City
Council.

17. Adjourn.



DATED THIS

/JW/
 

BY: JASON WEEKS, CITY MANAGER  
 
I, the undersigned authority, do hereby certify that the above notice of
meeting of the governing body of the CITY OF NAVASOTA, is a true and
correct copy of said notice and that I posted a true and correct copy of said
notice in the glass bulletin board, in the foyer, on the south side of the
Municipal Building as well as in the bulletin board on the north side of the
Municipal Building of the City of Navasota, Texas, a place convenient and
readily accessible to the general public at all times, and said notice was
posted on the 5th of January, 2022 at 03:54 PM and will remain posted
continuously for at least 72 hours preceding the scheduled time of said
meeting. Agendas may be viewed at www.navasotatx.gov.

The City Council reserves the right to convene in Executive Session at any
time deemed necessary for the consideration of confidential matters under
the Texas Government Code, Sections 551.071-551.089.

DATED THIS THE 5TH OF JANUARY, 2022

/SMH/

BY: SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY

THIS FACILITY IS WHEELCHAIR ACCESSIBLE AND ACCESSIBLE PARKING
SPACES ARE AVAILABLE. REQUESTS FOR ACCOMMODATIONS OR
INTERPRETIVE SERVICES MUST BE MADE 48 HOURS PRIOR TO THIS
MEETING. PLEASE CONTACT THE CITY SECRETARY'S OFFICE
AT(936) 825 6475 OR (936) 825 6408 OR BY FAX AT (936) 825 2403.



 
 
 
 

Vision Statement: 
 

Navasota 2027:  What America Wants To Be 
“A beautiful, progressive, vibrant, service-oriented, 

close-knit community filled with 
historical charm and promise for people and business.” 

 
 

Mission Statement: 
 

“To guide Navasota’s growth in a way that maintains 
our heritage, culture, and uniqueness while 

maximizing our economic and social development.” 
 
 
 



 
 
 

THE CITY OF NAVASOTA 
COUNCIL LEADERSHIP POLICY 

 
 
It is the desire of the Navasota City Council to demonstrate responsible 
leadership by: 
 

(a) Establishing a 2027 Strategic Growth Map for the City of Navasota. 
 
(b) Assuring stable and effective city operations. 
 
(c) Developing and adopting policies that will guide the growth of the City 

of Navasota. 
 
(d) Facilitating private/public sector partnerships at the local, regional, 

state and federal level that will invest in the future of Navasota. 
 
(e) Ensuring all Navasota boards, commissions and committees are 

aligned with the Council’s growth policies. 



  

 

 

 
 

Report 

 

and 

 

Strategic Plan 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Adopted 

April 26, 2021 

 

 

Prepared and Facilitated 

By 

Ron Cox Consulting 

 

 

 



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

REPORT AND STRATEGIC PLAN 

COUNCIL/STAFF  

RETREAT 

 

CITY OF NAVASOTA 
  

February 12, 2021 

 

Introduction 
 

On February 12, 2021, the Mayor, City Council and staff of the City of Navasota met for 

a retreat planning session. The purpose of this meeting was twofold. 

 

• Confirm and expand the governance philosophy for the City Council. Included in 

that is identifying key elements of the Council’s vision for Navasota. 

• Prepare a strategic plan for the city. 

 

The Mayor, Council and staff freely worked together, and their work was exemplary in 

all respects. Ron Cox facilitated the process. 

 

Governance 

 
In their February 12, 2021 session the Council confirmed the governance policy they 

established in 2017 and expanded on it by further defining their governance philosophy. 

The Council participated in discussions about their role, together and their leadership 

responsibilities. The elements of a strong governance model are having and following 

clear vision and mission, establishing leadership and communications philosophies, and 

identifying the expectations of each other as City Council members, and the City staff, 

and of identifying and recognizing the expectations staff has of the City Council.  

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

3 

The key elements of the Governance Philosophy are leadership, communication and 

understanding and defining expectations. These define how the team will function 

together. Visioning and planning are the key elements that define what the strategies and 

goals are for the City of Navasota and what they will be to ensure the vision is ultimately 

attained. 

 

Governance Model 
 

The governance model first begins with leadership. Each member of the Council asked to 

provide input into how they will lead, communicate and a defining of expectations for 

themselves and staff. 

 

The facilitator began the process by asking each of the members why they ran and serve 

on the City Council. They responded as follows: 

 

The Mayor and Council reviewed and confirmed their Governance Policy and Rules of 

Engagement established in 2017. These are as follows. 

 

Mayor and Council members ran for the office and serve … 

 

• Had already serviced on other boards and wanted to be active in the growth to 

come. 

• To lead city in the right direction. 

• Saw growth coming and saw weaknesses in various ordinances that needed 

strengthening – now growth is really here. 

• To bring a different insight as a native of Navasota. 

• To encourage business growth and economic development. 

• Am able to serve. 

• Originally to change the direction of the city (and have done that). 

• Exciting to be a part of big decisions for the community. 

 

The facilitator then asked the members to describe the attributes they have that will 

contribute to the work of the Council. 

 

Mayor and Council have the following attributes … 

 

• Able to think outside the box on issues. 

• Business experience in the private sector. 

• Provides a technical background. 

• Brings a different point of view, being from a different generation than others on 

the Council. 

• Historical memory as a native of Navasota. 

• Love the community. 

• Committed to the community. 

• Service to the community. 

• Have the time to serve. 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

4 

• Have a special needs child bringing different perspective to decision making. 

• Raised seven children and now grandchildren all in Navasota community and 

schools. 

• Different stages of our lives, bring different viewpoints. 

 

The Mayor and Council of the City of Navasota will lead by … 

 

• Providing the facts. 

• Seeking and gaining understanding of the problems. 

• Listening, asking, seeking information and deciding. 

• Coming together for the greater good – compromising and building consensus. 

• Toward a common goal – betterment of Navasota. 

• Finding a win/win for all. 

• Building consensus. 

• Picking your wins carefully. 

• Not being afraid to admit you are wrong and changing your mind. 

• Being patient. 

• Being humble – not prideful or egotistical. 

• Being passionate about our city, but not dictatorial. 

• Being brave for our city. 

• Showing respect and being respectful of others. 

 

The Mayor and Council of the City of Navasota will communicate … 

 

• Effectively with citizens, each other and staff… 

• Concisely. 

• Clearly. 

• Completely. 

• Seek and allow responses. 

• Seek to understand. 

• Take the time to explain the issue and resolution to each other and to citizens. 

 

The Mayor and Council of the City of Navasota expect the following of each other… 

 

• Remember we all work for the citizens – Council and staff alike. 

• Set the table for the citizens on agenda items – fill in the gaps of knowledge for 

them. 

• Follow the process. 

• Be willing to slow the process down. 

• Respect each other and their opinions. 

• Be honest. 

• Be consistent. 

• Do your homework. 

• Be vulnerable – admit you do not know everything.  

• Be willing to learn. 

• Don’t take the issue personally 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

5 

 

The Mayor and Council of the City of Navasota expect the following of the staff … 

 

• Set the table to explain agenda items for Council and citizens. 

• Be clear and timely in the information flow to Council – understanding and 

responding to individual council members in the way that communicates best to 

them. 

• Don’t take it personally. 

• Provide the full picture – the good, the bad, and the ugly. 

• Have patience. 

• Know your lane and stay in it. 

• Understand the chain-of-command. 

 

(It was noted that the City Council and staff should all have and respond to the same 

expectations.) 

 

The staff expects the following of the Mayor and Council of the City of Navasota (as 

defined by the City Council) … 

 

• Don’t play the “gotcha” game with staff. 

• Have an understanding of staff, their role. 

• Ask questions and don’t assume. 

• Have patience. 

• Be fair. 

• Listen to staff. 

• Be respectful to staff. 

• Seek information on what council can do to help the staff succeed. 

• Seriously consider their recommendations. 

• Attempt to solve the problems that are presented. 

• Give them clear direction. 

• Remember that staff is working for the citizens, as well as the Council. 

• Don’t put undue pressure on staff. 

• Follow the chain-of-command. 

 

Vision and Mission 

 
On February 6, the Council and senior staff discussed the elements vision they have for 

Navasota. Currently, there are is Vision Statement and Mission Statement for the City. 

After a review, the Mayor and Council identified and confirmed the key elements of the 

vision and mission for the City.  

 

Vision Statement 

 

Navasota 2027: What America wants to Be: 

A beautiful, progressive, vibrant, service oriented, close-kinit community filled with 

historic charm and promise for people and business. 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

6 

 

Vision Elements 

 

These elements were discussed and are presented in no particular order of priority. It was 

noted that in reviewing the Vision Statement from the Comprehensive Plan, these key 

vision elements are consistent with and embodied in the Vision Statement. 

 

• Navasota is a role model for other cities. 

• Clean. 

• Safe. 

• Friendly and inviting. 

• Historic. 

• Beautiful and manicured. 

• Successful. 

• Sustainable. 

• Full of opportunity. 

• Innovative. 

• Charming. 

 

Mission Statement 

 

To guide Navasota’s growth in a way that maintains our heritage, culture and 

uniqueness while maximizing our economic and social development. 

 

Mission Elements 

 

These key mission elements are presented in no particular order of priority. 

 

• Committed. 

• Stay focused on the mission. 

• Dedication and desire. 

• Proper planning. 

• To communicate the Vision. 

• Provide great/exceptional customer service. 

• Clear, consistent, defined responsibilities. 

• Flexible. 

• Understanding of your role and responsibilities. 

 

Strategic Planning 

 
The facilitator led the participants in a SWOT analysis, identifying and discussing the 

strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats for the City of Navasota, both 

organizationally and in the community. The weaknesses then were divided into common 

themes – Areas of Emphasis or Vision Elements. Within each of the Areas of Emphasis, 

opportunities – strategies and goals – were identified to overcome the weaknesses. 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

7 

Finally, threats were identified that if not anticipated may get in the way of 

accomplishing the strategies and goals. 

 

The participants were divided into three groups. Each group focused on strengths and 

weaknesses as follows. 

 

Strengths 

 

Group 1 

• Qualified personnel. 

• Close knit team/community. 

• Has a can-do attitude. 

• Pride in community and city organization. 

• Friendly. 

• Great leadership – Council, City Manager and staff. 

• Caring. 

• Small town charm. 

• Service oriented. 

• Open minded and welcoming. 

• Knowledgeable about work, etc. 

• Dedication. 

• Good foundation upon which to build. 

• Resilient. 

• Organization is accountable to the community. 

• Have integrity and honesty. 

• Everyone is team player. 

• Willing to admit to issues and problems. 

• Self-aware. 

• Transparent. 

• Have community support. 

• Have a multi-faceted community makeup. 

• Visionaries. 

• Excellent location. 

• Diversity in the community. 

 

Group 2 

• Great staff. 

• Buy-in from the community. 

• A community feeling. 

• Progressive. 

• Safe. 

• Leadership. 

• Proactive Council. 

• Beginning infrastructure design improvements. 

• City services. 

• Facilities. 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

8 

• Partnerships. 

• Potential for growth. 

• Location. 

• History. 

• Industry. 

 

 

Group 3 

• Experience of Council and staff. 

• New councilmembers bringing energy and new ideas. 

• Leadership. 

• Collaboration. 

• Creativity. 

• Openness/inviting community. 

• Honesty/trust. 

• Stability. 

• Teamwork. 

• Loyalty and pride. 

• Service minded. 

• Relationships/friendly/user friendly. 

• Fun. 

• Commitment and dedication. 

 

 

Weaknesses 

 

Group 1 

• Lack of social and health services. 

• Minimal retail services. 

• Lack of transportation services. 

• Lack of after 5 p.m. activities. 

• Aging infrastructure. 

• Difficulty in communication from the city to the citizens. 

• Lack of finances for unfunded mandates. 

• Outside negative perception of the community. 

• Finding and retaining good staff. 

• Lack of seasoned/experienced staff at all levels. 

• Lack of citizen input/involvement. 

• Uninformed criticism from citizens. 

• Limited connectivity to high quality internet. 

• Technologically inhibited/fear of technology 

 

Group 2 

• Fear of change. 

• More work than staff can accomplish. 

• Lack of job career diversity. 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

9 

• Perception of the school district. 

• Lack of rental/multifamily in the city. 

• Retail leakage. 

• Lack of amenities for social and family time. 

• Train traffic. 

• Animal control/fire department facilities need replacing. 

• Lack of internet connectivity. 

 

Group 3 

• Communication/understanding of the message. 

• People making assumptions without all the information. 

• Aging infrastructure. 

• Sometimes resistant to change. 

• Dislike of others. 

• Financial resources are limited. 

• Retention of employees. 

• Outside perception of Navasota. 

• People have long memories. 

• Lack of participation by the citizens. 

• Being required to respond to circumstances beyond our control. 

• Limited technology in the community in the city. 

 

Areas of Emphasis 

 

Reviewing the weaknesses presented resulted in the identification of five areas of 

emphasis. 

 

• Governance 

• Economic Development 

• Image/Communication 

• Infrastructure 

 

Weaknesses Rearranged 

 

The weaknesses identified above, were then summarized and arranged to be within one of 

the areas of emphasis. 

 

• Governance 

o Resistance to change. 

o Employee retention. 

o Responding to circumstances beyond city’s control. 

o Unfunded mandates. 

o Lack of participation. 

 

• Economic Development 

o Diversity in career jobs. 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

10 

o Sufficient revenue for infrastructure redevelopment. 

o Retail leakage 

o Lack of social and family recreation. 

o Need for diversity in housing. 

o Social and health services. 

 

• Image/Communication 

o Negative perception of school district. 

o Negative perception of city. 

o Inability to provide information to all ages 

▪ Internally and externally. 

▪ Lack of understanding. 

▪ Criticism from the uninformed. 

▪ From city to citizens 

 

• Infrastructure 

o Train traffic. 

o Again infrastructure 

o Transportation. 

o Facilities. 

o Poor quality of internet and technology, city and citywide. 

 

 

Opportunities – Strategies and Goals 

 

The groups then brainstormed to identify opportunities to overcome the weaknesses. 

These opportunities are the basis for the strategies and goals prepared below. 

 

Governance 

• Establish a program to encourage more participation in Navasota 

government. 

o Establish and implement leadership academies. 

▪ Establish a citizens’ academy. 

▪ Establish a citizens’ police academy. 

▪ Establish a citizens’ fire academy. 

o Improve communication and strategic alignment between Council and all 

committees. 

• Establish an employee retention strategy. 

o Identify and promote the work culture, benefits of the city. 

o Promote the community and organizational culture. 

o Explore housing incentives to live and work in Navasota and attract new 

employees. 

o Cast a wider net for employees. 

o Explore opportunities for providing employee benefits that incentivize 

employment and retention. 

• Explore opportunity for a full-time grant writer. 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

11 

• Provide a clear sense of direction to all boards related to economic 

development. 

o Establish an Economic Development Strategy with the NEDC 

 

(Note: there were some communications initiatives in Governance. These have been 

moved to Image/Communication to avoid repetition.) 

 

Economic Development 

• Establish a partnership with NISD, Blinn, TAMU and other institutions to 

enhance the economic development process. 

• Seek out grant opportunities. 

o Pursue grants from EDA. 

• Enhance the marketing of Navasota. 

o Marketing to fulfill housing needs. 

o Marketing of lower utility costs compared to other areas. 

o Marketing location and proximity to major metro areas in the state. 

• Seek partners to improve local health and social service providers. 

o Explore health authority with county. 

o Explore partnership with St. Joseph’s healthcare system. 

o Recruit health provider specialists (optometrists and medical providers) 

• Enhance strategic retail recruitment. 

o Continue to partner with Retail Coach. 

o Attend recruitment conferences (industry, retail, restaurants, etc.) 

 

(Note: there were some infrastructure initiatives in Economic Development. These have 

been moved to Infrastructure to avoid repetition.) 

 

Image/Communication 

• Improve the perception and image of Navasota. 

o Establish a positive campaign to promote Navasota. 

▪ Prepare both an in-person and digital message. 

o Identify target audiences. 

▪ Attend realtor conferences to tell the Navasota story. 

▪ Utilize citizens’ academies (see Governance). 

▪ Explore use of Town Hall meetings – in-person and virtual. 

• Establish a program to educate ISD students about local government. 

o Sponsor a job shadowing program for students in the city. 

• Improve communication in general with the public. (Note: moved from 

Governance) 

o Be deliberate about creating buy-in from citizens.  

▪ Inform, educate and cast the vision. 

o Prepare and implement a communication protocol. 

 

Infrastructure 

• Prepare a plan for construction of an elevated grade crossing over the 

railroad tracks. 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

12 

o Identify location and right of way needs for the crossing. 

o Establish costs to city to accommodate the crossing. 

o Identify land for a substation for fire and animal control. 

o Establish contact and conversation with the railroad. 

• Prepare a capital improvements plan and program for needed city 

infrastructure. 

o Improve aging infrastructure. 

o Improve aging and inadequate facilities. 

o Expand parks, trails and bike paths. 

o Identify funding sources – bonds, grants, etc. 

• Create additional opportunity for social and family amenities. 

o Create additional sports facilities. 

o Make park improvements – trails, bike paths, etc. 

• Identify and plan for needed improvements to the community’s internet 

system. 

o Identify and review the existing systems available to the City 

▪ BVCOG Fiber Loop 

▪ Midsouth Synergies 

▪ Other 

 

Threats 

 

Finally, Council and staff identified threats to accomplishing the goals and strategies that 

have been identified. 

 

• Fear – lack of understanding of the issues and the unknown. 

• Money. 

• Economic downturn. 

• Federal and state unfunded mandates and restrictions to local government. 

• Social media. 

• Uncommitted leadership. 

• Politization of local government. 

• Suffering the unintended consequences of outside mandates. 

• Encroaching crime. 

• Another pandemic – COVID. 

• Adverse weather. 

• No response to the failing infrastructure. 

• The “cancel culture” – just turning off or destroying what one disagrees with – 

refusal to dialogue. 

• Not adapting to the change in the ideology of the culture. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

13 

City Staff Implementation Sessions 

 
April 5 and 14, 2021 

 

On April 5, 2021 the facilitator met with the City Manager and staff to review the 

outcomes of the planning session and to determine next steps for the development of the 

implementation plan. 

 

Implementation Plan Process. The staff reviewed a template to be used to develop the 

implementation portion of the planning process. During the discussions, a staff member 

was assigned as the team facilitator for the development of the implementation plan for 

each areas of emphasis. Further they began the process of developing action steps, with 

proposed timelines, and budget implications (if they were known at the time).  

 

On April 14, 2021 staff again met with the facilitator to review and complete a draft 

implementation plan. The implementation plan is included in this document.  

 

 

 

Reporting 
 

Finally, staff established reporting protocols. These protocols serve the purpose of 

keeping the staff on schedule with the implementation of strategies, keeping the City 

Manager informed, and providing regular reports to the Mayor and City Council on the 

status of the implementation of the adopted strategies. This provides for long term 

accountability toward the implementation of the Strategic Plan. 

 

Reporting Protocols  
 

• Council 

o Receives updates at least monthly from staff at Council meetings 

regarding various projects related to the strategic plan. 

o Receives formal status reports, including a semi-annual and annual report 

from staff to the City Council. 

• City Manager 

o City Manager receives regular – both formal and informal - updates from 

staff at regular staff meetings on progress of assignments. 

 

City Council Approval 

April 26, 2021 
 

On TBD, 2021, the City Council reviewed their work as well as the work of the staff 

since the planning session in January. After a thorough discussion the Report was 

approved as amended unanimously.  

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

14 

Conclusion 
 

The Mayor, Council and staff of the City of Navasota worked through a governance and 

planning process that allowed the Council to create a governance model and identify and 

expand strategies for moving the city forward. The process brought the staff leadership 

and Council closer together as a team and developed an implementation process to ensure 

the strategies are addressed and accomplished over time. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

15 

 
 

 

 

Strategic Plan 

2021 
 

 

 

 

Council/Staff Planning Retreat  

February 12, 2021 

 

 

Adopted 

April 26, 2021 

 
 

Prepared and Facilitated 

By 

Ron Cox Consulting 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

16 

Vision Statement 
(Adopted 2017) 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Navasota 2027: What America wants to Be: 

A beautiful, progressive, vibrant, service oriented, 

close-kinit community filled with historic charm 

and promise for people and business. 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

17 

Key Vision Elements 

2021 

 

 
• Navasota is a role model for other cities. 

 

• Clean. 

 

• Safe. 

 

• Friendly and inviting. 

 

• Historic. 

 

• Beautiful and manicured. 

 

• Successful. 

 

• Sustainable. 

 

• Full of opportunity. 

 

• Innovative. 

 

• Charming. 
 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

18 

Mission Statement 
(Adopted 2017) 

 

 

 

To guide Navasota’s growth in a way that 

maintains our heritage, culture and uniqueness 

while maximizing our economic and social 

development. 
 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

19 

 

Mission Elements 
 

 

 

 

• Committed. 

 

• Stay focused on the mission. 

 

• Dedication and desire. 

 

• Proper planning. 

 

• To communicate the Vision. 

 

• Provide great/exceptional customer service. 

 

• Clear, consistent, defined responsibilities. 

 

• Flexible. 

 

• Understanding of your role and responsibilities. 

 

 

 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

20 

 

City of Navasota 

City Council 

Leadership Philosophy 

 

The City Council of the City of Navasota will lead by… 

• Providing the facts. 

• Seeking and gaining understanding of the problems. 

• Listening, asking, seeking information and deciding. 

• Coming together for the greater good – compromising 

and building consensus. 

• Toward a common goal – betterment of 

Navasota. 

• Finding a win/win for all. 

• Building consensus. 

• Picking your wins carefully. 

• Not being afraid to admit you are wrong and changing 

your mind. 

• Being patient. 

• Being humble – not prideful or egotistical. 

• Being passionate about our city, but not dictatorial. 

• Being brave for our city. 

• Showing respect and being respectful of others. 
 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

21 

 

City of Navasota 

City Council 

Communication Philosophy 

The City Council of the City of Navasota will 

communicate by… 

• Effectively with citizens, each other and staff… 

• Concisely. 

• Clearly. 

• Completely. 

• Seek and allow responses. 

• Seek to understand. 

• Take the time to explain the issue and resolution to 

each other and to citizens. 
 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

22 

  

City of Navasota 

City Council and Staff 

Expectations 

 

Council expects the following of each other… 

• Remember we all work for the citizens – Council and 

staff alike. 

• Set the table for the citizens on agenda items – fill in 

the gaps of knowledge for them. 

• Follow the process. 

• Be willing to slow the process down. 

• Respect each other and their opinions. 

• Be honest. 

• Be consistent. 

• Do your homework. 

• Be vulnerable – admit you do not know everything.  

• Be willing to learn. 

• Don’t take the issue personally 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

23 

City of Navasota 

City Council and Staff 

Expectations 

Council expects the following of staff… 
• Set the table to explain agenda items for Council and citizens. 

• Be clear and timely in the information flow to Council – 

understanding and responding to individual council members in the 

way that communicates best to them. 

• Don’t take it personally. 

• Provide the full picture – the good, the bad, and the ugly. 

• Have patience. 

• Know your lane and stay in it. 

• Understand the chain-of-command. 
 

(It was noted that the City Council and staff should all have and respond to the same 

expectations.) 

 

Staff expects Council to (as defined by Council 

members themselves) … 
• Don’t play the “gotcha” game with staff. 

• Have an understanding of staff, their role. 

• Ask questions and don’t assume. 

• Have patience. 

• Be fair. 

• Listen to staff. 

• Be respectful to staff. 

• Seek information on what council can do to help the staff succeed. 

• Seriously consider their recommendations. 

• Attempt to solve the problems that are presented. 

• Give them clear direction. 

• Remember that staff is working for the citizens, as well as the 

Council. 

• Don’t put undue pressure on staff. 

• Follow the chain-of-command. 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

24 

City of Navasota  

 

Strategic 

 

Areas of Emphasis 
 

 

• Governance 
o Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota follows established 

rules of governance that promote civil discourse, consistent and 

predictable deliberation and exemplary action. 

 

• Economic Development 
o Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota will promote a strong 

and diverse economy that strengthens the local sales tax and 

property tax base while also contributing to a high quality of 

life. 

 

• Image/Communication 
o Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota will proactively work 

to provide accurate, timely communications to the citizens and 

improve the image of the community. 

 

• Infrastructure 
o Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota will provide excellent 

infrastructure and facilities that meets the needs of the 

citizens and businesses, and staff. 
 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

25 

Area of Emphasis 
 

Governance 

 
Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota follows established rules of 

governance that promote civil discourse, consistent and predictable 

deliberation and exemplary action. 

 

Initiatives: 

 

• Establish a program to encourage more participation in 

Navasota government. 

o Establish and implement leadership academies. 

▪ Establish a citizens’ academy. 

▪ Establish a citizens’ police academy. 

▪ Establish a citizens’ fire academy. 

o Improve communication and strategic alignment 

between Council and all committees. 

 

• Establish an employee retention strategy. 

o Identify and promote the work culture, benefits of the 

city. 

o Promote the community and organizational culture. 

o Explore housing incentives to live and work in 

Navasota and attract new employees. 

o Cast a wider net for employees. 

o Explore opportunities for providing employee benefits 

that incentivize employment and retention. 

 

• Explore opportunity for a full-time grant writer. 

 

• Provide a clear sense of direction to all boards related to 

economic development. 

o Establish an Economic Development Strategy with the NEDC 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

26 

Area of Emphasis 

 

Economic Development 
 

Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota will promote a strong and diverse 

economy that strengthens the local sales tax and property tax base while 

also contributing to a high quality of life. 

 

 

Initiatives 

 
 

• Establish a partnership with NISD, Blinn, TAMU and other 

institutions to enhance the economic development process. 

 

• Seek out grant opportunities. 

 

o Grants from EDA. 

 

• Enhance the marketing of Navasota 

o Marketing to fulfill housing needs. 

o Marketing of lower utility costs compared to other areas. 

o Marketing location and proximity to major metro areas in the 

state. 

 

• Seek partners to improve local health and social service providers. 

o Explore health authority with county. 

o Explore partnership with St. Joseph’s healthcare system. 

o Recruit health provider specialists (optometrists and medical 

providers) 

 

• Enhance strategic retail recruitment 

o Continue to partner with Retail Coach. 

o Attend recruitment conferences (industry, retail, restaurants, 

etc.) 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

27 

 

Area of Emphasis 
 

Image/Communications 

 
Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota will proactively work to provide 

accurate, timely communications to the citizens and improve the image of 

the community. 

 

 

Initiatives 

 
• Improve the perception and image of Navasota. 

o Establish a positive campaign to promote Navasota. 

▪ Prepare both an in-person and digital message. 

o Identify target audiences. 

▪ Attend realtor conferences to tell the Navasota story. 

▪ Utilize citizens’ academies (see Governance). 

▪ Explore use of Town Hall meetings – in-person and 

virtual. 

 

• Establish a program to educate ISD students about local 

government. 

o Sponsor a job shadowing program for students in the city. 

 

• Improve communication in general with the public (Note: moved 

from Governance) 

o Be deliberate about creating buy-in from citizens.  

▪ Inform, educate and cast the vision 

o Prepare and implement a communication protocol. 

 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

28 

 

Area of Emphasis 
 

Infrastructure 

 
Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota will provide excellent 

infrastructure and facilities that meets the needs of the citizens and 

businesses, and staff. 

 

 

Initiatives 

 
• Prepare a plan for construction of an elevated grade crossing over 

the railroad tracks. 

o Identify location and right of way needs for the crossing. 

o Establish costs to city to accommodate the crossing. 

o Identify land for a substation for fire and animal control. 

o Establish contact and conversation with the railroad 

 

• Prepare a capital improvements plan and program for needed 

city infrastructure. 

o Improve aging infrastructure. 

o Improve aging and inadequate facilities. 

o Expand parks, trails and bike paths. 

o Identify funding sources – bonds, grants, etc. 

 

• Create additional opportunity for social and family amenities. 

o Create additional sports facilities. 

o Make park improvements – trails, bike paths, etc. 

 

• Identify and plan for needed improvements to the community’s 

internet system. 
o Identify and review the existing systems available to the City 

▪ BVCOG Fiber Loop 

▪ Midsouth Synergies 

▪ Other 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

29 

 
 

 
 

 



 

Navasota Report and Action Plan 2021  

Feb. 5&6, 2021 Strategic Planning Process  

1 

 

 
 

 

 



Vision Element #1 

Governance 

 
Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota follows established rules of governance that promote civil discourse, consistent and predictable deliberation and exemplary action. 

 

Strategic Initiatives   Goals Action Steps FY22 FY23 FY24 Lead 

1.1 Establish a 

program to 

encourage 

more 

participation in 

Navasota 

government. 

1.1.1 Establish and implement leadership 

academies. 

 

• Re-implement a citizens’ academy. 

• Establish a citizens’ police academy. 

• Establish a citizens’ fire academy 

 

 X 

X 

X 

  

Brad 

Stafford 

 

 

 

 

 

• Hold town hall meetings with citizens in 

neighborhoods and restaurants to discuss City 

operations and governance. 

• Present organizational environment to the community 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

X 

 

• Grilling Stafford 

• Monday of City Council meetings: partner with Willy 

98.7 and Navasota Examiner to go over upcoming City 

Council Agenda. (also Facebook Live) 

 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

 

  

 

1.1.2 Provide a clear sense of director to 

all boards 
• Organize a volunteer luncheon for Boards & 

Commissions volunteers 

• Joint meeting with all boards/commissions for 

direction/legal training and Roberts rules. 

• Bring strategic planning and comprehensive planning 

documents to NEDC for approval 

• Recruit members who align with City Council 

• Improve communication and strategic alignment 

between Council and all committees. 

• Inform all communication & comp plan updates to all 

boards 

• Staff to facilitate strategic plan for economic 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

 

  



Strategic Initiatives   Goals Action Steps FY22 FY23 FY24 Lead 

development corporation 

 

 

 

X 

  1.1.3 Establish a volunteer appreciation 

program   
• Organize a short ceremony for volunteers around the 

city (ex: Blue Santa, Trash Off) 

•  

 

X   Rayna  

1.2 Explore 

opportunity for 

a full-time 

grant writer. 

 

1.2.1 Continued professional development   

• Explore grant writing training opportunities 

• Continue partnership with BVCOG 

• Research other cities how grants are handled 

 

  

X 

X 

X 

  

 

Rayna 

Willenbrink  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vision Element # 2 



Economic Development 
 

Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota will promote a strong and diverse economy that strengthens the local sales tax and property tax base while also contributing to a high 

quality of life. 

 

Strategic Initiatives   Goals Action Steps FY22 FY23 FY24 Lead 

2.1 Establish a 

partnership 

with NISD, 

Blinn, TAMU 

and other 

institutions to 

enhance the 

economic 

development 

process. 

 

2.1.1 Pursue grants from EDA. 

 
• Continue partnership with BVCOG for information 

on EDA grants 

• Continue relationship with Grantworks 

• Continue TEDC membership for resources on EDA 

grants 

• Explore new partnerships 

Ongoing 

 

Ongoing 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

  

 

Rayna 

2.1.2 Develop workforce programs • Explore partnerships with NISD 

• Continue partnership Chamber & CETA 

• Explore opportunities with the SBDC 

• Continue partnership with Bush School/TAMU 

• Reach out to BVCOG for funding opportunities 

• Research Texas Workforce Commission 

opportunities 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

Ongoing 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

 

 

X 

 

2.2 Enhance the 

marketing of 

Navasota. 

 

2.2.1 Marketing to fulfill housing needs. 

 
• Show housing growth to demonstrate demand. 

• Establish a permit/fee waiver program 

• Utilize NEDC website to highlight utility costs and 

location 

• Navasota Economic Development corporation 

Featured on the Navasota.gov home page 

  

Ongoing 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

X 

  

 

Madison 2.2.2 Marketing of lower utility costs 

compared to other areas. 

 

2.2.3 Marketing location and proximity to 

major metro areas in the state. 

 

2.3 Seek partners 

to improve 

local health 

and social 

2.3.1 Explore health authority with county. 

 
• Improve relationship with county and cities within 

the county 

• Continue to meet with the county this past year about 

this partnership but their level of interest currently 

 

 

X 

 

 X  

 

Rayna 



Strategic Initiatives   Goals Action Steps FY22 FY23 FY24 Lead 

service 

providers. 

 

not very high.  

• Continue to explore other avenues to recruit and 

establish a local public health authority and possibly 

a heath inspections office. 

• Possible partnering with other cities in the county 

 

 

X 

 

 

X 

2.3.2 Establish Health Inspector  • Establish Policy  

• Appoint and train inspector 

  X 

X 

2.3.3 Explore partnership with St. Joseph’s 

healthcare system. 

 

• Add health care recruitment to the regional (retail) 

recruitment project 

  X 

2.3.4 Recruit health provider specialists 

(optometrists and medical providers) 

 

2.4 Enhance 

strategic retail 

recruitment. 

 

2.4.1 Continue to partner with Retail Coach. 

 
• Conduct community surveys to see what citizens 

wish lists are 

• Regional retail recruitment project 

 

 

Ongoing 

X   

 

Rayna 2.4.2 Attend recruitment conferences 

(industry, retail, restaurants, etc.) 

 

  2.4.3 Downtown Assessment • Reach out to Texas Downtown Association for a 

downtown assessment 

• Explore marketing strategies 

• Partnership with SBDC 

X 

 

X 

X 

   

 

 

 

Vision Element # 3 



Image/Communication 
 

Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota will proactively work to provide accurate, timely communications to the citizens and improve the image of the community. 

 

Strategic Initiatives   Goals Action Steps FY22 FY23 FY24 Lead 

3.1 Improve the 

perception and 

image of 

Navasota. 

 

3.1.1 Establish a positive campaign to promote 

Navasota. 

 

• Prepare both an in-person and digital message. 

• Positive short videos about ongoing projects 

• Create a new branding campaign 

• Expand partnership with NISD 

 X 

X 

X 

X 

  

 

Madison 

3.1.2 Identify target audiences to effectively 

recruit new citizens while improving 

community pride. 

 

• Attend realtor conferences to tell the Navasota story. 

• Utilize citizens’ academies (see Governance). 

• Explore use of Town Hall meetings – in-person and 

virtual. 

• Utilize all methods of communication with the public; 

i.e. Grilling Stafford, trails town hall meetings, agenda 

briefings with local media, Navigate Navasota app 

 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

X 

X 

X 

 

3.2 Establish a 

program to 

educate ISD 

students about 

local 

government. 

 

3.2.1 Re-establish an internship/sponsor a job 

shadowing program for students in the 

city. 

 

• Co-op student to assist with administrative services for 

all departments with 15-20 hours beginning with a 

minimum wage of $7.25. 

• Speak with the co-op class  

• Both high school and college  

 X 

 

 

X 

X 

  

 

Peggy  

& Shawn 

3.3 Improve 

communication 

in general with 

the public. 

3.3.1 Be deliberate about creating buy-in from 

citizens. 
• Inform, educate and cast the vision. 

• Advertise City Council meetings in the paper 

($1,872/year), on the radio, yard signs, banners 

 

X 

X 

   

 

Madison 

3.3.2 Prepare and implement a communication 

protocol. 

• Explore new advertising techniques, i.e. Navigate Navasota 

app, CTY advertisement, Facebook events for all meetings 

•  Explore communication methods for Boards & 

Commissions, i.e. post all agendas on Facebook event 

 X 

 

 

X 

 



Strategic Initiatives   Goals Action Steps FY22 FY23 FY24 Lead 

• All boards give regular updates at City Council meetings 

 
X 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vision Element # 4 

Infrastructure 
 

Guiding Principle: The City of Navasota will provide excellent infrastructure and facilities that meets the needs of the citizens and businesses, and staff. 



 

Strategic Initiatives   Goals Action Steps FY22 FY23 FY24 Lead 

4.1 Prepare a 

plan for 

construction 

of an elevated 

grade crossing 

over the 

railroad 

tracks. 

 

4.1.1 Identify location and right of way needs for the 

crossing. 

 

• Thorough fare plan completion 

and implementation 

 

 X   

 

Jose 

& 

Lupe 
4.1.2 Establish costs to city to accommodate the crossing. 

 
• Compile land acquisition costs per thorough 

fare plan design 

• Obtain estimate cost proposals for  

engineering and construction 

 

  X 

 

X 

4.2 

 

Prepare a 

capital 

improvements 

plan and 

program for 

needed city 

infrastructure. 

 

4.2.1 Improve aging infrastructure. 

 

 

Phase one: FY22 

Phase two: FY24 

 

• CIP Bring in a consultant to help formalize the 

plan 

o Update water modeling  

o Consultant to model Gas system and 

Wastewater system 

o Present CIP to Finance Dept. to plan 

for funding options. 

o Streets and Storm water evaluations 

and priorities  

o Replace/repair gas regulator stations 

• Complete phase 1 of CIP 

• Begin phase 2 of CIP 

• Fire hydrant repair/replacement 

X 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

X 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

Jeff 

&  

Jose  

4.2.2 Improve aging and inadequate facilities. 

 
• Create a facilities master plan 

o Hire Consultant  

• Replace or improve animal shelter and vehicle 

services 

• Sell existing warehouse and build a new one 

• Replace the current primary fire station and 

EOC at the South LaSalle location.  

• Explore the possibility of a second fire 

station/public safety facility at Hwy 

  X 

 

X 

 

X 

X 

 

X 

 

 



Strategic Initiatives   Goals Action Steps FY22 FY23 FY24 Lead 

105/Fairway Dr. because of the continued 

growth and expansion of the city and the 

delayed responses due to train traffic 

• Valve and other mechanical equipment 

replacement at wastewater plant 

• Look at alternative disinfectant treatment 

methods 

 

 

 

X 

 

X 

4.2.4 Identify funding sources – bonds, grants, etc. • We currently are working with 2020 Capital 

Improvement Bond.   

• We are working towards doing a bond every 2 

years for CIP 

• USDA loan 

• Add gas capital improvement fee to monthly 

billing. 

• Funding from American Rescue Plan  

 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

X 

 

X 

  

4.3 Create 

additional 

opportunity 

for social and 

family 

amenities. 

 

4.3.1 Create additional sports facilities. 

 

• Identify most desired facilities 

• Identify possible locations 

• Land acquisition 

• Identify funding mechanism 

• Design facilities  

• Obtain bids/pricing on new facilities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

 X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

 

 

Colton 

4.3.3 Make park improvements – trails, bike paths, etc. 

 

• Adjust city ordinance on parkland dedication 

to allow developers to contribute directly to 

ongoing projects 

• Develop community programs that improve 

parks 

• Identify areas of greatest need 

• Obtain bids/pricing on improvements 



Strategic Initiatives   Goals Action Steps FY22 FY23 FY24 Lead 

• Navasota Sidewalk and Trails plan. 

4.4 Identify and 

plan for 

needed 

improvements 

to the 

community’s 

internet 

system. 

 

4.4.1 Identify and review the existing systems available and 

options to the City 

 

• Facilitate BVCOG partnerships with local ISP 

suppliers to improve speeds in underserved 

areas. 

• Encourage/ Incentivize Midsouth Synergy 

expansion into town via City ROW/Easements 

• Research other ISP options available. 

  X 

 

 

X 

 

X 

 

 

Lupe 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vision Element # 5 

Organizational Excellence 
 

Guiding Principle:  *Ron will update 



 

5.1 Establish an 

employee 

retention 

strategy. 

 

5.1.1 Identify and promote the work culture, 

benefits of the city. 

 

• Promote teamwork aspect of our culture, there are no 

islands everyone works together in some form or 

fashion. 

Hiring Process: 

• Streamline our online HR system 

o Job search & application process  

o Dependable Human Resource Information 

System software 

 

• Update both Incode and Internet system  
          

• Use of Social media to find candidates (i.e. Linkedin, 

Indeed) 
 

• Job boards at colleges and career fairs 

• Create a Referral Program with employee incentives  
 

• Create city parameter for job searches  
 

• Continued use of onboard process 

• Create formal policy hiring practices 

 

Offer competitive salary and benefits: 

• Contact other Cities (population of 5-10K) and 

surrounding industries/business (Trinity, etc.) to make 

sure City is within similar pay range  

• Find strong benefit package (medical, dental, vision, 

life)   

Other Incentives: 

• Continue to make employee feel valued and 

appreciated 
▪  

Ongoing 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

 

 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Peggy 

Johnson 

 

Strategic Initiatives  Goals Action Steps FY22 FY23 FY24 Leader 



• Continue to offer career advancement opportunity 

(invest in employee-greater future with City) 

• Pay for course for training (all departments) 
 

• College tuition reimbursement 
 

• Safety bonuses (no accidents, etc.) Safety pins 

(providing a day off), Bonus day- annually 
 

• Hazardous duty pays (ex: working big storms, etc.) 
▪  

• Team outings/lunches (Spring/Fall) and Christmas 

Party- employee does not have to organize or work the 

event 

• Monetary (bonuses and raises) 

• Continue to Recognize: years of service with Plaque 

and bag of goodies.  At the end of the year employee 

shall receive gift card (money, dinner, coffee, spa) (5 

year increments) 
o  

• Hand written note (“thank you” “job well done”, etc.) 
o  

• Brag board: located front lobby with employee picture 

and award (ex: Rookie of the year, Employee of the 

month, etc.) 

• Discount on rental facilities for city employees  

• City owned workout facility to promote health  

• Utility incentives to promote employees to live in 

Navasota  

• Reconsider 20-year retirement package/insurance to 

the age of social security  

• Evaluate additional employees to complete project 

assignments  

• Evaluate incentives for succession planning in career 

development  

 
 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

X 

X 

 

X 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

 

X 

 

X 

 

X 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

X 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

X 

 

 

X 

 

 

 



 

5.1.2 Promote the community and 

organizational environment  

 

• Video montage of all city events and city participation 

of employees 

• Clear and transparent communication 

• Create Cultural Diversity Awareness by reaching out 

to different segments of the City  

• Career Fair days 

Ongoing 

 

X 

X 

 

X 

 

  

5.1.3 Explore housing incentives to live and 

work in Navasota and attract new 

employees. 

 

• Partner with local realtors or Chamber to put together 

informational housing options package 
▪  

• Pay a portion of moving expenses into Navasota within 

the city limits 

 

X 

 

 

X 

  

  



ITEM: 

CITY OF NAVASOTA
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA

AGENDA ITEM NO.: 4. AGENDA DATE: January 10,
2022

 
PREPARED BY:
 
APPROVED BY: BS
 

Staff Report:

(a) Introduce State Representative Kyle Kacal;

(b) Introduce new employees;

(c) Update on Capital Improvements Project;

(d) Navasota Housing Authority update;

(e) Library update;

(f) EDC update;

(g) Blue Santa update;

(h) Board and Commission update; and

(i) Reports from City Staff or City Officials regarding items of
community interests, including expressions of thanks,
congratulations or condolence; information regarding holiday
schedules; honorary or salutary recognition of public officials,
public employees, or other citizens; reminders about upcoming
events organized or sponsored by the City; information regarding
social, ceremonial, or community events organized or sponsored
by a non-City entity that is scheduled to be attended by City
officials or employees; and announcements involving imminent
threats to the public health and safety of people in the City that
has arisen after the posting of the agenda. [Jason Weeks, City
Manager]
 

ITEM BACKGROUND:
 

Susie M. Homeyer, City Secretary



 

BUDGETARY AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY:
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
 

ATTACHMENTS:



ITEM: 

CITY OF NAVASOTA
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA

AGENDA ITEM NO.: 5. AGENDA DATE: January 10,
2022

 
PREPARED BY:
 
APPROVED BY: BS
 

Consideration and possible action on Republic Services
contract. [Lance Hall, Finance Director]
 

ITEM BACKGROUND:
The contract for solid waste collection between the City of
Navasota and Republic Services ended on January 31, 2020.  The
contract allowed for an extension for up to three (3) one year
periods with written notice at least 180 days prior to expiration. 
Council utilized a one year extension last year.  The proposed
contract will go from January 1, 2022 through December 31,
2027. This contract also allows for up to three (3) one year
periods with written notice at least 180 days prior to expiration. 
 

BUDGETARY AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY:
Republic is building a ramp at the recycle center.
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends approving the contract with Republic Services
for solid waste collection for 5 years.
 

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Proposed Contract
2. Current contract

Lance Hall, Finance Director

http://packets.shea.agendease.com/downloadScripts/getAttachment.php?cID=10000125&authSessId=&aName=1641243994x_at.pdf
http://packets.shea.agendease.com/downloadScripts/getAttachment.php?cID=10000125&authSessId=&aName=1638215415x_at.pdf


























































































ITEM: 

CITY OF NAVASOTA
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA

AGENDA ITEM NO.: 6. AGENDA DATE: January 10,
2022

 
PREPARED BY:
 
APPROVED BY: BS
 

Consideration and possible action on the first reading of
Ordinance No. 988-22, amending Chapter 3 Building Regulations,
Article 3.02 Technical and Construction Codes and Standards, of
the City of Navasota Code of Ordinances, adopting 2021
International Building Codes & 2020 National Electrical Code
(NEC). [Jack Kelso, Building Inspector]
 

ITEM BACKGROUND:
The currently adopted 2012 International Building Codes and
2011 National Electric Codes are now 9 years old. City staff has
reviewed the newly released 2021 international building codes
and recommends adoption of the International 2021, Plumbing,
Mechanical, Building, Residential, Fuel Gas ,Energy Conservation
and Existing Building Codes. As well as the 2020 NEC (National
Electric Code). Adoption of the recently released building codes
will ensure all new construction is built to the latest safety
standards and will also ensure the current BCEGS* (Building Code
Effectiveness Grading Schedule) ISO rating of the City is
maintained.

The current BCEGS rating for the City of Navasota is 5 for 1 & 2
residential dwellings and 4 for commercial and Industrial
properties. (1 being the highest and 10 the lowest).
 

BUDGETARY AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY:
none
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Jack Kelso, Building Inspector



Staff recommends approval of the first reading of Ordinance No.
988-22, amending Chapter 3 Building Regulations, Article 3.02
Technical and Construction Codes and Standards, of the City of
Navasota Code of Ordinances, adopting 2021 International
Building Codes.

 

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Ordinance No. 988-22

http://packets.shea.agendease.com/downloadScripts/getAttachment.php?cID=10000125&authSessId=&aName=1641416708x_at.pdf


ORDINANCE NO. 988-22 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NAVASOTA, TEXAS 
AMENDING CHAPTER 3 BUILDING REGULATIONS, ARTICLE 
3.02 TECHINCAL AND CONSTRUCTION CODES AND 
STANDARDS, OF THE CITY OF NAVASOTA CODE OF 
ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING FOR A REPEALER CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE; FINDING PROPER NOTICE OF MEETING; 
AND PROVIDING FOR CERTIFICATION OF ADOPTION. 
 

WHEREAS,  the City Council of the City of Navasota previously adopted 
certain provisions relating to technical construction codes and 
standards; and  

 
WHEREAS,  the City Council desires to amend the adopted technical 

construction codes and standards; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds and determines that it is in the best 

interest of the City to adopt the technical construction codes and 
standards as set forth herein; 

 
 
NOW THEREFORE, be it ordained by the City Council of the City of 
Navasota, Texas: 
 
SECTION 1. FINDINGS INCORPORATED 
 
The findings set forth above are incorporated into the body of this ordinance as if 
fully set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 2. 
  
Chapter 3 Building Regulations, Article 3.02 Technical and Construction Codes and 
Standards, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Navasota is hereby amended in 
its entirety to read as follows: 

ARTICLE 3.02 TECHNICAL AND CONSTRUCTION CODES AND STANDARDS 

Division 1. Generally 

Secs. 3.02.001–3.02.050     Reserved 

Division 2. Building Code 

 



Sec. 3.02.051     Adopted 

The International Building Code, particularly the 2021 edition, and any future 
amendments, editions or derivatives beginning sixty (60) days after printing, except 
such portions as may hereinafter be amended, is hereby adopted. The provisions 
therein shall be controlling in the construction, alteration, repair, equipment, use and 
occupancy, location, maintenance, removal and demolition of all buildings and 
structures within the area of jurisdiction of the City. 

 

Sec. 3.02.052     Conflicting regulations; adoption of permit fees 

(a)     The provisions of this division shall supersede other local ordinances to the 
extent that such ordinances are inconsistent with the provisions of this division; 
provided that nothing herein contained shall be construed to prevent the adoption 
and enforcement of an ordinance which is more restrictive or establishes a higher 
standard than those provided in this division, and such more restrictive requirement 
or higher standard shall govern during the period in which it is in effect. 

(b)     The City Council may, from time to time, set, by resolution, fees for permits 
under this division. 

 
Sec. 3.02.053     Safety to persons and property 

(a)     Installations, alterations and repairs to residential premises, mobile homes 
and mobile home courts, and materials, assemblies, and equipment utilized in 
connection therewith, shall be reasonably safe to persons and property, and in 
conformity with applicable statutes of the City. 

(b)     Alterations and repairs of residential premises, mobile homes, mobile home 
court buildings, and their accessory structures, and of material, assemblies and 
equipment utilized in connection with such buildings and structures, that conform 
with the applicable requirements of the building code shall be prima facie evidence 
that such work, material, assembly or equipment is reasonably safe to persons and 
property, except as otherwise provided in this division. 

 

Sec. 3.02.054     Relief 

It is not the intent of this division to declare anything to be a nuisance which is not 
such in fact. Any person to whom any order is directed or against whose property is 
taken or proposed to be taken under the terms and provisions of this division shall 
have the right to appeal such order or action to any court having competent 
jurisdiction. 

 

Sec. 3.02.055     Penalty 

Any person who shall violate any of the provisions of this division or the 

International Building Code adopted herein shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor 
and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined a sum not to exceed two thousand 
dollars ($2,000.00). Each day such a violation is committed or permitted to continue 
shall be considered a separate offense. 



Sec. 3.02.056 Local amendments to International Building Code 

The following local amendments are made to the International Building Code, 2021 
edition, as adopted by the City: 

 

Section 101.1 is hereby amended by inserting the following: City of Navasota. 

Section 103.1 is deleted in its entirety. 

Section 113 is deleted in its entirety. 

 

Secs. 3.02.057–3.02.100     Reserved 

Division 3. Residential Code 

Sec. 3.02.101     Adopted 

The International Residential Code, particularly the 2021 edition, and any future 

amendments, editions or derivatives beginning sixty (60) days after printing, except 
such portions as may hereinafter be amended, is hereby adopted. The provisions 
therein shall be controlling in the construction, alteration, repair, equipment, use and 
occupancy, location, maintenance, removal and demolition of all buildings and 
structures within the area of jurisdiction of the city. 

 

Sec. 3.02.102     Conflicting regulations; adoption of minimum size for 
residences and permit fees 

(a)     The provisions of this division shall supersede other local ordinances to the 
extent that such ordinances are inconsistent with the provisions of this division; 
provided that nothing herein contained shall be construed to prevent the adoption 
and enforcement of an ordinance which is more restrictive or establishes a higher 
standard than those provided in this division, and such more restrictive requirement 
or higher standard shall govern during the period in which it is in effect. 

(b)     The minimum square footage for residential structures shall be 750 square 
feet of heated area that will include a bathroom and designated kitchen area per the 
requirement of this code. 

 

Sec. 3.02.103     Safety to persons and property 

(a)     Installations, alterations and repairs to one and two-family residential 
premises, and materials, assemblies, and equipment utilized in connection therewith, 
shall be reasonably safe to persons and property, and in conformity with applicable 
statutes of the City. 

(b)     Alterations and repairs of one and two-family residential premises, and their 
accessory structures, and of material, assemblies and equipment utilized in 
connection with such buildings and structures, that conform with the applicable 
requirements of the building code shall be prima facie evidence that such work, 



material, assembly or equipment is reasonably safe to persons and property, except 
as otherwise provided in this division. 

 
Sec. 3.02.104     Relief 

It is not the intent of this division to declare anything to be a nuisance which is not 
such in fact. Any person to whom any order is directed or against whose property is 
taken or proposed to be taken under the terms and provisions of this division shall 
have the right to appeal such order or action to any court having competent 
jurisdiction. 

 

Sec. 3.02.105     Penalty 

Any person who shall violate any of the provisions of this division or the 
International Residential Code adopted herein shall be deemed guilty of a 
misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined a sum not to exceed two 
thousand dollars ($2,000.00). Each day such a violation is committed or permitted to 
continue shall be considered a separate offense. 

 

Sec. 3.02.106 Local amendments to International Residential Code 

The following local amendments are made to the International Residential Code, 
2021 edition, as adopted by the City: 

 

Section 101.1 is hereby amended by inserting the following: City of Navasota. 

Section R103.1 is deleted in its entirety. 

Section R112 is deleted in its entirety. 

 

Secs. 3.02.105–3.02.150     Reserved 

Division 4. Existing Building Code 

Sec. 3.02.151     Adopted 

The International Existing Building Code, particularly the 2021 edition, and any 
future amendments, editions or derivatives beginning sixty (60) days after printing, 
except such portions as may hereinafter be amended, is hereby adopted. The 
provisions therein shall be controlling in the construction, alteration, repair, 
equipment, use and occupancy, location, maintenance, removal and demolition of all 
buildings and structures within the area of jurisdiction of the city. 

 
Sec. 3.02.152     Penalty 

Any person who shall violate any of the provisions of this division or the 
International Existing Building Code adopted herein shall be deemed guilty of a 
misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined a sum not to exceed two 



thousand dollars ($2,000.00). Each day such a violation is committed or permitted to 
continue shall be considered a separate offense. 

 

Sec. 3.02.153 Local amendments to International Existing Building Code 

The following local amendments are made to the International Existing Building 
Code, 2021 edition, as adopted by the City: 

 

Section 101.1 is hereby amended by inserting the following: City of Navasota. 

Section 103.1 is deleted in its entirety. 

Section 112 is deleted in its entirety. 

 

Secs. 3.02.154–3.02.200     Reserved 

Division 5. Electricity 

Part I. In General 

Sec. 3.02.201     Penalty 

Any person who shall violate any of the provisions of this division or the 2020 
National Electrical Code adopted herein shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor 
and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined a sum not to exceed two thousand 
dollars ($2,000.00). Each day such a violation is committed or permitted to continue 
shall be considered a separate offense. 

 

Sec. 3.02.202     Installation of equipment in streets 

(a)     Only persons or public service companies that operate under a franchise 

granted by the City shall have the right to install any electrical equipment of any kind 
for the transmission of intelligence on, over or under the streets in the city. Any such 
installation made under franchise or grant shall be in strict conformity with all rules 
and regulations and ordinances of the city. 

(b)     Any installation of duct tube, conduit or wires under the public streets shall be 
in accordance with this division and other city ordinances covering the use of public 
places and streets. 

 

Sec. 3.02.203     Interference with wiring installations 

It shall be unlawful for any person to interfere with any electrical wiring installed or 
being installed in any structure or building. 

 

Secs. 3.02.204–3.02.230     Reserved 
 



Part II. Electrical Inspectors 

Sec. 3.02.231     Duties 

Electrical inspectors shall issue building permits for the installation and alteration of 
electrical wiring and equipment and shall be responsible for inspection of all new 
electrical installations and reinspections of all electrical installations. They shall keep 
complete records of all building permits issued and inspections and reinspections 
made. 

 

Sec. 3.02.232     Authority 

City electrical inspectors shall have the right from 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. to enter 
any building in the discharge of their official duties or for the purpose of making any 
inspection or test of the installation of electric wiring and electrical equipment 
contained therein, and shall have the authority to disconnect in cases of emergency 
any wiring where such electrical currents are dangerous to life and property or 
where such wires may interfere with the work of the fire department. Electrical 
inspectors are hereby empowered in emergencies to disconnect and to order the 
discontinuance of electrical service to any electric wiring or equipment found to be 
dangerous to life or property or not in conformity with the provisions of this division 
until such wiring and equipment and their installation have been made safe. 

 

Secs. 3.02.233–3.02.260     Reserved 

Part III. Inspections and Certificates of Approval 

Sec. 3.02.261     Required 

(a)     When any part of a wiring installation is to be hidden from view, the master 
electrician or his authorized representative shall notify a City electrical inspector that 
an inspection is necessary. Upon the completion of the work which has been 
authorized by the issuance of a building permit, it shall be the duty of the master 
electrician or his authorized representative to whom the building permit has been 
issued to immediately notify a City electrical inspector, who shall inspect such 
installations within three days, exclusive of Sundays and holidays, of the time such 
notice is given. 

(b)     If the work is found to be in compliance with the provisions of this division, 
the City electrical inspector shall issue a final inspection release to the public utility 
corporation furnishing the electrical service. This notice shall authorize connection of 
approved work to the electrical service. No connection shall be made until such 
authorization and final release is issued. 

 

Sec. 3.02.262     Inspection of existing installations; correction of unsafe 
conditions 

A city electrical inspector shall make, upon belief that faulty conditions exist, a 

thorough inspection of any electrical wiring and equipment installed within the City. 



When the installation of such wiring and equipment is found to be in an unsafe 
condition, or if it is found that the electrical measuring device has been tampered 
with so as to create a dangerous condition, the person owning, using or operating 
the same shall be notified in writing and shall, within fifteen days, make the 
necessary repairs to place such wiring and equipment in safe condition. If conditions 
are deemed to be dangerous, a City electrical inspector can order the immediate 
disconnection of the electrical service. 

 

Sec. 3.02.263     Notice of release required prior to connection to electrical 
service 

(a)     It shall be unlawful for any person to make connection from a source of 
electrical energy to any electrical wiring or equipment for which a permit is required 
until they shall have received a notice of release issued by a City electrical inspector 
authorizing such connection and the use of such wiring and equipment. 

(b)     It shall be unlawful for any person to make connection for a source of 
electrical energy to any electric wiring or equipment which has been disconnected by 
a city electrical inspector or ordered to be disconnected until a notice of release has 
been issued by a city electrical inspector. 

 

Secs. 3.02.264–3.02.300     Reserved 

Part IV. Licenses and Permits 

Sec. 3.02.301     License required; exception 

(a)     Except as otherwise provided herein, no person, firm or corporation shall 
install, repair or alter electrical wiring unless licensed as a master electrician, 
journeyman electrician, apprentice electrician or maintenance electrician with the 
state, and, having paid the proper fee, and obtained a building permit. 

(b)     A person performing electrical work with his own hands in a dwelling (or on 
the premises) owned by him and that is his homestead is exempt from licensing 
requirements and may be issued a permit to do electrical work on his homestead, 
upon demonstration of competence by the homeowner’s electrical test and payment 
of the required inspection fee. His work shall in all respects be in accordance with 
the minimum standards established by this division and shall be subject to inspection 
by a City electrical inspector. Failure or refusal on the part of such owner to remedy 
the deficiencies found by such electrical inspector within ten days shall constitute a 
violation of this division. 

 
Sec. 3.02.302     Classifications of electrical installers 

Classifications of electrical installers shall be recognized as those outlined by the 
state department of licensing and regulation for electricians.  

 

 



Sec. 3.02.303     Application for license 

Applications for licenses may be obtained from a City electrical inspector. 

 

Sec. 3.02.304     Permit required; exceptions 

(a)     Except as otherwise specifically provided in this division, it shall be unlawful 
for any person to install, or to permit any person to install, any electrical wiring 
system without first having procured a building permit issued by the city. 

(b)     No building permit shall be required for: 

(1)     Minor maintenance work, such as replacement of lamps, fuses, drop 
cords or other similar minor repairs. 

(2)     The connection of portable electrical equipment (including room air 
conditioners, ranges, etc.) to suitable existing permanently installed 
receptacles. 

(3)     The replacement of a motor by another motor of the same horsepower 
and rating, and installation of pressure and other similar controls, when the 
electrical supply for same has been properly installed. 

 

Sec. 3.02.305     Elimination of hazardous conditions in existing wiring 

It is the policy of the City to upgrade electric wiring so as to eliminate as rapidly as 
possible hazards which have developed in many installations in the city, due to the 
lack of a means of controlling electrical work prior to incorporation of the City or the 
adoption of this division. Therefore, it is the policy of the City that, whenever an 
electrician shall apply for a building permit to make an addition to an existing wiring 
installation, he shall certify that he has examined all of the wiring on the premises 
and has included as part of the job for which the permit is requested the elimination 
of all hazardous conditions in the existing wiring. 

 

Sec. 3.02.306     Building permit fees 

It is the policy of the City that fees associated with building permits under this 

division shall be set from time to time by resolution of the City Council. 

 

Sec. 3.02.307     Notification that work is ready for inspection 

It shall be the responsibility of the person who purchases a building permit to notify 
the inspection department of the city when ready for rough-in and final electrical 
inspections. Such notice will be considered to mean that all work is ready for its 
respective inspection. If reinspections are needed, additional fees may be added to 
the building permit and shall be paid prior to further work being commenced. 

 

Sec. 3.02.308     Work performed without permit or inspection 

In the event electrical work of any kind has taken place without the purchase of a 



building permit, and the safe condition of such wiring has not been inspected by the 
City inspector, the City, after notifying the occupant either in person, by phone or by 
certified mail, may discontinue all electrical service to said structure until such time 
as said wiring is found to be safe by the City inspector. 

 

Secs. 3.02.309–3.02.340     Reserved 
 

Part V. Electrical Code and Technical Requirements 

Sec. 3.02.341     Electrical code adopted 

The National Electrical Code, particularly the 2020 edition, and any future 
amendments, editions or derivatives beginning sixty (60) days after printing, except 
such portions as may hereinafter be amended, is hereby adopted. The provisions 
therein shall be controlling in the construction, alteration, repair, equipment, use and 
occupancy, location, maintenance, removal and demolition of all buildings and 
structures within the area of jurisdiction of the City.  

 

Sec. 3.02.342     Amendments to electrical code 

The following amendments are hereby enacted which exceed the adopted 2020 
National Electrical Code, hereafter said to be the electrical code of the City: 

(1)     When using twenty-ampere breakers with no. 12 wire on branch 
circuits, no more than twelve (12) outlets shall be permitted on those circuits. 

(2)     Type NM or NMC (commonly referred to as Romex) with aluminum or 
copper-clad aluminum is not authorized. 

(3)     No. 14 copper AWG type NM or NMC is approved for switch leg 
purposes. 

(4)     Each commercial building service shall have, as an integral part of the 
entrance equipment, a main disconnect means located at a readily accessible 
point immediately adjacent to the meter outside the building or in a separate 
electrical room, convenient to a person standing on the ground. 

(5)     All commercial, assembly and multiple-family structures over two (2) 
stories tall shall have all wiring installed in conduit. 

(6)     On appliance circuits, no more than three (3) outlets shall be 
permitted. 

(7)     All new wiring in the Central Business District (CBD), also known as the 
fire district, shall be installed in approved conduit, busways or wireways. 

 

Sec. 3.02.343     Approved materials, fixtures and equipment 

(a)     No electrical materials, apparatus, devices, appliances, fixtures or equipment 
shall be sold or installed in the city unless they are in conformity with the provisions 
of this division, the statutes of the state and the rules and regulations issued by the 



industrial commission of the state under authority of the state statutes. 

(b)     The maker’s name, trademark or other identification symbol shall be placed 
on all electrical materials and equipment used or installed under the provisions of 
this division. 

 

Sec. 3.02.344     Special requirements 

(a)     Types of wiring systems. In general, any type of wiring system may be used 

within the city limits as approved by the National Electrical Code adopted in section 
3.02.341 of this division, except where specifically prohibited. 

(b)     Aluminum conductors. Aluminum conductors shall not be used in any wiring 
within buildings, on the meter side of services or in underground services, except for 
that portion of the underground service entrance installed by the public utility 
company. Aluminum conductors may only be used pole to pole; or weatherhead to 
weatherhead; or weatherhead to pole. 

(c)     Wiring in commercial or commercial-residential buildings. Wiring in all new 
commercial or new combination commercial and residential buildings shall be 
enclosed in rigid conduit, metallic tubing, BX or BXL. This shall include expansions, 
additions or rewiring of existing structures. Existing structures being converted to 
commercial use where such use is not a hazard to the electrical system and no 
expansion to the system is required shall not be required to comply with this section. 

(d)     Services and interior feeders. All services and interior feeders shall be installed 
in rigid metal conduit, electric metallic tubing or approved busways, except that 
underground services, feeders and branch circuits may be installed in approved 
ducts or plastic conduit. Overhead services or feeders between two buildings less 
than six feet apart shall be installed in rigid metal conduit, electric metallic tubing, 
approved busways or ducts. Where wiring is installed in approved nonmetallic duct 
conduit, a continuous ground wire, sized per the National Electrical Code, shall be 
installed within the duct to ensure continuity of ground, and the entire wiring system 
must be installed in a manner approved by the electrical inspectors. Where approved 
underground duct is used it shall in no case be smaller than two inches inside 
diameter, buried at least eighteen inches below the ground surface. The portion of 
the service ahead of the meter cabinet shall not be run through attic spaces. Where 
conduit fittings are used ahead of meter cabinets, they shall be of sealable type and 
shall be plainly visible. Subfeeders in residential (single and multiple) buildings less 
than three stories tall may be nonmetallic sheath cable (Romex) grounded type. 

(e)     Meter cabinets, service outlet and metering equipment. Service requirements 
shall comply with the requirements of Entergy Corporation’s customer service 
requirement handbook. Where space limitations will not permit placing of meter 
cabinets as outlined above, the electric public service company, subject to the 
approval of the chief electrical inspector, may determine the arrangement to be 
used. All service outlets shall be located so as to permit placing the electric public 
service company’s service wire on the wall of the building next to the supply. The 
electric public service company shall never require the placing of meters on the front 
of the building or street side of a building without the written consent of the owners, 
and, where not practical in the opinion of the chief electrical inspector to place 



metering devices on the exterior of the building, said location shall be at the service 
company’s service as determined by the chief electrical inspector. 

(f)     Point of attachment of service drop. The point of attachment of the service 
drop shall meet requirements as outlined in the customer service handbook as 
published by Entergy. 

(g)     Equipment installed on exterior of buildings. Service switches and other 
electrical equipment installed on the exterior of a building or outside any building 
shall be considered as being exposed to the weather, and all switches and 
equipment shall be of a type approved for the prevailing conditions. Switches and 
equipment installed on the outside of the building in a recess in the outside wall and 
covered by a door as a part of the building structure shall be considered as being on 
the exterior of the building and exposed to the weather. 

 

Secs. 3.02.345–3.02.400     Reserved 

Division 6. Plumbing 

Sec. 3.02.401     Adopted 

The International Plumbing Code, particularly the 2021 edition, and any future 
amendments, editions or derivatives beginning sixty (60) days after printing, except 
such portions as may hereinafter be amended, is hereby adopted. The provisions 
therein shall be controlling in the construction, alteration, repair, equipment, use and 
occupancy, location, maintenance, removal and demolition of all buildings and 
structures within the area of jurisdiction of the City.  

 

Sec. 3.02.402     Penalty 

Any person who shall violate any of the provisions of this division or the 
International Plumbing Code adopted herein shall be deemed guilty of a 
misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined a sum not to exceed two 
thousand dollars ($2,000.00). Each day such a violation is committed or permitted to 
continue shall be considered a separate offense. 

 

Sec. 3.02.403     Plumber’s license and bond 

(a)     License. All persons who engage in or work at actual installations, alterations 
or repair of pipes, fittings and fixtures for water, sewage or gas in all buildings and 
structures and on all property now erected or to be erected, changed, constructed, 
reconstructed, repaired or altered in the City, and outside the City if same be 
connected to either City water, gas or sewer systems, shall possess either a master 
or journeyman’s plumber’s license or an apprentice registration card in accordance 
with Chapter 1301 of the Texas Occupations Code, as amended. 

(b)     Insurance. Every licensed master plumber must have on file with the Texas 
State Board of Plumbing Examiners a certificate of insurance. The City will verify 
through the Board's website or by contacting the Board by telephone that the 



insurance is on file. The certificate of insurance must: 

(1) be written by an insurer authorized to engage in the business of insurance 
in this state or an eligible surplus lines insurer, as defined by Section 981.002, 
Insurance Code; 

(2) provide for commercial general liability insurance for the responsible 
master plumber for a claim for property damage or bodily injury, regardless of 
whether the claim arises from negligence or on a contract; and 

(3) provide coverage of not less than $300,000 for all claims arising in a one-
year period. 

 

Sec. 3.02.404     Special requirements 

Table 702.3 of the International Plumbing Code, 2021 edition, titled “Building Sewer 

Pipe,” is hereby amended by deleting Acrolonitrile butadiene styrene (ABS) plastic 
pipe and asbestos-cement pipe concrete, coextruded composite ABS DWV schedule 
40 IPS pipe solid, coextruded composite ABS DWV schedule 40 IPS cellular core, 
coextruded composite PVC DWV schedule 40 IPS pipe solid, coextruded composite 
PVC DWV schedule 40 IPS pipe cellular core, coextruded composite PVC IPS, DR-PS 
DWV PS140, PS200, coextruded composite ABS sewer drain DR-PS in PS35, PS50, 
P5100, PS140, P5200 and concrete the use of which is prohibited, and by 
conditioning the use of other materials outside the slab. Outside the slab only 
polyvinyl chloride (PVC) plastic (type DWV), schedule 40 or SDR 26 is allowed. 

 

Sec. 3.02.405     Local amendments to International Plumbing Code 

The following local amendments are made to the International Plumbing Code, 2021 

edition, as adopted by the city: 

 

Section 101.1 is hereby amended by inserting the following: City of Navasota. 

Section 103.1 is deleted in its entirety. 

 

Secs. 3.02.406–3.02.440     Reserved 

Division 7. Gas Code 

Sec. 3.02.441     Adopted 

The International Fuel Gas Code, particularly the 2021 edition, and any future 
amendments, editions or derivatives beginning sixty (60) days after printing, except 
such portions as may hereinafter be amended, is hereby adopted. The provisions 
therein shall be controlling in the construction, alteration, repair, equipment, use and 
occupancy, location, maintenance, removal and demolition of all buildings and 
structures within the area of jurisdiction of the City. 

 



Sec. 3.02.442     Permit fees 

Fees for permits under this division shall be set by resolution from time to time by 
the City Council.  

 

Sec. 3.02.443     Penalty 

Any person who shall violate any of the provisions of this division or the 
International Fuel Gas Code adopted herein shall be deemed guilty of a 
misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined a sum not to exceed two 
thousand dollars ($2,000.00). Each day such a violation is committed or permitted to 
continue shall be considered a separate offense. 

 

Sec. 3.02.444    Local amendments to International Fuel Gas Code 

The following local amendments are made to the International Fuel Gas Code, 2021 
edition, as adopted by the City: 

 

Section 101.1 is hereby amended by inserting the following: City of Navasota. 

Section 103.1 is deleted in its entirety. 

 

Secs. 3.02.445–3.02.475     Reserved 

Division 8. Mechanical Code 

Sec. 3.02.476     Adopted 

The International Mechanical Code, particularly the 2021edition, and any future 
amendments, editions or derivatives beginning sixty (60) days after printing, except 
such portions as may hereinafter be amended, is hereby adopted. The provisions 
therein shall be controlling in the construction, alteration, repair, equipment, use and 
occupancy, location, maintenance, removal and demolition of all buildings and 
structures within the area of jurisdiction of the City. 

 

Sec. 3.02.477     Conflicting regulations 

(a)     The provisions of this division shall supersede other local ordinances to the 
extent that such ordinances are inconsistent with the provisions of this division; 
provided that nothing herein contained shall be construed to prevent the adoption 
and enforcement of an ordinance which is more restrictive or establishes a higher 
standard than those provided in this division, and such more restrictive requirement 
or higher standard shall govern during the period in which it is in effect. 

(b)     In a case where a provision of this division is found to be in conflict with a 
provision of a zoning, electrical, plumbing, fire, safety, health, water supply or 
sewage disposal ordinance, the provision or requirement that is more restrictive or 
establishes the higher standard shall prevail. 



Sec. 3.02.478     Penalty 

Any person who shall violate any of the provisions of this division or the 
International Mechanical Code adopted herein shall be deemed guilty of a 
misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined a sum not to exceed two 
thousand dollars ($2,000.00). Each day such a violation is committed or permitted to 
continue shall be considered a separate offense. 

 

Sec. 3.02.479     Local amendments to International Mechanical Code 

The following local amendments are made to the International Mechanical Code, 
2021 edition, as adopted by the City: 

 

Section 101.1 is hereby amended by inserting the following: City of Navasota. 

Section 103.1 is deleted in its entirety. 

 
Secs. 3.02.480–3.02.500     Reserved 

Division 9. Energy Conservation Code 

Sec. 3.02.501     Adopted 

The International Energy Conservation Code, particularly the 2021 edition, and any 

future amendments, editions or derivatives beginning sixty (60) days after printing, 
except such portions as may hereinafter be amended, is hereby adopted. The 
provisions therein shall be controlling in the construction, alteration, repair, 
equipment, use and occupancy, location, maintenance, removal and demolition of all 
buildings and structures within the area of jurisdiction of the City. 

 
Sec. 3.02.502     Permit fees 

Fees for permits under this division shall be set by resolution from time to time by 
the City Council. 

 
Sec. 3.02.503     Penalty 

Any person who shall violate any of the provisions of this division or the 
International Energy Conservation Code adopted herein shall be deemed guilty of a 
misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined a sum not to exceed two 
thousand dollars ($2,000.00). Each day such a violation is committed or permitted to 
continue shall be considered a separate offense. 

 

Sec. 3.02.504     Local amendments to International Energy Conservation 
Code 

The following local amendments are made to the International Energy Conservation 
Code, 2021 edition, as adopted by the City: 



Section 101.1 is hereby amended by inserting the following: City of Navasota. 

Section C110 is deleted in its entirety. 

 

SECTION 3. CUMULATIVE EFFECT  

This Ordinance shall be cumulative of all laws of the State of Texas and the United 
States governing the subject matter of this Ordinance, now existing or as hereafter 
amended.  
 
 
SECTION 4. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE 
It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the phrases, clauses, 
sentences, paragraphs and sections of this Ordinance are severable, and if any 
phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance shall be declared 
unconstitutional or invalid by the valid judgment or decree of any court of competent 
jurisdiction, such unconstitutionality or invalidity shall not affect any of the remaining 
phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of this Ordinance, since the 
same would have been enacted by the City Council without the incorporation of this 
Ordinance of any such unconstitutional or invalid phrase, clause, sentence, 
paragraph or section. 

 
 
SECTION 5. REPEALER CLAUSE 
Any provision of any prior ordinance of the City whether codified or uncodified, 
which are in conflict with any provision of this Ordinance, are hereby repealed to the 
extent of the conflict, but all other provisions of the ordinances of the City whether 
codified or uncodified, which are not in conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance, 
shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
 
SECTION 6. EFFECTIVE DATE 
This Ordinance shall become effective from and after its passage, approval and 
adoption on second reading, and its publication as may be required by law. 

 
 
SECTION 7. NOTICE OF MEETING 
Notice of the time and place, where and when said Ordinance would be considered by 
the City Council at a public meeting was given in accordance with applicable law, prior 
to the time designated for meeting.  

 
 
PASSED ON FIRST READING THIS THE 10TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2022. 
 
                                                                             
                                                         ________________________ 
                                                                BERT MILLER, MAYOR 



 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY 
 
 
PASSED ON SECOND READING THIS THE 18TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2022. 
 
                                                                       
                                                          _______________________ 
                                                                BERT MILLER, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY 



ITEM: 

CITY OF NAVASOTA
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA

AGENDA ITEM NO.: 7. AGENDA DATE: January 10,
2022

 
PREPARED BY:
 
APPROVED BY: BS
 

Consideration and possible action on the first reading of
Ordinance No. 989-22, amending Chapter 5 Fire Prevention and
Protection, Article 5.04 Fire Prevention Code, of the City of
Navasota Code of Ordinances, adopting 2021 International Fire
Codes. [Jason Katkoski, 
Fire Chief/EMC]
 

ITEM BACKGROUND:
The currently adopted 2012 International Fire Code is now 9 years
old. City staff has reviewed the newly released 2021 International
Fire Code and recommends adoption with amendments. Adoption
of the recently released fire code will ensure all new construction
is built to the latest safety standards and will also ensure the
current BCEGS* (Building Code Effectiveness Grading Schedule)
ISO rating of the City is maintained.

The current BCEGS rating for the City of Navasota is 5 for 1 & 2
residential dwellings and 4 for commercial and Industrial
properties. (1 being the highest and 10 the lowest).
 

BUDGETARY AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY:
none
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends approving the first reading of Ordinance No.
989-22, amending Chapter 5 Fire Prevention and Protection,
Article 5.04 Fire Prevention Code, of the City of Navasota Code of
Ordinances, adopting 2021 International Fire Codes.

Jason Katkoski, Fire Chief



 

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Ordinance No. 989-21

http://packets.shea.agendease.com/downloadScripts/getAttachment.php?cID=10000125&authSessId=&aName=1641316211x_at.pdf


ORDINANCE NO. 989-22 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NAVASOTA, TEXAS 
AMENDING CHAPTER 5 FIRE PREVENTION AND PROTECTION, 
ARTICLE 5.04 FIRE PREVENTION CODE OF THE CITY OF 
NAVASOTA CODE OF ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR A REPEALER 
CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE; FINDING 
PROPER NOTICE OF MEETING; AND PROVIDING FOR 
CERTIFICATION OF ADOPTION. 
 

WHEREAS,  the City Council of the City of Navasota previously adopted 2012 
edition of the International Fire Code; and  

 
WHEREAS,  the City Council desires to amend the fire prevention regulations 

of the City of Navasota by adopting the 2021 edition of the 
International Fire Code; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council finds and determines that it is in the best 

interest of the City to adopt the regulations as set forth herein; 
 

 
NOW THEREFORE, be it ordained by the City Council of the City of 
Navasota, Texas: 
 
SECTION 1. FINDINGS INCORPORATED 
 
The findings set forth above are incorporated into the body of this ordinance as if 
fully set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 2. 
  
Chapter 5 Fire Prevention and Protection, Article 5.04 Fire Prevention Code, of the 
City of Navasota Code of Ordinances is hereby amended in its entirety to read as 
follows: 

ARTICLE 5.04 FIRE PREVENTION CODE 

Sec. 5.04.001     Adopted 

The 2021 edition of the International Fire Code, including appendix chapters B, C, D, 
E, F, and G, as published by the International Code Council is hereby adopted to the 
same extent as though such code were copied at length herein, subject however to 
the omissions, additions, supplements, and amendments contained in this article.  

  
 
 
 



 
Sec. 5.04.003     Local Amendments to the International Fire Code 2021 
Edition  

 

Section 101.1 (Title) is amended by deleting “[NAME OF JURISDICTION]” and 
replacing with “The City of Navasota”. 

 

Section 102.1 (Applicability) is amended to read as follows: 3. Existing structures, 
facilities, and conditions when required in Chapter 11 or in specific sections of the 
code.  

 

Section 105.5.42.1 is amended by adding this section: The possession, storage, sale, 
use or explosion of fireworks is hereby declared to be a nuisance and, therefore, 
except as herein provided, it shall be unlawful for any person to possess, store, offer 
for sale, sell, or use or explode any fireworks within the corporate limits of the city 
and within the area immediately adjacent and contiguous to the city limits. The fire 
code official shall permit the use of fireworks/pyrotechnics for public or private 
displays when all of the provisions of NFPA 1123 are met and after all necessary 
permits have been issued. Every such use or display shall be handled by a 
competent and qualified operator approved by the fire code official and shall be of 
such character and so located, discharged or fired so as not to be hazardous to 
property or endanger any persons. 

 

Section 111 (Means of Appeals) is amended in its entirety to read as follows: 
Whenever the fire code official disapproves an application for a permit, or a building 
owner or occupant has code violations that they believe the true intent and meaning 
of the code has been misconstrued or wrongly interpreted, said building owner or 
occupant may appeal the decision in writing to the city manager within ten (10) days 
from the date of the fire code official’s decision. If no timely written appeal is filed 
with the city manager, the fire code official’s decision shall be deemed to be final. 

 

Section 112.4 (Violation Penalties) is amended by deleting “[SPECIFY OFFENSE], 
punishable by a fine of not more than [AMOUNT] dollars or by imprisonment not 
exceeding [NUMBER OF DAYS], or both such fine and imprisonment” and adding 
with “misdemeanor punishable by a fine pursuant to section 1.01.009 of the City of 
Navasota” in its place.  

 

Section 307.1 (General) is amended in its entirety to read as follows: Except as 
otherwise allowed by this section, no person shall burn or authorize the burning of 
any rubbish, trash, waste, leaves, weeds, grass, lumber or any other combustible 
materials in the city. Such materials may be burned in containers or incinerators 
subject to the approval by the fire code official. Outdoor burning shall be authorized 
for fires used solely for recreational or ceremonial purposes, or in the preparation of 



food, or used exclusively for the purpose of supplying warmth during cold weather. 
Such burning shall be subject to the requirements of title 30, Texas Administrative 
Code, section 111.219(7) which states that electrical insulation, treated lumber, 
plastics, nonwood construction/demolition materials, heavy oils, asphaltic materials, 
potentially explosive materials, chemical wastes, and items containing natural or 
synthetic rubber must not be burned. Containers such as chimeneas, patio 
fireplaces, covered metal fire pits, or other approved commercially manufactured fire 
pits must be used for recreational burning and warmth. After submitting written 
documentation to the fire code official evidencing the consent of all owners of 
property and occupants of structures located within 300 feet of the proposed burn 
site and after issuance of the proper permit by the fire code official, a person may 
conduct on-site burning of trees, brush, grass, leaves, branch trimmings, or other 
plant growth, by the owner of the property or any other person authorized by the 
owner, and when the material is generated only from that property. Such burning 
shall be constantly attended by a competent and qualified person until such fire is 
extinguished. Such person shall have adequate fire extinguishing equipment readily 
available at the site of the burning. 

 

Section 307.3 (Extinguishment authority) is amended by adding: …, “the fire code 
official, officer of the fire department, or officer of the police department” …  

 

Section 308.1.6.3 (Sky Lanterns) is amended in its entirety to read as follows: A 
person shall not release or cause to be released an unmanned free-floating device 
containing an open flame or other heat source such as but not limited to a sky 
lantern. 

 

Section 501.4 (Timing of installation) is amended in its entirety to read as follows: 
Where fire apparatus access roads or a water supply for fire protection is required to 
be installed for any structure or development, they shall be installed, tested, and 
approved prior to the time of which construction has progressed beyond completion 
of the foundation of any structure.  

Section 503.2.1 (Dimensions) is amended by replacing: “20 feet” with “25 feet” and 
“13 feet 6 inches” with “14 feet.” 

 

Section 503.3 (Marking) is amended in its entirety to read as follows: The owner, 
manager, or person in charge of any building or property to which fire lanes have 
been approved or required by the fire code official shall mark and maintain said fire 
lanes in the following manner: All curbs and curb ends shall be painted red with four 
inch (4") white lettering stating “FIRE LANE - NO PARKING - TOW AWAY ZONE.” The 
phrase should be spaced fifteen feet (15') apart continuously. Example: FIRE LANE 
(15 foot space) NO PARKING (15 foot space) TOW AWAY ZONE (15 foot space) FIRE 
LANE 

In areas where fire lanes are required but no continuous curb is available, one of the 
following methods shall be used, in conjunction with the curb markings, to indicate 



that the fire lane is continuous: 

Option #1: A sign twelve inches (12”) wide and eighteen inches (18”) in height 
stating “FIRE LANE DESIGNATED PARKING ONLY” with a companion sign twelve 
inches (12”) wide and six inches (6”) in height stating “TOW AWAY ZONE” shall be 
mounted in a conspicuous location at each entrance to the property. The bottom of 
the sign shall be permanently affixed to a stationary post at 6ft above grade. (See 
sign Detail and Option 1 below for painting detail) 

Option #2: Where there is no curb including behind parking spaces a continuous 
eight inch (8”) red stripe with four inch (4”) white lettering stating “FIRE LANE – NO 
PARKING – TOW AWAY ZONE” Each phrase should be spaced no more than 15ft 
apart. Example: FIRE LANE (15ft space) NO PARKING (15ft space) TOW AWAY 
ZONE (15ft space) FIRE LANE (15ft space)…(See option 2 below for painting detail) 

 

 



 

 

 

 



Section 503 (Fire apparatus access roads) is amended by adding section 503.3.1, 
section 503.3.2, and 503.3.3 to read as follows: 

Section 503.3.1 (Destruction of Fire Lane or Tow Away Signs) 

It is hereby unlawful for any person without lawful authority to attempt to or to 
alter, destroy, deface, injure, knock down, or remove any sign designating a fire lane 
or tow-away zone erected under the terms of this code, or to deface a curb marking 
in any way. 

 

Section 503.3.2 (Abandonment or Closing) 

No owner, manager, or person in charge of any premises served by a required fire 
lane shall abandon or close such fire lane without written permission of the fire 
marshal of the City of Navasota. 

 

Section 503.3.3 (Authority Under Emergency Conditions) 

The fire marshal is hereby authorized to establish fire lanes during any fire, and to 
exclude all persons other than those authorized to assist in extinguishing the fire or 
the owner or occupants of the burning property from within such lanes. 

 

Section 503.4 (Obstruction of Fire Apparatus Access Roads) is amended in its 
entirety to read as follows: 

No person shall park, place, allow, permit, or cause to be parked or placed, any 
motor vehicle, trailer, boat, or similar obstruction within or upon an area designated 
as a fire lane and marked by an appropriate sign or curb marking. 

 

Section 503 (Fire Apparatus Access Roads) is amended by adding section 503.4.2 
and section 503.4.3 to read as follows: 

 

Section 503.4.2 (Obstructing Fire Lanes): Any motor vehicle, boat, or similar 
obstruction found parked within an area designated as a fire lane as required by this 
section is hereby declared a nuisance per se and any such motor vehicle, trailer, 
boat, or similar obstruction parked or unoccupied in such a manner as to obstruct in 
whole or in part any such fire lane shall be prima facie evidence that the registered 
owner unlawfully parked, placed, or permitted to be parked or placed such 
obstruction within a fire lane.  

 

Section 503.4.3 (Enforcement; Issuance of Citations; Impoundment of Obstructions) 
The Fire Official or any member of the fire department designated by the  Fire Chief, 
the Chief of Police, or any member of the police department designated by the Chief 
of Police, are hereby authorized to issue parking citations for any motor vehicle, 
trailer, boat, or similar obstruction found parked or unattended in or upon a 
designated fire lane and may have such obstruction removed by towing it away. 
Such vehicle or obstruction may be redeemed by payment of the towage and 



storage charges at the owner’s expense. No parking citations shall be voided, nor 
shall the violator be relieved of any penalty assessed by a judge of the municipal 
court for any provision by the redemption of the obstruction from the storage 
facility. 

 

Section 505.1 (Address identification) is amended in its entirety to read as follows:  

 

Section 505.1 (Address identification) New and existing buildings shall be provided 
with approved address identification.  

(a)An official address, assigned by the county addressing administrator, or his 
or her designee, shall be provided and placed pursuant to this section in such a 
position as to be plainly legible and clearly visible from the public street or 
roadway fronting the property. All address numbers shall be composed of a 
durable material and of a color that provides a contrast to the background 
itself. Durable materials used for the official address shall include, but not be 
limited to, wood, plastic, metal, weather resistant paint, weather resistant vinyl, 
or weather resistant material designed for outside use on a glass surface.  
Address numbers shall not be obstructed by landscaping, vegetation, or other 
permanent objects. 

 
(b) Addresses must be temporarily posted for a structure under 
construction as soon as work commences on the property. 

 
(c) Residential Homes. Addresses placed pursuant to this section shall be a 
minimum of four (4) inches in height and stroke of no less than 0.5 inch. The 
official address shall be placed a minimum of three (3) feet and a maximum of 
twelve (12) feet in height measured from the ground level. Buildings or 
structures located more than fifty (50) feet from the street curb shall have an 
official address at least    five (5) inches in height.  Residential structures, which 
provide for rear vehicular access from a   dedicated public alley, street or 
designated fire lane, shall conspicuously post an official address at least three 
(3) inches in height so that it is visible from the public alley, street or 
designated fire lane. 

 
(d) Single Commercial Structures.  Addresses placed pursuant to this section 
shall be a minimum of four (4) inches in height and stroke of no less than 0.5 
inch. The official address shall be placed a minimum of three (3) feet and a 
maximum of thirty (30) feet in height measured from the ground level. Buildings 
or structures located more than fifty (50) feet from the street curb shall have an 
official address at least five (5) inches in height.   Single commercial structures, 
which provide for rear vehicular access from a dedicated public alley, street or 
designated fire lane, shall conspicuously post an official address at least 4 
inches in height so that it is visible from the public alley, street or designated 
fire lane. 

 
(e) Commercial & Residential Building Complexes. A building complex 



composed of multiple buildings and/or multiple dwellings or units shall have 
an approved building and unit number plan. There may be a main address 
assigned with building and unit numbers or, if there is sufficient street 
frontage, each building, suite, or tenant, may also be assigned an official 
address number. 

 
(1) Building Numbers 

A complex with multiple buildings shall have a building number 
posted in a location that is plainly legible and clearly visible from the 
fire lane and access road. The building number shall be a minimum 
of 6 inches in height with a 1/2 inch stroke. If a building contains 
four (4) or more commercial or residential units, unit numbers shall 
be posted and maintained at each end of said building indicating the 
units contained therein. The residential unit numbers shall be at least 
four (4) inches in height and shall be permanently affixed to the 
outside of the building. Building and residential unit numbers shall be 
of a color that is in contrast to the background. If the residential unit 
numbers posted at one end of the building are clearly visible from a 
public street or private driveway, and the opposite end of the 
building is not visible from either a public street or a private 
driveway, residential unit numbers shall be required only on the end 
of the building that is clearly visible from the public street or private 
driveway. Building numbers should be externally or internally 
illuminated by a sufficient light source or made from material with a 
reflective finish. 

 
Please reference Exhibits A and B below: 

Exhibit A. Exhibit B. 

 

(2) Unit Numbers 
Each suite or unit number shall be posted and maintained on or 
within 18 inches of the primary entrance to the unit, or such greater 
distance as the chief building official or fire marshal may approve. 
Posted suite or unit numbers must be a minimum 3 inches in height 
with a 1/4 inch stroke. The unit number will follow the following 
standard: 

i. first character/s will be the building number, 
ii. second character/s will be the floor number, 
iii. third character/s will be the individual space. 

 



(3) Commercial buildings with side or rear access in addition to the 
main entrance shall also display the business name and official 
address and suite number on each side or rear door with characters 
at least 3 inches in height. 

 
(4) The owner or manager of a building complex, which contain enclosed 

suites accessed from a main entrance door with individual entry doors 
located internally, shall submit, for approval by the chief building 
official or fire code official, a diagram or floor plan of the entire 
complex, indicating the location and number of each unit or suite. 
When making a change in a business name or location, the owner or 
manager shall notify the chief building official or fire marshal in 
writing. 

 
(5) Two or more entrances are considered primary entrances if the 

person in control of the property so desires. Where two or more 
entrances are considered primary entrances, all numbers must be 
posted and maintained at each such entrance as though it were the 
only primary entrance. When required by the chief building official 
or fire marshal, address numbers shall be provided in additional 
approved locations to facilitate emergency response. 

 
(f) Variations from these standards will require approval by the chief building 
official or fire code official. 

 

Section 506.1 (Where required) is amended in its entirety to read as follows: Knox-
boxes are required on all new construction that will have secured openings and/or 
immediate access is necessary for life-saving and/or firefighting purposes. The Knox-
box shall be located within ten (10) feet of the main entrance of the building or 
other locations approved by a fire code official, and must contain keys to access all 
areas of the building. Exemption: Group R 

 

Section 507.5.1 (Where required) is amended by deleting “400” and replacing with 
“300”, by deleting “600” and replacing with “500” in exception 1 and deleting 
exception 2 in its entirety. 

 

Section 507.5.3 is amended by adding Section 507.5.3.1 (Painting Requirements for 
Private Hydrants) which will read as follows: 

Section 507.5.3.1 A private hydrant within the City of Navasota will be painted 
according to the requirements in this section. The hydrant body will be painted 
“Safety Red”, the caps will be painted “Reflective White’, and the bonnet will be 
painted according to their flow capability listed below. 

Bonnet Color Coding 
a. Less than 500 GPM - Safety Red 
b. 500 GPM to 999 GPM - Safety Yellow 
c. 1000 GPM to 1499 GPM - Safety Green 



d. 1500 GPM or greater - Safety Blue 

(See example below showing a hydrant that should flow between 1000 and 1499 
gallons per minute) 

       

 

Section 901 is amended by adding 901.6.4 to read as follows: 

 

Section 901.6.4 (False Alarms and Nuisance Alarms) False alarms and nuisance 
alarms shall not be given, signaled, or transmitted or caused or permitted to be 
given, signaled, or transmitted in any manner. 

 

Section 901.7 (System Out of Service) is amended to read as follows: Where a 
required fire protection system is out of service or in the event of an excessive 
number of activations, the fire department and the fire code official shall be notified 
immediately and, where… (remaining text unchanged) 

 

Section 903.2 (Where required) is amended in its entirety to read as follows: An 
automatic sprinkler system shall be provided throughout all buildings where the total 
building area exceeds 12,000 square feet and/or all structures exceeding two (2) 
stories in height. Also, any building that a sprinkler system is required must also 
provide sprinklers in attic areas. 

In addition to the requirements of this section, an automatic sprinkler system shall 
be provided throughout all new buildings and structures as follows: 

1.     Where the total building area exceeds 12,000 square feet in area. 

2.     Where the height exceeds two (2) stories, regardless of area. 

 

Section 903.2.4 (Group F-1) is amended by replacing “three” with “two in item “2” 
deleting item “3”. 

 



Section 903.2.7 (Group M #2) is amended by replacing “three” with “two” and by 
deleting item 3. 

 

Section 903.2.8 (Group R) is amended by adding the following exception: 

1. Boarding houses (transient), rooming houses (transient), bed and breakfast 
inns, and other similar occupancies (not including hotels or motels) containing 
not more than four guest rooms for which rent is paid and that are occupied 
by transient guests only. 

 

Section 903.2.9 (Group S-1) is amended by replacing “three” with “two” in item “2” 
and deleting item “3”. 

 

Appendix C (Fire Hydrant Locations and Distribution) Section C103.1 (Hydrant 
Spacing) is amended by adding the following to the end of said section: “…or be 
approved by the fire code official.” 

 

Appendix D (Fire Apparatus Access Roads) Section D102.1 (Access and Loading) is 
amended by replacing “75,000” with “84,000”.  

SECTION 3. CUMULATIVE EFFECT  

This Ordinance shall be cumulative of all laws of the State of Texas and the United 
States governing the subject matter of this Ordinance, now existing or as hereafter 
amended.  
 
SECTION 4. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE 
It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the phrases, clauses, 
sentences, paragraphs and sections of this Ordinance are severable, and if any 
phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance shall be declared 
unconstitutional or invalid by the valid judgment or decree of any court of competent 
jurisdiction, such unconstitutionality or invalidity shall not affect any of the remaining 
phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of this Ordinance, since the 
same would have been enacted by the City Council without the incorporation of this 
Ordinance of any such unconstitutional or invalid phrase, clause, sentence, 
paragraph or section. 
 
SECTION 5. REPEALER CLAUSE 
Any provision of any prior ordinance of the City whether codified or uncodified, 
which are in conflict with any provision of this Ordinance, are hereby repealed to the 
extent of the conflict, but all other provisions of the ordinances of the City whether 
codified or uncodified, which are not in conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance, 
shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
SECTION 6. EFFECTIVE DATE 



This Ordinance shall become effective from and after its passage, approval and 
adoption on second reading, and its publication as may be required by law. 

 
 
SECTION 7. NOTICE OF MEETING 
Notice of the time and place, where and when said Ordinance would be considered by 
the City Council at a public meeting was given in accordance with applicable law, prior 
to the time designated for meeting.  

 
 
PASSED ON FIRST READING THIS THE 10th DAY OF JANUARY, 2022. 
 
                                                                             
                                                         _______________________ 
                                                                BERT MILLER, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY 
 
 
PASSED ON SECOND READING THIS THE 18TH DAY OF JANUARY, 2022. 
 
                                                                       
                                                          _______________________ 
                                                                BERT MILLER, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY 

 



ITEM: 

CITY OF NAVASOTA
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA

AGENDA ITEM NO.: 8. AGENDA DATE: January 10,
2022

 
PREPARED BY:
 
APPROVED BY: BS
 

Consideration and possible action on the approval of
Change Order No. 2 for the Wastewater Treatment Plant
Improvement Project. [Jennifer Reyna/Bleyl Engineering]
 

ITEM BACKGROUND:
As part of the repair work at the wastewater treatment plant,
water was drained from the original clarifiers and inspected the
units for any necessary repairs that were hidden below the water
level. During the inspection, the support columns for the sludge
rakes were corroding.  The additional work is to clean, grind, and
recoat the columns in a protective epoxy, which will help extend
the life of both clarifiers. 
 

BUDGETARY AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY:
Original Contract Amount: $375,639

Change Order No. 1 Amount: $63,613

Change Order No. 2 Amount: $4,569

New Contract Amount: $443,821
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends the approval on the Change Order No. 2 for the
Wastewater Treatment Plant Improvement Project in the amount
of $4,569.
 

Jennifer Reyna, Interim Director of Utilities



ATTACHMENTS:
1. WWTP Improvement Project Change Order No. 2

http://packets.shea.agendease.com/downloadScripts/getAttachment.php?cID=10000125&authSessId=&aName=1641242394x_at.pdf


jmackay
Snapshot

jmackay
Text Box
12/17/2021



C.O. # 2

BLEYL PROJECT NO.:  12658

TO:  Teal Services LLC
PO Box 817
Anderson, Texas 77836

1.01
A.
B.
C.
D.

1.02

A. 358 Days
B. 0 Days
C. 0 Days
D. 358 Days

1.03 TOTAL VALUE OF INCREASES OUTSIDE OF GENERAL SCOPE OF WORK

A.

No.
1 Add Twin Clarifier Repairs
2

3
4

4,569.00$              

TOTALS

0.00%
0.00%

Add coating of clarifier column

END OF SUMMARY

PERCENT
100%
17%
1%

118%

375,639.00$                   
DOLLAR AMOUNT

CONTRACT TIME SUMMARY

Original Contract Time
Previous Change Orders

63,613.00$                     
4,569.00$                       

1.22%

68,182.00$            18.15%

63,613.00$            16.93%

Including this Change Order, the following table is provided to track conditions 
related to Document 00 72 43 - General Conditions.

Contract Time February 15, 2022
This Change Order

Change Description Amount Added Percentage  Added

DURATION COMPLETION DATE

February 15, 2022
February 15, 2022

Contract Price

Notice to Proceed: 

443,821.00$                   

Previous Change Orders

February 22, 2021

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Original Contract Price

This Change Order

CONTRACT PRICE SUMMARY

Change Order Form
00 63 63: Page 2 of 2



ITEM: 

CITY OF NAVASOTA
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA

AGENDA ITEM NO.: 9. AGENDA DATE: January 10,
2022

 
PREPARED BY:
 
APPROVED BY: BS
 

Consideration and possible action on the purchase of a
software upgrade from Tyler Technologies. [Lance Hall, Finance
Director]

 

ITEM BACKGROUND:
Tyler Technologies, Incode has a cloud version upgrade available.
We are currently paying $46,777 in annual maintenance fees for
our current server based version. To switch to the cloud based
version our maintenance fees would increase by $22,748 to
$64,065. The cloud version fixes many of the issues that we are
facing right now. We would not have to maintain a local server
anymore, our server is aging and would need to be replace in the
next few years. The cloud based version allows users to login in
from anywhere using an IP address. This would allow the staff
outside of city hall to have access. Legal Counsel has reviewed
and approved contract.
 

BUDGETARY AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY:
Current annual fees  $46,777

new annual fees $ 64,065
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends the purchase of the software upgrade for
additional annual fees of $22,748.
 

Lance Hall, Finance Director



ATTACHMENTS:
1. Contract

http://packets.shea.agendease.com/downloadScripts/getAttachment.php?cID=10000125&authSessId=&aName=1640277562x_at.pdf


   
1 

 
 

SOFTWARE AS A SERVICE AGREEMENT 
 
This Software as a Service Agreement is made between Tyler Technologies, Inc. and Client. 
 
WHEREAS, Client selected Tyler to provide certain products and services set forth in the Investment 
Summary, including providing Client with access to Tyler’s proprietary software products, and Tyler 
desires to provide such products and services under the terms of this Agreement; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the mutual covenants and promises set forth 
in this Agreement, Tyler and Client agree as follows: 
 
SECTION A – DEFINITIONS 
 

 “Agreement” means this Software as a Service Agreement. 
 “Business Travel Policy” means our business travel policy.  A copy of our current Business Travel 

Policy is attached as Schedule 1 to Exhibit B. 
 “Client” means the City of Navasota, Texas. 
 “Data” means your data necessary to utilize the Tyler Software. 
 “Data Storage Capacity” means the contracted amount of storage capacity for your Data 

identified in the Investment Summary.  
 “Defect” means a failure of the Tyler Software to substantially conform to the functional 

descriptions set forth in our written proposal to you, or their functional equivalent.  Future 
functionality may be updated, modified, or otherwise enhanced through our maintenance and 
support services, and the governing functional descriptions for such future functionality will be 
set forth in our then-current Documentation. 

 “Defined Users” means the number of users that are authorized to use the SaaS Services.  The 
Defined Users for the Agreement are as identified in the Investment Summary. If Exhibit A 
contains EnerGov labeled software, defined users mean the maximum number of named users 
that are authorized to use the EnerGov labeled modules as indicated in the Investment 
Summary. 

 “Developer” means a third party who owns the intellectual property rights to Third Party 
Software. 

 “Documentation” means any online or written documentation related to the use or 
functionality of the Tyler Software that we provide or otherwise make available to you, including 
instructions, user guides, manuals and other training or self-help documentation. 

 “Effective Date” means the date by which both your and our authorized representatives have 
signed the Agreement. 

 “Force Majeure” means an event beyond the reasonable control of you or us, including, without 
limitation, governmental action, war, riot or civil commotion, fire, natural disaster, or any other 
cause that could not with reasonable diligence be foreseen or prevented by you or us. 

 “Investment Summary” means the agreed upon cost proposal for the products and services 
attached as Exhibit A. 



   
2 

 “Invoicing and Payment Policy” means the invoicing and payment policy.  A copy of our current 
Invoicing and Payment Policy is attached as Exhibit B. 

 “Order Form” means an ordering document that includes a quote or investment summary and 
specifying the items to be provided by Tyler to Client, including any addenda and supplements 
thereto. 

 “SaaS Fees” means the fees for the SaaS Services identified in the Investment Summary. 
 “SaaS Services” means software as a service consisting of system administration, system 

management, and system monitoring activities that Tyler performs for the Tyler Software, and 
includes the right to access and use the Tyler Software, receive maintenance and support on the 
Tyler Software, including Downtime resolution under the terms of the SLA, and Data storage and 
archiving.  SaaS Services do not include support of an operating system or hardware, support 
outside of our normal business hours, or training, consulting or other professional services. 

 “SLA” means the service level agreement.  A copy of our current SLA is attached hereto as 
Exhibit C. 

 “Support Call Process” means the support call process applicable to all of our customers who 
have licensed the Tyler Software.  A copy of our current Support Call Process is attached as 
Schedule 1 to Exhibit C. 

  “Third Party Hardware” means the third party hardware, if any, identified in the Investment 
Summary. 

 “Third Party Products” means the Third Party Software and Third Party Hardware. 
 “Third Party SaaS Services” means software as a service provided by a third party, if any, 

identified in the Investment Summary. 
 “Third Party Services” means the third party services, if any, identified in the Investment 

Summary.  
 “Third Party Software” means the third party software, if any, identified in the Investment 

Summary.  
 “Third Party Terms” means, if any, the end user license agreement(s) or similar terms for the 

Third Party Products or other parties’ products or services, as applicable. 
 “Tyler” means Tyler Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation. 
 “Tyler Software” means our proprietary software, including any integrations, custom 

modifications, and/or other related interfaces identified in the Investment Summary and 
licensed by us to you through this Agreement. 

 “we”, “us”, “our” and similar terms mean Tyler. 
 “you” and similar terms mean Client. 

 
SECTION B – SAAS SERVICES 
 
1. Rights Granted.  We grant to you the non-exclusive, non-assignable limited right to use the SaaS 

Services solely for your internal business purposes for the number of Defined Users only.  The Tyler 
Software will be made available to you according to the terms of the SLA.  You acknowledge that we 
have no delivery obligations and we will not ship copies of the Tyler Software as part of the SaaS 
Services.  You may use the SaaS Services to access updates and enhancements to the Tyler Software, 
as further described in Section C(9).  The foregoing notwithstanding, to the extent we have sold you 
perpetual licenses for Tyler Software, if and listed in the Investment Summary, for which you are 
receiving SaaS Services, your rights to use such Tyler Software are perpetual, subject to the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement including, without limitation, Section B(4).  We will make any such 
software available to you for download. 



   
3 

2. SaaS Fees.  You agree to pay us the SaaS Fees.  Those amounts are payable in accordance with our 
Invoicing and Payment Policy.  The SaaS Fees are based on the number of Defined Users and amount 
of Data Storage Capacity.  You may add additional users or additional data storage capacity on the 
terms set forth in Section H(1). In the event you regularly and/or meaningfully exceed the Defined  
Users or Data Storage Capacity, we reserve the right to charge you additional fees commensurate 
with the overage(s).  

 
3. Ownership.   

 
3.1 We retain all ownership and intellectual property rights to the SaaS Services, the Tyler Software, 

and anything developed by us under this Agreement.  You do not acquire under this Agreement 
any license to use the Tyler Software in excess of the scope and/or duration of the SaaS Services.   
 

3.2 The Documentation is licensed to you and may be used and copied by your employees for 
internal, non-commercial reference purposes only.   
 

3.3 You retain all ownership and intellectual property rights to the Data.  You expressly recognize 
that except to the extent necessary to carry out our obligations contained in this Agreement, we 
do not create or endorse any Data used in connection with the SaaS Services.    
 

4. Restrictions. You may not: (a) make the Tyler Software or Documentation resulting from the SaaS 
Services available in any manner to any third party for use in the third party’s business operations; 
(b) modify, make derivative works of, disassemble, reverse compile, or reverse engineer any part of 
the SaaS Services; (c) access or use the SaaS Services in order to build or support, and/or assist a 
third party in building or supporting, products or services competitive to us; or (d) license, sell, rent, 
lease, transfer, assign, distribute, display, host, outsource, disclose, permit timesharing or service 
bureau use, or otherwise commercially exploit or make the SaaS Services, Tyler Software, or 
Documentation available to any third party other than as expressly permitted by this Agreement. 
 

5. Software Warranty.  We warrant that the Tyler Software will perform without Defects during the 
term of this Agreement.  If the Tyler Software does not perform as warranted, we will use all 
reasonable efforts, consistent with industry standards, to cure the Defect in accordance with the 
maintenance and support process set forth in Section C(9), below, the SLA and our then current 
Support Call Process. 

 
6. SaaS Services.  

 
6.1 Our SaaS Services are audited at least yearly in accordance with the AICPA’s Statement on 

Standards for Attestation Engagements (“SSAE”) No. 18. We have attained, and will maintain, 
SOC 1 and SOC 2 compliance, or its equivalent, for so long as you are timely paying for SaaS 
Services.  The scope of audit coverage varies for some Tyler Software solutions.  Upon execution 
of a mutually agreeable Non-Disclosure Agreement (“NDA”), we will provide you with a 
summary of our compliance report(s) or its equivalent.  Every year thereafter, for so long as the 
NDA is in effect and in which you make a written request, we will provide that same 
information. If our SaaS Services are provided using a 3rd party data center, we will provide 
available compliance reports for that data center. 
 
 



   
4 

6.2 You will be hosted on shared hardware in a Tyler data center or in a third-party data center.  In 
either event, databases containing your Data will be dedicated to you and inaccessible to our 
other customers.  

 
6.3 Our Tyler data centers have fully-redundant telecommunications access, electrical power, and 

the required hardware to provide access to the Tyler Software in the event of a disaster or 
component failure.  In the event of a data center failure, we reserve the right to employ our 
disaster recovery plan for resumption of the SaaS Services. In that event, we commit to a 
Recovery Point Objective (“RPO”) of 24 hours and a Recovery Time Objective (“RTO”) of 24 
hours.  RPO represents the maximum duration of time between the most recent recoverable 
copy of your hosted Data and subsequent data center failure.  RTO represents the maximum 
duration of time following data center failure within which your access to the Tyler Software 
must be restored. 

 
6.4 We conduct annual penetration testing of either the production network and/or web 

application to be performed.   We will maintain industry standard intrusion detection and 
prevention systems to monitor malicious activity in the network and to log and block any such 
activity.  We will provide you with a written or electronic record of the actions taken by us in the 
event that any unauthorized access to your database(s) is detected as a result of our security 
protocols.  We will undertake an additional security audit, on terms and timing to be mutually 
agreed to by the parties, at your written request.  You may not attempt to bypass or subvert 
security restrictions in the SaaS Services or environments related to the Tyler Software.  
Unauthorized attempts to access files, passwords or other confidential information, and 
unauthorized vulnerability and penetration test scanning of our network and systems (hosted or 
otherwise) is prohibited without the prior written approval of our IT Security Officer. 

 
6.5 We test our disaster recovery plan on an annual basis.  Our standard test is not client-specific.  

Should you request a client-specific disaster recovery test, we will work with you to schedule 
and execute such a test on a mutually agreeable schedule.  At your written request, we will 
provide test results to you within a commercially reasonable timeframe after receipt of the 
request.  

 
6.6 We will be responsible for importing back-up and verifying that you can log-in.  You will be 

responsible for running reports and testing critical processes to verify the returned Data.  
 

6.7 We provide secure Data transmission paths between each of your workstations and our servers.  
 

6.8 Tyler data centers are accessible only by authorized personnel with a unique key entry. All other 
visitors to Tyler data centers must be signed in and accompanied by authorized personnel.  
Entry attempts to the data center are regularly audited by internal staff and external auditors to 
ensure no unauthorized access. 
 

6.9 Where applicable with respect to our applications that take or process card payment data, we 
are responsible for the security of cardholder data that we possess, including functions relating 
to storing, processing, and transmitting of the cardholder data and affirm that, as of the 
Effective Date, we comply with applicable requirements to be considered PCI DSS compliant and 
have performed the necessary steps to validate compliance with the PCI DSS. We agree to 
supply the current status of our PCI DSS compliance program in the form of an official 



   
5 

Attestation of Compliance, which can be found at https://www.tylertech.com/about-
us/compliance, and in the event of any change in our status, will comply with applicable notice 
requirements. 

 
SECTION C – PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
 
1. Professional Services. We will provide you the various implementation-related services itemized in 

the Investment Summary and described in the Statement of Work.  
 

2. Professional Services Fees.  You agree to pay us the professional services fees in the amounts set 
forth in the Investment Summary.  Those amounts are payable in accordance with our Invoicing and 
Payment Policy.  You acknowledge that the fees stated in the Investment Summary are good-faith 
estimates of the amount of time and materials required for your implementation.  We will bill you 
the actual fees incurred based on the in-scope services provided to you.  Any discrepancies in the 
total values set forth in the Investment Summary will be resolved by multiplying the applicable 
hourly rate by the quoted hours. 

 
3. Additional Services.  The Investment Summary contains, and the Statement of Work describes, the 

scope of services and related costs (including programming and/or interface estimates) required for 
the project based on our understanding of the specifications you supplied.  If additional work is 
required, or if you use or request additional services, we will provide you with an addendum or 
change order, as applicable, outlining the costs for the additional work.  The price quotes in the 
addendum or change order will be valid for thirty (30) days from the date of the quote.   
 

4. Cancellation. If travel is required, we will make all reasonable efforts to schedule travel for our 
personnel, including arranging travel reservations, at least two (2) weeks in advance of 
commitments.  Therefore, if you cancel services less than two (2) weeks in advance (other than for 
Force Majeure or breach by us), you will be liable for all (a) non-refundable expenses incurred by us 
on your behalf, and (b) daily fees associated with cancelled professional services if we are unable to 
reassign our personnel.  We will make all reasonable efforts to reassign personnel in the event you 
cancel within two (2) weeks of scheduled commitments. 
 

5. Services Warranty.  We will perform the services in a professional, workmanlike manner, consistent 
with industry standards.  In the event we provide services that do not conform to this warranty, we 
will re-perform such services at no additional cost to you. 

 
6. Site Access and Requirements.  At no cost to us, you agree to provide us with full and free access to 

your personnel, facilities, and equipment as may be reasonably necessary for us to provide 
implementation services, subject to any reasonable security protocols or other written policies 
provided to us as of the Effective Date, and thereafter as mutually agreed to by you and us.   

 
7. Background Checks.  For at least the past twelve (12) years, all of our employees have undergone 

criminal background checks prior to hire. All employees sign our confidentiality agreement and 
security policies.  

 
8. Client Assistance.  You acknowledge that the implementation of the Tyler Software is a cooperative 

process requiring the time and resources of your personnel.  You agree to use all reasonable efforts 
to cooperate with and assist us as may be reasonably required to meet the agreed upon project 



   
6 

deadlines and other milestones for implementation.  This cooperation includes at least working with 
us to schedule the implementation-related services outlined in this Agreement.  We will not be 
liable for failure to meet any deadlines and milestones when such failure is due to Force Majeure or 
to the failure by your personnel to provide such cooperation and assistance (either through action 
or omission). 

 
9. Maintenance and Support.  For so long as you timely pay your SaaS Fees according to the Invoicing 

and Payment Policy, then in addition to the terms set forth in the SLA and the Support Call Process, 
we will: 

 
9.1 perform our maintenance and support obligations in a professional, good, and workmanlike 

manner, consistent with industry standards, to resolve Defects in the Tyler Software (subject to 
any applicable release life cycle policy);  
 

9.2 provide support during our established support hours; 
 

9.3 maintain personnel that are sufficiently trained to be familiar with the Tyler Software and Third 
Party Software, if any, in order to provide maintenance and support services; 
 

9.4 make available to you all releases to the Tyler Software (including updates and enhancements) 
that we make generally available without additional charge to customers who have a 
maintenance and support agreement in effect; and 
 

9.5 provide non-Defect resolution support of prior releases of the Tyler Software in accordance with 
any applicable release life cycle policy. 
 

We will use all reasonable efforts to perform support services remotely.  Currently, we use a third-party 
secure unattended connectivity tool called Bomgar, as well as GotoAssist by Citrix.  Therefore, you agree 
to maintain a high-speed internet connection capable of connecting us to your PCs and server(s).  You 
agree to provide us with a login account and local administrative privileges as we may reasonably 
require to perform remote services.  We will, at our option, use the secure connection to assist with 
proper diagnosis and resolution, subject to any reasonably applicable security protocols.  If we cannot 
resolve a support issue remotely, we may be required to provide onsite services.  In such event, we will 
be responsible for our travel expenses, unless it is determined that the reason onsite support was 
required was a reason outside our control.  Either way, you agree to provide us with full and free access 
to the Tyler Software, working space, adequate facilities within a reasonable distance from the 
equipment, and use of machines, attachments, features, or other equipment reasonably necessary for 
us to provide the maintenance and support services, all at no charge to us.  We strongly recommend 
that you also maintain your VPN for backup connectivity purposes. 
 
For the avoidance of doubt, SaaS Fees do not include the following services: (a) onsite support (unless 
Tyler cannot remotely correct a Defect in the Tyler Software, as set forth above); (b) application design; 
(c) other consulting services; or (d) support outside our normal business hours as listed in our then-
current Support Call Process.  Requested services such as those outlined in this section will be billed to 
you on a time and materials basis at our then current rates.  You must request those services with at 
least one (1) weeks’ advance notice. 

 
 



   
7 

SECTION D – THIRD PARTY PRODUCTS 
 
1. Third Party Hardware.  We will sell, deliver, and install onsite the Third Party Hardware, if you have 

purchased any, for the price set forth in the Investment Summary.  Those amounts are payable in 
accordance with our Invoicing and Payment Policy. 
 

2. Third Party Software.  As part of the SaaS Services, you will receive access to the Third Party 
Software and related documentation for internal business purposes only.  Your rights to the Third 
Party Software will be governed by the Third Party Terms.   
 

3. Third Party Products Warranties. 
 

3.1 We are authorized by each Developer to grant access to the Third Party Software. 
 

3.2 The Third Party Hardware will be new and unused, and upon payment in full, you will receive 
free and clear title to the Third Party Hardware. 
 

3.3 You acknowledge that we are not the manufacturer of the Third Party Products.  We do not 
warrant or guarantee the performance of the Third Party Products.  However, we grant and pass 
through to you any warranty that we may receive from the Developer or supplier of the Third 
Party Products. 
 

4. Third Party Services.  If you have purchased Third Party Services, those services will be provided 
independent of Tyler by such third-party at the rates set forth in the Investment Summary and in 
accordance with our Invoicing and Payment Policy. 

 
SECTION E - INVOICING AND PAYMENT; INVOICE DISPUTES 

 
1. Invoicing and Payment.  We will invoice you the SaaS Fees and fees for other professional services in 

the Investment Summary per our Invoicing and Payment Policy, subject to Section E(2).     
 

2. Invoice Disputes. If you believe any delivered software or service does not conform to the 
warranties in this Agreement, you will provide us with written notice within thirty (30) days of your 
receipt of the applicable invoice.  The written notice must contain reasonable detail of the issues 
you contend are in dispute so that we can confirm the issue and respond to your notice with either a 
justification of the invoice, an adjustment to the invoice, or a proposal addressing the issues 
presented in your notice.  We will work with you as may be necessary to develop an action plan that 
outlines reasonable steps to be taken by each of us to resolve any issues presented in your notice.  
You may withhold payment of the amount(s) actually in dispute, and only those amounts, until we 
complete the action items outlined in the plan.  If we are unable to complete the action items 
outlined in the action plan because of your failure to complete the items agreed to be done by you, 
then you will remit full payment of the invoice.  We reserve the right to suspend delivery of all SaaS 
Services, including maintenance and support services, if you fail to pay an invoice not disputed as 
described above within fifteen (15) days of notice of our intent to do so. 
 
 
 
 



   
8 

SECTION F – TERM AND TERMINATION 
 
1. Term.  The initial term of this Agreement is equal to the number of years indicated for SaaS Services 

in Exhibit A, commencing on the first day of the first month following the Effective Date, unless 
earlier terminated as set forth below.  If no duration is indicated in Exhibit A, the initial term is one 
(1) year.  Upon expiration of the initial term, this Agreement will renew automatically for additional 
one (1) year renewal terms at our then-current SaaS Fees unless terminated in writing by either 
party at least sixty (60) days prior to the end of the then-current renewal term.  Your right to access 
or use the Tyler Software and the SaaS Services will terminate at the end of this Agreement.   

 
2. Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated as set forth below.  In the event of termination, 

you will pay us for all undisputed fees and expenses related to the software, products, and/or 
services you have received, or we have incurred or delivered, prior to the effective date of 
termination.  Disputed fees and expenses in all terminations other than your termination for cause 
must have been submitted as invoice disputes in accordance with Section E(2). 
 
2.1 Failure to Pay SaaS Fees.  You acknowledge that continued access to the SaaS Services is 

contingent upon your timely payment of SaaS Fees.  If you fail to timely pay the SaaS Fees, we 
may discontinue the SaaS Services and deny your access to the Tyler Software.  We may also 
terminate this Agreement if you don’t cure such failure to pay within forty-five (45) days of 
receiving written notice of our intent to terminate. 
 

2.2 For Cause.  If you believe we have materially breached this Agreement, you will invoke the 
Dispute Resolution clause set forth in Section H(3).  You may terminate this Agreement for cause 
in the event we do not cure, or create a mutually agreeable action plan to address, a material 
breach of this Agreement within the thirty (30) day window set forth in Section H(3).   
 

2.3 Force Majeure.  Either party has the right to terminate this Agreement if a Force Majeure event 
suspends performance of the SaaS Services for a period of forty-five (45) days or more. 
 

2.4 Lack of Appropriations.  If you should not appropriate or otherwise make available funds 
sufficient to utilize the SaaS Services, you may unilaterally terminate this Agreement upon thirty 
(30) days written notice to us.  You will not be entitled to a refund or offset of previously paid, 
but unused SaaS Fees.  You agree not to use termination for lack of appropriations as a 
substitute for termination for convenience. 

 
SECTION G – INDEMNIFICATION, LIMITATION OF LIABILITY AND INSURANCE 
 
1. Intellectual Property Infringement Indemnification.   

 
1.1 We will defend you against any third party claim(s) that the Tyler Software or Documentation 

infringes that third party’s patent, copyright, or trademark, or misappropriates its trade secrets, 
and will pay the amount of any resulting adverse final judgment (or settlement to which we 
consent).  You must notify us promptly in writing of the claim and give us sole control over its 
defense or settlement.  You agree to provide us with reasonable assistance, cooperation, and 
information in defending the claim at our expense. 
 
 



   
9 

1.2 Our obligations under this Section G(1) will not apply to the extent the claim or adverse final 
judgment is based on your use of the Tyler Software in contradiction of this Agreement, 
including with non-licensed third parties, or your willful infringement. 
 

1.3 If we receive information concerning an infringement or misappropriation claim related to the 
Tyler Software, we may, at our expense and without obligation to do so, either: (a) procure for 
you the right to continue its use; (b) modify it to make it non-infringing; or (c) replace it with a 
functional equivalent, in which case you will stop running the allegedly infringing Tyler Software 
immediately.  Alternatively, we may decide to litigate the claim to judgment, in which case you 
may continue to use the Tyler Software consistent with the terms of this Agreement. 
 

1.4 If an infringement or misappropriation claim is fully litigated and your use of the Tyler Software 
is enjoined by a court of competent jurisdiction, in addition to paying any adverse final 
judgment (or settlement to which we consent), we will, at our option, either: (a) procure the 
right to continue its use; (b) modify it to make it non-infringing; or (c) replace it with a functional 
equivalent.  This section provides your exclusive remedy for third party copyright, patent, or 
trademark infringement and trade secret misappropriation claims. 
 

2. General Indemnification. 
 

2.1 We will indemnify and hold harmless you and your agents, officials, and employees from and 
against any and all third-party claims, losses, liabilities, damages, costs, and expenses (including 
reasonable attorney's fees and costs) for (a) personal injury or property damage to the extent 
caused by our negligence or willful misconduct; or (b) our violation of PCI-DSS requirements or a 
law applicable to our performance under this Agreement.  You must notify us promptly in 
writing of the claim and give us sole control over its defense or settlement.  You agree to 
provide us with reasonable assistance, cooperation, and information in defending the claim at 
our expense. 
 

2.2 To the extent permitted by applicable law, you will indemnify and hold harmless us and our 
agents, officials, and employees from and against any and all third-party claims, losses, 
liabilities, damages, costs, and expenses (including reasonable attorney's fees and costs) for 
personal injury or property damage to the extent caused by your negligence or willful 
misconduct; or (b) your violation of a law applicable to your performance under this Agreement. 
We will notify you promptly in writing of the claim and will give you sole control over its defense 
or settlement.  We agree to provide you with reasonable assistance, cooperation, and 
information in defending the claim at your expense. 
 

3. DISCLAIMER.  EXCEPT FOR THE EXPRESS WARRANTIES PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT AND TO 
THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, WE HEREBY DISCLAIM ALL OTHER 
WARRANTIES AND CONDITIONS, WHETHER EXPRESS, IMPLIED, OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING, BUT 
NOT LIMITED TO, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES, DUTIES, OR CONDITIONS OF MERCHANTABILITY OR 
FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. CLIENT UNDERSTANDS AND AGREES THAT TYLER 
DISCLAIMS ANY LIABILITY FOR ERRORS THAT RELATE TO USER ERROR. 

 
4. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY.  EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, 

OUR LIABILITY FOR DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT, WHETHER BASED ON A THEORY 
OF CONTRACT OR TORT, INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE AND STRICT LIABILITY, SHALL BE LIMITED TO 



   
10 

YOUR ACTUAL DIRECT DAMAGES, NOT TO EXCEED (A) DURING THE INITIAL TERM, AS SET FORTH 
IN SECTION F(1), TOTAL FEES PAID AS OF THE TIME OF THE CLAIM; OR (B) DURING ANY RENEWAL 
TERM, THE THEN-CURRENT ANNUAL SAAS FEES PAYABLE IN THAT RENEWAL TERM.  THE PARTIES 
ACKNOWLEDGE AND AGREE THAT THE PRICES SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT ARE SET IN 
RELIANCE UPON THIS LIMITATION OF LIABILITY AND TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT ALLOWED UNDER 
APPLICABLE LAW, THE EXCLUSION OF CERTAIN DAMAGES, AND EACH SHALL APPLY REGARDLESS 
OF THE FAILURE OF AN ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY REMEDY.  THE FOREGOING LIMITATION OF 
LIABILITY SHALL NOT APPLY TO CLAIMS THAT ARE SUBJECT TO SECTIONS G(1) AND G(2). 

 
5. EXCLUSION OF CERTAIN DAMAGES.  TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, 

IN NO EVENT SHALL WE BE LIABLE FOR ANY SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, PUNITIVE, INDIRECT, OR 
CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES WHATSOEVER, EVEN IF WE HAVE BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY 
OF SUCH DAMAGES. 

 
6. Insurance.  During the course of performing services under this Agreement, we agree to maintain 

the following levels of insurance: (a) Commercial General Liability of at least $1,000,000; (b) 
Automobile Liability of at least $1,000,000; (c) Professional Liability of at least $1,000,000; (d) 
Workers Compensation complying with applicable statutory requirements; and (e) Excess/Umbrella 
Liability of at least $5,000,000.  We will add you as an additional insured to our Commercial General 
Liability and Automobile Liability policies, which will automatically add you as an additional insured 
to our Excess/Umbrella Liability policy as well.  We will provide you with copies of certificates of 
insurance upon your written request. 

 
SECTION H – GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 
1. Additional Products and Services.  You may purchase additional products and services at the rates 

set forth in the Investment Summary for twelve (12) months from the Effective Date by executing a 
mutually agreed addendum.  If no rate is provided in the Investment Summary, or those twelve (12) 
months have expired, you may purchase additional products and services at our then-current list 
price, also by executing a mutually agreed addendum.  The terms of this Agreement will control any 
such additional purchase(s), unless otherwise specifically provided in the addendum. 
 

2. Optional Items.  Pricing for any listed optional products and services in the Investment Summary will 
be valid for twelve (12) months from the Effective Date. 

 
3. Dispute Resolution.  You agree to provide us with written notice within thirty (30) days of becoming 

aware of a dispute.  You agree to cooperate with us in trying to reasonably resolve all disputes, 
including, if requested by either party, appointing a senior representative to meet and engage in 
good faith negotiations with our appointed senior representative.  Senior representatives will 
convene within thirty (30) days of the written dispute notice, unless otherwise agreed.  All meetings 
and discussions between senior representatives will be deemed confidential settlement discussions 
not subject to disclosure under Federal Rule of Evidence 408 or any similar applicable state rule.  If 
we fail to resolve the dispute, then the parties shall participate in non-binding mediation in an effort 
to resolve the dispute.  If the dispute remains unresolved after mediation, then either of us may 
assert our respective rights and remedies in a court of competent jurisdiction.  Nothing in this 
section shall prevent you or us from seeking necessary injunctive relief during the dispute resolution 
procedures. 

 



   
11 

4. Taxes.  The fees in the Investment Summary do not include any taxes, including, without limitation, 
sales, use, or excise tax.  If you are a tax-exempt entity, you agree to provide us with a tax-exempt 
certificate.  Otherwise, we will pay all applicable taxes to the proper authorities and you will 
reimburse us for such taxes.  If you have a valid direct-pay permit, you agree to provide us with a 
copy.  For clarity, we are responsible for paying our income taxes, both federal and state, as 
applicable, arising from our performance of this Agreement.       
  

5. Nondiscrimination.  We will not discriminate against any person employed or applying for 
employment concerning the performance of our responsibilities under this Agreement.  This 
discrimination prohibition will apply to all matters of initial employment, tenure, and terms of 
employment, or otherwise with respect to any matter directly or indirectly relating to employment 
concerning race, color, religion, national origin, age, sex, sexual orientation, ancestry, disability that 
is unrelated to the individual's ability to perform the duties of a particular job or position, height, 
weight, marital status, or political affiliation.  We will post, where appropriate, all notices related to 
nondiscrimination as may be required by applicable law. 
 

6. E-Verify.  We have complied, and will comply, with the E-Verify procedures administered by the U.S. 
Citizenship and Immigration Services Verification Division for all of our employees assigned to your 
project. 

 
7. Subcontractors.  We will not subcontract any services under this Agreement without your prior 

written consent, not to be unreasonably withheld. 
 

8. Binding Effect; No Assignment.  This Agreement shall be binding on, and shall be for the benefit of, 
either your or our successor(s) or permitted assign(s). Neither party may assign this Agreement 
without the prior written consent of the other party; provided, however, your consent is not 
required for an assignment by us as a result of a corporate reorganization, merger, acquisition, or 
purchase of substantially all of our assets. 

 
9. Force Majeure.  Except for your payment obligations, neither party will be liable for delays in 

performing its obligations under this Agreement to the extent that the delay is caused by Force 
Majeure; provided, however, that within ten (10) business days of the Force Majeure event, the 
party whose performance is delayed provides the other party with written notice explaining the 
cause and extent thereof, as well as a request for a reasonable time extension equal to the 
estimated duration of the Force Majeure event.   

 
10. No Intended Third Party Beneficiaries.  This Agreement is entered into solely for the benefit of you 

and us.  No third party will be deemed a beneficiary of this Agreement, and no third party will have 
the right to make any claim or assert any right under this Agreement.  This provision does not affect 
the rights of third parties under any Third Party Terms. 

 
11. Entire Agreement; Amendment.  This Agreement represents the entire agreement between you and 

us with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes any prior agreements, understandings, 
and representations, whether written, oral, expressed, implied, or statutory.  Purchase orders 
submitted by you, if any, are for your internal administrative purposes only, and the terms and 
conditions contained in those purchase orders will have no force or effect.  This Agreement may 
only be modified by a written amendment signed by an authorized representative of each party. 

 



   
12 

12. Severability.  If any term or provision of this Agreement is held invalid or unenforceable, the 
remainder of this Agreement will be considered valid and enforceable to the fullest extent 
permitted by law. 
 

13. No Waiver.  In the event that the terms and conditions of this Agreement are not strictly enforced 
by either party, such non-enforcement will not act as or be deemed to act as a waiver or 
modification of this Agreement, nor will such non-enforcement prevent such party from enforcing 
each and every term of this Agreement thereafter. 
 

14. Independent Contractor.  We are an independent contractor for all purposes under this Agreement. 
 

15. Notices.  All notices or communications required or permitted as a part of this Agreement, such as 
notice of an alleged material breach for a termination for cause or a dispute that must be submitted 
to dispute resolution, must be in writing and will be deemed delivered upon the earlier of the 
following: (a) actual receipt by the receiving party; (b) upon receipt by sender of a certified mail, 
return receipt signed by an employee or agent of the receiving party; (c) upon receipt by sender of 
proof of email delivery; or (d) if not actually received, five (5) days after deposit with the United 
States Postal Service authorized mail center with proper postage (certified mail, return receipt 
requested) affixed and addressed to the other party at the address set forth on the signature page 
hereto or such other address as the party may have designated by proper notice.  The consequences 
for the failure to receive a notice due to improper notification by the intended receiving party of a 
change in address will be borne by the intended receiving party. 

 
16. Client Lists.  You agree that we may identify you by name in client lists, marketing presentations, and 

promotional materials. 
 

17. Confidentiality.  Both parties recognize that their respective employees and agents, in the course of 
performance of this Agreement, may be exposed to confidential information and that disclosure of 
such information could violate rights to private individuals and entities, including the parties.  
Confidential information is nonpublic information that a reasonable person would believe to be 
confidential and includes, without limitation, personal identifying information (e.g., social security 
numbers) and trade secrets, each as defined by applicable state law.  Each party agrees that it will 
not disclose any confidential information of the other party and further agrees to take all reasonable 
and appropriate action to prevent such disclosure by its employees or agents.  The confidentiality 
covenants contained herein will survive the termination or cancellation of this Agreement.  This 
obligation of confidentiality will not apply to information that: 

(a) is in the public domain, either at the time of disclosure or afterwards, except by breach of 
this Agreement by a party or its employees or agents; 

(b) a party can establish by reasonable proof was in that party's possession at the time of initial 
disclosure; 

(c) a party receives from a third party who has a right to disclose it to the receiving party; or 
(d) is the subject of a legitimate disclosure request under the open records laws or similar 

applicable public disclosure laws governing this Agreement; provided, however, that in the 
event you receive an open records or other similar applicable request, you will give us 
prompt notice and otherwise perform the functions required by applicable law.   

 
 
 



   
13 

18. Quarantining of Client Data.  Some services provided by Tyler require us to be in possession of your 
Data.  In the event we detect malware or other conditions associated with your Data that are 
reasonably suspected of putting Tyler resources or other Tyler clients’ data at risk, we reserve the 
absolute right to move your Data from its location within a multi-tenancy Tyler hosted environment 
to an isolated “quarantined” environment without advance notice.  Your Data will remain in such 
quarantine for a period of at least six (6) months during which time we will review the Data, and all 
traffic associated with the Data, for signs of malware or other similar issues.   If no issues are 
detected through such reviews during the six (6) month period of quarantine, we will coordinate 
with you the restoration of your Data to a non-quarantined environment.  In the event your Data 
must remain in quarantine beyond this six (6) month period through no fault of Tyler’s, we reserve 
the right to require payment of additional fees for the extended duration of quarantine.  We will 
provide an estimate of what those costs will be upon your request. 
 

19. Business License.  In the event a local business license is required for us to perform services 
hereunder, you will promptly notify us and provide us with the necessary paperwork and/or contact 
information so that we may timely obtain such license. 
 

20. Governing Law.  This Agreement will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of 
the State of Texas, without regard to its rules on conflicts of law. Venue shall lie exclusively in any 
appropriate state or federal court for Grimes County, Texas. 
 

21. Multiple Originals and Authorized Signatures.  This Agreement may be executed in multiple 
originals, any of which will be independently treated as an original document.  Any electronic, faxed, 
scanned, photocopied, or similarly reproduced signature on this Agreement or any amendment 
hereto will be deemed an original signature and will be fully enforceable as if an original signature.  
Each party represents to the other that the signatory set forth below is duly authorized to bind that 
party to this Agreement. 
 

22. Cooperative Procurement.  To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, we agree that this 
Agreement may be used as a cooperative procurement vehicle by eligible jurisdictions.  We reserve 
the right to negotiate and customize the terms and conditions set forth herein, including but not 
limited to pricing, to the scope and circumstances of that cooperative procurement. 

 
23. Socrata Solution Terms.  Your use of certain Tyler solutions includes Tyler’s Socrata data platform.  

Your rights, and the rights of any of your end users, to use Tyler’s Socrata SaaS Services Terms of 
Services, available at https://www.tylertech.com/terms/socrata-saas-services-terms-of-service.  By 
signing a Tyler Agreement or Order Form, or accessing, installing, or using any of the Tyler solutions 
listed at the linked terms, you certify that you have reviewed, understand, and agree to said terms. 
 

24. Contract Documents.  This Agreement includes the following exhibits: 
 

Exhibit A Investment Summary 
Exhibit B Invoicing and Payment Policy 

Schedule 1: Business Travel Policy 
Exhibit C Service Level Agreement 

Schedule 1: Support Call Process 
  

SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS 



   
14 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, a duly authorized representative of each party has executed this Agreement as 
of the date(s) set forth below. 
 
 
Tyler Technologies, Inc.     City of Navasota, Texas 
 
By:       By:       
 
Name:       Name:       
 
Title:       Title:       
 
Date:       Date:       
 
Address for Notices:     Address for Notices: 
Tyler Technologies, Inc. City of Navasota 
One Tyler Drive PO Box 910 
Yarmouth, ME 04096 Navasota, TX 77868 
Attention: Chief Legal Officer Attention: Lance Hall 
 



  Exhibit A 

   
1 

 

 
Exhibit A 

Investment Summary 
 
The following Investment Summary details the software and services to be delivered by us to you under 
the Agreement.  This Investment Summary is effective as of the Effective Date.  Capitalized terms not 
otherwise defined will have the meaning assigned to such terms in the Agreement.  
 
 
 

REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK 



2021-283309-W9Z5T2 1 of 4

Sales Quotation For:
Lance Hall
City of Navasota
PO Box 910
Navasota TX 77868-0910
+1 (936) 825-6475

Tyler Annual Software – SaaS

Description List Price Discount Annual
Incode
Incode Financial Management Suite    
Core Financials $ 10,192 $ 0 $ 10,192
Inventory Control $ 2,651 $ 0 $ 2,651
Positive Pay $ 1,336 $ 0 $ 1,336
Project Accounting $ 3,329 $ 0 $ 3,329
Purchase Orders $ 4,430 $ 0 $ 4,430
Payroll $ 6,644 $ 0 $ 6,644
Electronic Time Clock Interface $ 663 $ 0 $ 663
System Software Non SQL $ 2,172 $ 0 $ 2,172
Accounts Receivable $ 2,255 $ 0 $ 2,255
Incode Customer Relationship Management Suite    
Utility CIS System-Water/Gas $ 9,745 $ 0 $ 9,745
Utility Meter Data Sync w/Scheduler $ 3,615 $ 0 $ 3,615
Work Order Asset Maintenance $ 3,264 $ 0 $ 3,264
Additional Utility Meter-Reader Interface $ 884 $ 0 $ 884

Quoted By: DK Robertson
Quote Expiration: 4/30/22
Quote Name: Incode Cloud-SaaS Flip

Exhibit A



2021-283309-W9Z5T2 2 of 4

Central Cash Collection $ 5,098 $ 0 $ 5,098
Enhanced Utility Bill Printing $ 794 $ 0 $ 794
Forms Overlay $ 1,083 $ 0 $ 1,083
Secure Signatures -Unlimited Signatures $ 653 $ 0 $ 653
Tel Easy Mobile Service Order API $ 5,483 $ 0 $ 5,483
Incode Community Development Suite    
Cemetery Records $ 1,308 $ 0 $ 1,308
Incode Court Suite    
Criminal Court Case Management $ 3,925 $ 0 $ 3,925

TOTAL: $ 69,524 $ 0 $ 69,524
Term # of Years: 3

Summary One Time Fees Recurring Fees    
Total SaaS $ 69,524    
Total Tyler Services    
Summary Total $ 69,524    
Contract Total $ 69,524

Exhibit A



2021-283309-W9Z5T2 3 of 4

Comments
 Some services may be delivered remotely via web-based training.

 Expenses associated with onsite services are invoiced as incurred according to Tyler's standard business travel policy.

SaaS is considered a term of one year unless otherwise indicated.
Core Financials includes general ledger, budget prep, bank recon, accounts payable.

Client agrees that items in this sales quotation are, upon Client's signature or approval of same, hereby added to the existing agreement ("Agreement") 
between the parties and subject to its terms. Additionally, payment for said items, as applicable but subject to any listed assumptions herein, shall conform 
to the following terms, subject to payment terms in an agreement, amendment, or similar document in which this sales quotation is included:
• License fees for Tyler and third-party software are invoiced upon the earlier of (i) delivery of the license key or (ii) when Tyler makes such software 
available accessible.
• Fees for hardware are invoiced upon delivery.
• Fees for year one of hardware maintenance are invoiced upon delivery of the hardware.
• Annual Maintenance and Support fees, SaaS fees, Hosting fees, and Subscription fees are first payable when Tyler makes the software accessible to the 
Client (for Maintenance) or on the first day of the month following the date this quotation was signed (for SaaS, Hosting, and Subscription), and any such 
fees are prorated to align with the applicable term under the agreement, with renewals invoiced annually thereafter in accord with the Agreement.
• Fees for services included in this sales quotation shall be invoiced as indicated below.

o Implementation and other professional services fees shall be invoiced as delivered.
o Fixed-fee Business Process Consulting services shall be invoiced 50% upon delivery of the Best Practice Recommendations, by module, and 50% 
upon delivery of custom desktop procedures, by module.
o Fixed-fee conversions are invoiced 50% upon initial delivery of the converted data, by conversion option, and 50% upon Client acceptance to load 
the converted data into Live/Production environment, by conversion option. Where conversions are quoted as estimated, Tyler will invoice Client 
the actual services delivered on a time and materials basis.
o Except as otherwise provided, other fixed price services are invoiced upon complete delivery of the service. For the avoidance of doubt, where 
"Project Planning Services" are provided, payment shall be invoiced upon delivery of the Implementation Planning document. Dedicated Project 
Management services, if any, will be invoiced monthly in arrears, beginning on the first day of the month immediately following initiation of project 
planning.
o If Client has purchased any change management services, those services will be invoiced in accordance with the Agreement.
o Notwithstanding anything to the contrary stated above, the following payment terms shall apply to fees specifically for migrations: Tyler will 
invoice Client 50% of any Migration Services Fees listed above upon Client approval of the product suite migration schedule. The remaining 50%, by 
line item, will be billed upon the go-live of the applicable product suite. Tyler will invoice Client for any Project Management Fees listed above upon 
the go-live of the first product suite.  Annual SaaS Fees will be invoiced upon availability of the hosted environment.

Any SaaS or hosted solutions added to an agreement containing Client-hosted Tyler solutions are subject to Tyler’s SaaS Services terms found here: 
https://www.tylertech.com/terms/tyler-saas-services.

Unless otherwise indicated in the contract or amendment thereto, pricing for optional items will be held
For six (6) months from the Quote date or the Effective Date of the Contract, whichever is later.

Exhibit A

https://www.tylertech.com/terms/tyler-saas-services


2021-283309-W9Z5T2 4 of 4

Customer Approval: Date:

Print Name: P.O.#:

Exhibit A



  Exhibit B 

   
1 

 
 

Exhibit B 
Invoicing and Payment Policy 

 
We will provide you with the software and services set forth in the Investment Summary of the 
Agreement.  Capitalized terms not otherwise defined will have the meaning assigned to such terms in 
the Agreement. 
 
Invoicing:  We will invoice you for the applicable software and services in the Investment Summary as 
set forth below.  Your rights to dispute any invoice are set forth in the Agreement. 
 

1. SaaS Fees.  SaaS Fees are invoiced on an annual basis, beginning on the commencement of the 
initial term as set forth in Section F (1) of this Agreement.  Your annual SaaS fees for the initial 
term are set forth in the Investment Summary. Upon expiration of the initial term, your annual 
SaaS fees will be at our then-current rates.    
 

2. Other Tyler Software and Services. 
 

2.1 VPN Device: The fee for the VPN device will be invoiced upon installation of the VPN. 
 
2.2 Implementation and Other Professional Services (including training): Implementation and 

other professional services (including training) are billed and invoiced as delivered, at the 
rates set forth in the Investment Summary. 
 

2.3 Consulting Services: If you have purchased any Business Process Consulting services, if they 
have been quoted as fixed-fee services, they will be invoiced 50% upon your acceptance of 
the Best Practice Recommendations, by module, and 50% upon your acceptance of custom 
desktop procedures, by module.  If you have purchased any Business Process Consulting 
services and they are quoted as an estimate, then we will bill you the actual services 
delivered on a time and materials basis. 

 
2.4 Conversions: Fixed-fee conversions are invoiced 50% upon initial delivery of the converted 

Data, by conversion option, and 50% upon Client acceptance to load the converted Data into 
Live/Production environment, by conversion option.  Where conversions are quoted as 
estimated, we will bill you the actual services delivered on a time and materials basis. 

 
2.5 Requested Modifications to the Tyler Software: Requested modifications to the Tyler 

Software are invoiced 50% upon delivery of specifications and 50% upon delivery of the 
applicable modification.  You must report any failure of the modification to conform to the 
specifications within thirty (30) days of delivery; otherwise, the modification will be deemed 
to be in compliance with the specifications after the 30-day window has passed.  You may 
still report Defects to us as set forth in this Agreement. 

 



  Exhibit B 

   
2 

2.6 Other Fixed Price Services: Other fixed price services are invoiced as delivered, at the rates 
set forth in the Investment Summary. For the avoidance of doubt, where “Project Planning 
Services” are provided, payment will be due upon delivery of the Implementation Planning 
document. 

 
2.7 Annual Services: Unless otherwise indicated in this Exhibit B, fees for annual services are due 

annually, in advance, commencing on the availability of the service. Your annual fees for the 
initial term are set forth in the Investment Summary. Upon expiration of the initial term, 
your annual fees will be at our then-current rates.    

 
3. Third Party Products.   

 
3.1 Third Party Software License Fees: License fees for Third Party Software, if any, are invoiced 

when we make it available to you for downloading. 
 

3.2 Third Party Software Maintenance: The first year maintenance for the Third Party Software 
is invoiced when we make it available to you for downloading. 
 

3.3 Third Party Hardware: Third Party Hardware costs, if any, are invoiced upon delivery. 
 

3.4 Third Party Services:  Fees for Third Party Services, if any, are invoiced as delivered, along 
with applicable expenses, at the rates set forth in the Investment Summary.  

 
3.5 Third Party SaaS:  Third Party SaaS Services fees, if any, are invoiced annually, in advance, 

commencing with availability of the respective Third Party SaaS Services.  Pricing for the first 
year of Third Party SaaS Services is indicated in the Investment Summary. Pricing for 
subsequent years will be at the respective third party’s then-current rates. 

 
4. Transaction Fees.  Unless paid directly by an end user at the time of transaction, per transaction 

(call, message, etc.) fees are invoiced on a quarterly basis.  Fees are indicated in Schedule A and 
may be increased by Tyler upon notice of no less than thirty (30) days. 
 

5. Expenses.  The service rates in the Investment Summary do not include travel expenses.  
Expenses for Tyler delivered services will be billed as incurred and only in accordance with our 
then-current Business Travel Policy, plus a 10% travel agency processing fee.  Our current 
Business Travel Policy is attached to this Exhibit B as Schedule 1.  Copies of receipts will be 
provided upon request; we reserve the right to charge you an administrative fee depending on 
the extent of your requests.  Receipts for miscellaneous items less than twenty-five dollars and 
mileage logs are not available.   
 

6. Credit for Prepaid Maintenance and Support Fees for Tyler Software.  Client will receive a credit 
for the maintenance and support fees prepaid for the Tyler Software for the time period 
commencing on the first day of the SaaS Term. 

 
Payment.  Payment for undisputed invoices is due within forty-five (45) days of the invoice date.  We 
prefer to receive payments electronically.  Our electronic payment information is available by contacting 
AR@tylertech.com.  



  Exhibit B 
  Schedule 1 

   
1 

 
 

Exhibit B 
Schedule 1 

Business Travel Policy 
 
 

1. Air Travel  
  

A. Reservations & Tickets  
  

The Travel Management Company (TMC) used by Tyler will provide an employee with a direct flight 
within two hours before or after the requested departure time, assuming that flight does not add 
more than three hours to the employee’s total trip duration and the fare is within $100 (each way) 
of the lowest logical fare.  If a net savings of $200 or more (each way) is possible through a 
connecting flight that is within two hours before or after the requested departure time and that 
does not add more than three hours to the employee’s total trip duration, the connecting flight 
should be accepted.    
  
Employees are encouraged to make advanced reservations to take full advantage of discount 
opportunities.  Employees should use all reasonable efforts to make travel arrangements at least 
two (2) weeks in advance of commitments.  A seven (7) day advance booking requirement is 
mandatory.  When booking less than seven (7) days in advance, management approval will be 
required.    
  
Except in the case of international travel where a segment of continuous air travel is six (6) or more 
consecutive hours in length, only economy or coach class seating is reimbursable. Employees shall 
not be reimbursed for “Basic Economy Fares” because these fares are non-refundable and have 
many restrictions that outweigh the cost-savings. 

  
B. Baggage Fees  

  
Reimbursement of personal baggage charges are based on trip duration as follows:  
  

• Up to five (5) days = one (1) checked bag  
• Six (6) or more days = two (2) checked bags  

  
Baggage fees for sports equipment are not reimbursable.  
  



  Exhibit B 
  Schedule 1 

   
2 

2. Ground Transportation  
  

A. Private Automobile  
  

Mileage Allowance – Business use of an employee’s private automobile will be reimbursed at the 
current IRS allowable rate, plus out of pocket costs for tolls and parking.  Mileage will be calculated 
by using the employee's office as the starting and ending point, in compliance with IRS regulations.  
Employees who have been designated a home office should calculate miles from their home.  
 
B. Rental Car  

Employees are authorized to rent cars only in conjunction with air travel when cost, convenience, 
and the specific situation reasonably require their use.  When renting a car for Tyler business, 
employees should select a “mid-size” or “intermediate” car.  “Full” size cars may be rented when 
three or more employees are traveling together.  Tyler carries leased vehicle coverage for business 
car rentals; except for employees traveling to Alaska and internationally (excluding Canada), 
additional insurance on the rental agreement should be declined.  

 
C. Public Transportation  

  
Taxi or airport limousine services may be considered when traveling in and around cities or to and 
from airports when less expensive means of transportation are unavailable or impractical.  The 
actual fare plus a reasonable tip (15-18%) are reimbursable.  In the case of a free hotel shuttle to the 
airport, tips are included in the per diem rates and will not be reimbursed separately.  

  
D. Parking & Tolls  

  
When parking at the airport, employees must use longer term parking areas that are measured in 
days as opposed to hours.  Park and fly options located near some airports may also be used.  For 
extended trips that would result in excessive parking charges, public transportation to/from the 
airport should be considered.  Tolls will be reimbursed when receipts are presented.  

  
3. Lodging  
  

Tyler’s TMC will select hotel chains that are well established, reasonable in price, and conveniently 
located in relation to the traveler's work assignment.  Typical hotel chains include Courtyard, 
Fairfield Inn, Hampton Inn, and Holiday Inn Express.  If the employee has a discount rate with a local 
hotel, the hotel reservation should note that discount and the employee should confirm the lower 
rate with the hotel upon arrival.  Employee memberships in travel clubs such as AAA should be 
noted in their travel profiles so that the employee can take advantage of any lower club rates.   
  
“No shows” or cancellation fees are not reimbursable if the employee does not comply with the 
hotel’s cancellation policy.  
  
Tips for maids and other hotel staff are included in the per diem rate and are not reimbursed 
separately.  
 



  Exhibit B 
  Schedule 1 

   
3 

Employees are not authorized to reserve non-traditional short-term lodging, such as Airbnb, VRBO, 
and HomeAway. Employees who elect to make such reservations shall not be reimbursed. 
  

4. Meals and Incidental Expenses  
  
Employee meals and incidental expenses while on travel status within the continental U.S. are in 
accordance with the federal per diem rates published by the General Services Administration.  
Incidental expenses include tips to maids, hotel staff, and shuttle drivers and other minor travel 
expenses.  Per diem rates are available at www.gsa.gov/perdiem.    
 
Per diem for Alaska, Hawaii, U.S. protectorates and international destinations are provided 
separately by the Department of State and will be determined as required.  
 
A. Overnight Travel  

 
For each full day of travel, all three meals are reimbursable.  Per diems on the first and last day of a 
trip are governed as set forth below.    
 

Departure Day  
  

Depart before 12:00 noon      Lunch and dinner  
Depart after 12:00 noon       
  
Return Day  
  

Dinner  

Return before 12:00 noon      Breakfast  
Return between 12:00 noon & 7:00 p.m.   Breakfast and lunch  
Return after 7:00 p.m.*        Breakfast, lunch and dinner  

  
*7:00 p.m. is defined as direct travel time and does not include time taken to stop for dinner.  
  
The reimbursement rates for individual meals are calculated as a percentage of the full day per diem 
as follows:  
  

Breakfast  15%  
Lunch    25%  
Dinner   60%  

  
B. Same Day Travel  
  
Employees traveling at least 100 miles to a site and returning in the same day are eligible to claim 
lunch on an expense report.  Employees on same day travel status are eligible to claim dinner in the 
event they return home after 7:00 p.m.*  
  
*7:00 p.m. is defined as direct travel time and does not include time taken to stop for dinner.  



  Exhibit B 
  Schedule 1 

   
4 

  
5. Internet Access – Hotels and Airports  

  
Employees who travel may need to access their e-mail at night.  Many hotels provide free high 
speed internet access and Tyler employees are encouraged to use such hotels whenever possible.  If 
an employee’s hotel charges for internet access it is reimbursable up to $10.00 per day.  Charges for 
internet access at airports are not reimbursable.  
  

6. International Travel  
 
All international flights with the exception of flights between the U.S. and Canada should be 
reserved through TMC using the “lowest practical coach fare” with the exception of flights that are 
six (6) or more consecutive hours in length. In such event, the next available seating class above 
coach shall be reimbursed.  
 
When required to travel internationally for business, employees shall be reimbursed for photo fees, 
application fees, and execution fees when obtaining a new passport book, but fees related to 
passport renewals are not reimbursable. Visa application and legal fees, entry taxes and departure 
taxes are reimbursable.  
 
The cost of vaccinations that are either required for travel to specific countries or suggested by the 
U.S. Department of Health & Human Services for travel to specific countries, is reimbursable.  
 
Section 4, Meals & Incidental Expenses, and Section 2.b., Rental Car, shall apply to this section. 

 



  Exhibit C 

   
1 

 

Exhibit C 
Service Level Agreement  

 

I.  Agreement Overview 

This SLA operates in conjunction with, and does not supersede or replace any part of, the Agreement.  It 
outlines the information technology service levels that we will provide to you to ensure the availability of 
the application services that you have requested us to provide.  This SLA does not apply to any Third Party 
SaaS Services.  All other support services are documented in the Support Call Process.   
 
II. Definitions. Except as defined below, all defined terms have the meaning set forth in the 
Agreement. 
 
Actual Attainment: The percentage of time the Tyler Software is available during a calendar quarter, 
calculated as follows:  (Service Availability – Downtime) ÷ Service Availability. 

Client Error Incident: Any service unavailability resulting from your applications, content or equipment, or 
the acts or omissions of any of your service users or third-party providers over whom we exercise no 
control.   

Downtime: Those minutes during Service Availability, as defined below, when all users cannot launch, 
login, search or save primary data in the Tyler Software.  Downtime does not include those instances in 
which only a Defect is present. 

Emergency Maintenance: (1) maintenance that is required to patch a critical security vulnerability; (2) 
maintenance that is required to prevent an imminent outage of Service Availability; or (3) maintenance 
that is mutually agreed upon in writing by Tyler and the Client.   

Planned Downtime: Downtime that occurs during a Standard or Emergency Maintenance window. 

Service Availability:  The total number of minutes in a calendar quarter that the Tyler Software is capable 
of receiving, processing, and responding to requests, excluding Planned Downtime, Client Error Incidents, 
denial of service attacks and Force Majeure. 

Standard Maintenance: Routine maintenance to the Tyler Software and infrastructure.  Standard 
Maintenance is limited to five (5) hours per week.  

 
III.  Service Availability 
 

a. Your Responsibilities 

Whenever you experience Downtime, you must make a support call according to the procedures outlined 
in the Support Call Process.  You will receive a support case number. 

b. Our Responsibilities 

When our support team receives a call from you that Downtime has occurred or is occurring, we will work 
with you to identify the cause of the Downtime (including whether it may be the result of Planned 



  Exhibit C 

   
2 

Downtime, a Client Error Incident, Denial of Service attack or Force Majeure).  We will also work with you 
to resume normal operations. 

c.  Client Relief 

Our targeted Attainment Goal is 100%.  You may be entitled to credits as indicated in the Client Relief 
Schedule found below.  Your relief credit is calculated as a percentage of the SaaS fees paid for the 
calendar quarter.  

In order to receive relief credits, you must submit a request through one of the channels listed in our 
Support Call Process within fifteen days (15) of the end of the applicable quarter.  We will respond to your 
relief request within thirty (30) day(s) of receipt.   

The total credits confirmed by us will be applied to the SaaS Fee for the next billing cycle.  Issuing of such 
credit does not relieve us of our obligations under the Agreement to correct the problem which created 
the service interruption.     

 

Client Relief Schedule 

Actual Attainment Client Relief 

99.99% - 98.00% Remedial action will be taken 

97.99% - 95.00% 4% 

Below 95.00% 5% 

 

IV. Maintenance Notifications 

We perform Standard Maintenance during limited windows that are historically known to be reliably 
low-traffic times.  If and when maintenance is predicted to occur during periods of higher traffic, we will 
provide advance notice of those windows and will coordinate to the greatest extent possible with you. 
 
Not all maintenance activities will cause application unavailability.  However, if Tyler anticipates that 
activities during a Standard or Emergency Maintenance window may make the Tyler Software unavailable, 
we will provide advance notice, as reasonably practicable that the Tyler Software will be unavailable 
during the maintenance window.



  Exhibit C 
  Schedule 1 

   
1 

 

Exhibit C 
Schedule 1 

Support Call Process  
 
Support Channels 
 
Tyler Technologies, Inc. provides the following channels of software support for authorized users*:   

(1) On-line submission (portal) – for less urgent and functionality-based questions, users may create 
support incidents through the Tyler Customer Portal available at the Tyler Technologies website.  
A built-in Answer Panel provides users with resolutions to most “how-to” and configuration-
based questions through a simplified search interface with machine learning, potentially 
eliminating the need to submit the support case.  

(2) Email – for less urgent situations, users may submit emails directly to the software support 
group. 

(3) Telephone – for urgent or complex questions, users receive toll-free, telephone software 
support.  
* Channel availability may be limited for certain applications. 

Support Resources 
 
A number of additional resources are available to provide a comprehensive and complete support 
experience:  

(1) Tyler Website – www.tylertech.com – for accessing client tools, documentation, and other 
information including support contact information.  

(2) Tyler Search -a knowledge based search engine that lets you search multiple sources 
simultaneously to find the answers you need, 24x7.  

(3) Tyler Community –provides a venue for all Tyler clients with current maintenance agreements to 
collaborate with one another, share best practices and resources, and access documentation.  

(4) Tyler University – online training courses on Tyler products. 

Support Availability 
 
Tyler Technologies support is available during the local business hours of 8 AM to 5 PM (Monday – 
Friday) across four US time zones (Pacific, Mountain, Central and Eastern). Tyler’s holiday schedule is 
outlined below. There will be no support coverage on these days.  
 

New Year’s Day Thanksgiving Day 
Memorial Day Day after Thanksgiving 
Independence Day Christmas Day 
Labor Day  

 
For support teams that provide after-hours service, we will provide you with procedures for contacting 
support staff after normal business hours for reporting Priority Level 1 Defects only. Upon receipt of 



  Exhibit C 
  Schedule 1 

   
2 

such a Defect notification, we will use commercially reasonable efforts to meet the resolution targets 
set forth below.  
 
We will also make commercially reasonable efforts to be available for one pre-scheduled Saturday of 
each month to assist your IT staff with applying patches and release upgrades, as well as consulting with 
them on server maintenance and configuration of the Tyler Software environment. 
 
Incident Handling 
 
Incident Tracking 
 
Every support incident is logged into Tyler’s Customer Relationship Management System and given a 
unique case number. This system tracks the history of each incident. The case number is used to track 
and reference open issues when clients contact support. Clients may track incidents, using the case 
number, through Tyler’s Customer Portal or by calling software support directly.  
 
Incident Priority 
 
Each incident is assigned a priority level, which corresponds to the Client’s needs. Tyler and the Client 
will reasonably set the priority of the incident per the chart below. This chart is not intended to address 
every type of support incident, and certain “characteristics” may or may not apply depending on 
whether the Tyler software has been deployed on customer infrastructure or the Tyler cloud. The goal is 
to help guide the Client towards clearly understanding and communicating the importance of the issue 
and to describe generally expected response and resolution targets in the production environment only. 
 
References to a “confirmed support incident” mean that Tyler and the Client have successfully validated 
the reported Defect/support incident.   
 

Priority 
Level Characteristics of Support Incident Resolution Targets* 

1 
Critical 

Support incident that causes (a) 
complete application failure or 
application unavailability; (b) 
application failure or unavailability in 
one or more of the client’s remote 
location; or (c) systemic loss of 
multiple essential system functions. 

Tyler shall provide an initial response to Priority Level 
1 incidents within one (1) business hour of receipt of 
the incident.  Once the incident has been confirmed, 
Tyler shall use commercially reasonable efforts to 
resolve such support incidents or provide a 
circumvention procedure within one (1) business 
day.  For non-hosted customers, Tyler’s responsibility 
for lost or corrupted data is limited to assisting the 
Client in restoring its last available database. 



  Exhibit C 
  Schedule 1 

   
3 

Priority 
Level Characteristics of Support Incident Resolution Targets* 

2 
High 

Support incident that causes (a) 
repeated, consistent failure of 
essential functionality affecting more 
than one user or (b) loss or corruption 
of data. 

Tyler shall provide an initial response to Priority Level 
2 incidents within four (4) business hours of receipt of 
the incident.  Once the incident has been confirmed, 
Tyler shall use commercially reasonable efforts to 
resolve such support incidents or provide a 
circumvention procedure within ten (10) business 
days.  For non-hosted customers, Tyler’s 
responsibility for loss or corrupted data is limited to 
assisting the Client in restoring its last available 
database. 

3 
Medium 

Priority Level 1 incident with an 
existing circumvention procedure, or 
a Priority Level 2 incident that affects 
only one user or for which there is an 
existing circumvention procedure. 

Tyler shall provide an initial response to Priority Level 
3 incidents within one (1) business day of receipt of 
the incident.  Once the incident has been confirmed, 
Tyler shall use commercially reasonable efforts to 
resolve such support incidents without the need for a 
circumvention procedure with the next published 
maintenance update or service pack, which shall 
occur at least quarterly.  For non-hosted customers, 
Tyler’s responsibility for lost or corrupted data is 
limited to assisting the Client in restoring its last 
available database. 

4 
Non-

critical 

Support incident that causes failure of 
non-essential functionality or a 
cosmetic or other issue that does not 
qualify as any other Priority Level. 

Tyler shall provide an initial response to Priority Level 
4 incidents within two (2) business days of receipt of 
the incident.  Once the incident has been confirmed, 
Tyler shall use commercially reasonable efforts to 
resolve such support incidents, as well as cosmetic 
issues, with a future version release. 

*Response and Resolution Targets may differ by product or business need 
 
Incident Escalation  
 
If Tyler is unable to resolve any priority level 1 or 2 defect as listed above or the priority of an issue has 
elevated since initiation, you may escalate the incident to the appropriate resource, as outlined by each 
product support team.  The corresponding resource will meet with you and any Tyler staff to establish a 
mutually agreeable plan for addressing the defect. 

Remote Support Tool 
 
Some support calls may require further analysis of the Client’s database, processes or setup to diagnose 
a problem or to assist with a question. Tyler will, at its discretion, use an industry-standard remote 
support tool. Tyler’s support team must have the ability to quickly connect to the Client’s system and 
view the site’s setup, diagnose problems, or assist with screen navigation. More information about the 
remote support tool Tyler uses is available upon request.     



ITEM: 

CITY OF NAVASOTA
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA

AGENDA ITEM NO.: 10. AGENDA DATE: January 10,
2022

 
PREPARED BY:
 
APPROVED BY: BS
 

Consideration and possible action on Resolution No. 707-
22, designating the persons authorized to sign checks and
authorizing designated persons to access bank accounts for
certain purposes. [Lance Hall, Finance Director]
 

ITEM BACKGROUND:
With the hiring of a new city manager, we need to update our
signatory list with Citizens State Bank. We currently have the
following as signors:

Mayor Bert Miller

Mayor Pro Tem Grant Holt

City Manager Brad Stafford

Finance Director Lance Hall

We need to remove Brad Stafford and replace him with new City
Manager Jason Weeks
 

BUDGETARY AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY:
 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends approval of Resolution No. 707-22, designating
the persons authorized to sign checks and authorizing designated
persons to access bank accounts for certain purposes.

Lance Hall, Finance Director



 

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Resolution No. 707-22

http://packets.shea.agendease.com/downloadScripts/getAttachment.php?cID=10000125&authSessId=&aName=1641247307x_at.pdf


RESOLUTION NO. 707-22 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NAVASOTA, TEXAS 
DESIGNATING THE PERSONS AUTHORIZED TO SIGN CHECKS, AND 

AUTHORIZING DESIGNATED PERSONS TO ACCESS BANK ACCOUNTS FOR 
CERTAIN PURPOSES 

 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Navasota, Texas desires to adopt a 
resolution designating the persons authorized to sign City of Navasota checks drawn 
upon the account(s) at the City’s depository bank; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Navasota, Texas further desires to 
adopt a resolution authorizing certain to approve electronic funds transfers, for bill pay 
and other related items as well as payroll taxes and ACH customer transfers from the 
City of Navasota bank accounts to the extent necessary to timely initiate; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 
CITY OF NAVASOTA, TEXAS THAT: 
 
1.  The following persons are authorized to sign checks (checks require two 
signatures) drawn on the account(s) at the City’s depository bank for items approved in 
the City’s budget or as specifically authorized by the City Council: 
 
  Mayor Bert Miller 
  Mayor Pro Tem Grant Holt 
  City Manager Jason Weeks 
  Finance Director Lance Hall 
   
2. The following persons are authorized to approve (two signatures are required) 
electronic funds transfers, for bill pay and other related items as well as payroll taxes 
and ACH customer transfers from the City of Navasota bank accounts to the extent 
necessary to timely initiate: 
 
  Mayor Bert Miller 
  Mayor Pro Tem Grant Holt 
  City Manager Jason Weeks 
  Finance Director Lance Hall 
   
 
3.  The persons designated hereinabove are further authorized to execute signature 
cards and other documents required by the City’s depository bank to implement this 
Resolution. 
 
  



PASSED AND APPROVED THIS THE 10TH DAY OF JANUARY 2022. 
 
  
  
      __________________________ 
            BERT MILLER, MAYOR 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY 



ITEM: 

CITY OF NAVASOTA
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA

AGENDA ITEM NO.: 11. AGENDA DATE: January 10,
2022

 

PREPARED BY:

 
APPROVED BY: BS
 

Discussion, consideration and possible action regarding the
sale of certain tracts of City-owned real property located in
Navasota, Grimes County, Texas; determination of the method of
sale; and authorize City staff to complete the procedures
necessary for the proposed sale of said real property subject to
final approval by the City Council. [Lupe Diosdado, Development
Services Director]
 

ITEM BACKGROUND:
Staff was contacted by Jonathan Vacante regarding city owned
lots, Mr. Vacante is interested in purchasing the lots from the City.
Attached is the request from Mr. Vacante as well as a report of
the affected properties for your review. Per legal counsel if City
Council decides to sell the property it can be done 1 of 3 ways,
brokerage sale, public auction or sealed bid.
 

BUDGETARY AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY:
Grimes County Appraisal District's appraised value for the affected
lots are included in the attached staff report:
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends utilizing the sealed bid method with a minimum
bid based on appraisals completed by an appraisal company if a
motion is made to proceed with a sale.
 

Lupe Diosdado, Development Services
Director



ATTACHMENTS:

1. Request Letter
2. Staff Report

http://packets.shea.agendease.com/downloadScripts/getAttachment.php?cID=10000125&authSessId=&aName=1639503807x_at.pdf
http://packets.shea.agendease.com/downloadScripts/getAttachment.php?cID=10000125&authSessId=&aName=1640793956x_at.pdf




  

City of Navasota  
City Council  

Sale of City Property: Staff Report 
December 29, 2021 

 
 

 
Summary - R26434: 
Located within the 100-year studied flood zone “AE” where base flood elevations have been 
established and development is feasible. Total land size 28,750 Sq. ft / 0.660009 acres.  

 

PID  R26434 
PropertyNu 6600-025-0010 
LegalDescr MCNAIR, BLOCK 25, LOT 1 THRU 5 
FullName NAVASOTA, CITY OF 
PropertyAd N JONES AVE, NAVASOTA, TX 77868 
TotalLandM $ 8,750 
TotalImpMk 0 
DeedDate 8/4/1947, 7:00 PM 
Zoning District R-1A (Single Family) 



Summary – R20949: 
Located along unimproved Davis Street right-of-way. The cost to extend pavement and utilities 
would be borne by the property owner to develop the property. 

 
 
PID  R20949 
PropertyNu 2250-042-0080 
LegalDescr CAMP IM, BLOCK 42, LOT 7,8,9,10 
FullName NAVASOTA, CITY OF 
TotalLandM $ 8,160 
TotalImpMk 0 
DeedDate 
Zoning District M-1 (Light Industrial) 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Summary – R31432: 
Located within the 100-year studied FLOODWAY, where development and construction are not 
recommended. Total land size 8,750 Sq. ft / 0.200872 acres. Sale of the property is not 
recommended. 

 
 
PID  R31432 
PropertyNu 8700-006-0010 
LegalDescr WOODWARD, BLOCK 6, LOT 1 
FullName NAVASOTA, CITY OF 
TotalLandM $ 6,650 
TotalImpMk 0 
DeedDate 8/15/2016, 7:00 PM 
Zoning District B-1 (General Business District) 
 
 
 



Summary – R24889: 
Located within the 100-year studied flood zone where base flood elevations have been 
established and development is feasible.  A natural gas regulator station is located on the 
northeast corner of the property. If sold a public utility access easement will be required for 
maintenance of the regulator station. 

 
 
PID  R24889 
PropertyNu 4600-010-0040 
LegalDescr H & D, BLOCK 10, LOT 4,5 
FullName NAVASOTA, CITY OF 
PropertyAd 416 BAKER, NAVASOTA, TX 77868 
TotalLandM $ 4,250 
TotalImpMk 0 
DeedDate  
Zoning District B-1 (General Business District) 



Summary – R20706: 
Located in the 100-year studied flood zone where base flood elevations have been established 
and development is feasible.  Total land size 36,000 Sq. ft / 0.826446 acres. 

 
 
PID  R20706 
PropertyNu 2240-011-0010 
LegalDescr CAMP CANAAN, BLOCK 11, LOT 1,2 
FullName NAVASOTA, CITY OF 
PropertyAd 402 LINCOLN ST, NAVASOTA, TX 77868 
TotalLandM $ 18,240 
TotalImpMk 0 
DeedDate 12/31/1928, 6:00 PM 
Zoning District R-1A (Single Family) 

 



CITY OF NAVASOTA
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA

AGENDA ITEM NO.: 12. AGENDA DATE: January 10,
2022

 
PREPARED BY:
 
APPROVED BY: BS
 

Susie M. Homeyer, City Secretary



ITEM: Consent Agenda: The following items may be acted upon
with one motion and vote. No separate discussion or action is
necessary unless requested by the Mayor or City Councilmember,
in which event the item will be removed from the Consent Agenda
for separate discussion and/or action by the City Council as part of
the regular agenda. [City Council]

Consent Items are:

A. Consideration and possible action on the minutes for the month
of December 2021;

B. Consideration and possible action on the expenditures for the
month of December 2021;

C. Consideration and possible action on the second reading of
Ordinance No. 985-21, approving a zoning change application
submitted by James C Hassell for the properties located in the
A0062 J Whitesides Abstract. The zoning change application
requests to change the zoning from A/O: Agriculture/Open Space
District to Pecan Lakes Estates Phase IV PUD, a planned unit
development, for the development of a 63.55-acre single dwelling
unit subdivision. The properties affected are legally described as
A0062 J Whitesides, Tract 17-2, Acres 31.76, A0062 J Whitesides,
Tract 17, Acres 31.79 , located in Navasota, Grimes County,
Texas;

D. Consideration and possible action on the second reading of
Ordinance No. 986-21, amending Chapter 3 Building Regulations,
Article 3.06 Signs, Section 3.06.013 Signs on Public Property, for
the purpose of allowing and regulating signs on public property
owned or controlled by a governmental entity; and

E. Consideration and possible action on the second reading of
Ordinance No. 987-21, approving an application submitted by
Serafin Estupinan to the City of Navasota requesting to abandon a
twenty foot (20') public alleyway located in Block H of the Park
Place Addition, in the City of Navasota, Grimes County, Texas.
 

ITEM BACKGROUND:
 
 



BUDGETARY AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY:
 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends approval of the consent agenda items which
includes the minutes and expenditures for the month of November
2021.
 

ATTACHMENTS:
1. Minutes - 12/06/2021 - Special
2. Minutes - 12/13/2021
3. Expenditures for December 2021
4. Ordinance No. 985-21
5. Ordinance No. 986-21
6. Ordinance No. 987-21

http://packets.shea.agendease.com/downloadScripts/getAttachment.php?cID=10000125&authSessId=&aName=1641250309x_at.pdf
http://packets.shea.agendease.com/downloadScripts/getAttachment.php?cID=10000125&authSessId=&aName=1641250331x_at.pdf
http://packets.shea.agendease.com/downloadScripts/getAttachment.php?cID=10000125&authSessId=&aName=1641252412x_at.pdf
http://packets.shea.agendease.com/downloadScripts/getAttachment.php?cID=10000125&authSessId=&aName=1641252443x_at.pdf
http://packets.shea.agendease.com/downloadScripts/getAttachment.php?cID=10000125&authSessId=&aName=1641252467x_at.pdf
http://packets.shea.agendease.com/downloadScripts/getAttachment.php?cID=10000125&authSessId=&aName=1641252488x_at.pdf


MINUTES 

SPECIAL MEETING 

DECEMBER 6, 2021 

 

The City Council of the City of Navasota, Grimes County, Texas met at the City Council 

Chambers, Room No. 161, located at 200 E. McAlpine Street at 10:00 a.m., Navasota, 

Texas on the above date with the following being present: 

 

   Bernie Gessner, Councilmember, Place # 1 

Josh M. Fultz, Councilmember, Place # 3 

Bert Miller, Mayor, Place # 4 

Grant E. Holt, Mayor Pro-Tem, Place # 5 

 

(Pattie Pederson, Councilmember, Place # 2 was absent)  

 

Thus constituting a quorum. 

 

STAFF PRESENT:  Susie M. Homeyer, City Secretary; Shawn Myatt, Police 

Chief/Assistant City Manager; Peggy Johnson, HR Director; Cary Bovey, Legal Counsel; 

Lance Hall, Finance Director and Jason Katkoski, Fire Chief/EMC. 

 

VISITORS:  Connie Clements and Jason Weeks. 

 

THE ITEMS ON THE AGENDA WERE TAKEN UP IN DUE ORDER AS FOLLOWS: 

  

 1.  Mayor Bert Miller called the meeting to order at 10:00 a.m. 

 

2.  Invocation was given by Mayor Pro-Tem Grant Holt. The City Council, staff 

members and visitors then recited the Pledge of Allegiance to the American Flag 

and the Texas Flag. 

 

3. Remarks of visitors:  None. 

 

4. The City Council held an Executive Session in accordance with Section 

551.074, Texas Government Code - Personnel Matters - Discussion concerning 

the appointment, employment, evaluation, and duties of a new City Manager, 

and related issues.  The time was 10:05 a.m. 

 

5.  The City Council reconvened in open session at 10:29 a.m. 

 



6. Councilmember Josh Fultz moved to amend the employment agreement with 

the new City Manager, Jason Weeks and have the Mayor to negotiate the final 

contract version, seconded by Councilmember Bernie Gessner and with each 

Councilmember that was present voting AYE, the motion carried.  

 

7.  Mayor Bert Miller adjourned the meeting at 10:31 a.m. 

 

 

                                      

                                                     ___________________________ 

                                                            BERT MILER, MAYOR 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________________ 

SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY 



MINUTES 

REGULAR MEETING 

DECEMBER 13, 2021 

The City Council of the City of Navasota, Grimes County, Texas met at the City Council 
Chambers, Room No. 161, located at 200 E. McAlpine Street at 6:00 p.m., Navasota, Texas 
on the above date with the following being present: 

Bernie Gessner, Councilmember, Place # 1 

Pattie Pederson, Councilmember, Place # 2 

Josh M. Fultz, Councilmember, Place # 3 

Bert Miller, Mayor, Place # 4 

Grant E. Holt, Mayor Pro-Tem, Place # 5 

 

Thus constituting a quorum. 
 
STAFF PRESENT: Susie M. Homeyer, City Secretary; Cary Bovey, Legal Counsel; Jennifer 
Reyna, Administrative Assistant; Lance Hall, Finance Director; Lupe Diosdado, Development 
Services Director; Shawn Myatt, Police Chief/Assistant City Manager; Rayna Willenbrink, 
Economic Development Specialist; Erik Covarrubias, Code Enforcement Specialist; Jason 
Katkoski, Fire Chief/EMC; Mitchell Kroll, Assistant Fire Chief; Brian Colbert, Water/Wastewater 
Operator; Leslie Mona, Library Clerk, Jason Weeks, New City Manager and Brad Stafford, 
Current City Manager. 
 
VISITORS: John Henry, Todd Wisner, Connie Clements, Stu Musik, Ronnie Gonzales, Dr. 
Brewer, Deborah Richardson, Dorothy Hassell, Jim Hassell, Benny Torres, Mark Rudolph, 
James Harris, and Senafin Estupinan. 

THE ITEMS ON THE AGENDA WERE TAKEN UP IN DUE ORDER AS FOLLOWS: 

1.  Mayor Bert Miller called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 
 
2.  Invocation was given by Mayor Pro-Tem Grant Holt. The City Council, staff members 
and visitors then recited the Pledge of Allegiance to the American Flag and the Texas 
Flag. 
 
3. Remarks of visitors: None. 
 
4. Staff report: 

 

a) Finance Director Lance Hall introduced the new library clerk, Leslie Mona; 
 
b) Interim Utility Director Jennifer Reyna and Mayor Bert Miller recognized Brian 
Colbert for five years of service;  
 
(c) John Henry gave an update on the Capital Improvements Project; 
 
(d) Fire Chief Jason Katkoski and Assistant Fire Chief Mitchell Kroll demonstrated some 
of the new fire equipment that was purchased with the voluntary fire department funds; 



(e) Code Enforcement Specialist Erik Covarrubias gave an update on the results from 
“Home for the Holidays”; 
 
(f)  Police Chief/Assistant City Manager Shawn Myatt gave an update on the launch 
party for the Texas Birthday Bash;  
 
(g)  Mark Rudolph, with Strand and Associates, gave an update on the utility 
department; 
 
(h) Mayor Bert Miller proclaimed the month of December as “Tree of Angels”; 
 
(i)  Mayor Pro-Tem Grant Holt gave an update on the latest Planning and Zoning 
meeting; and 
 
(j)  Councilmembers and staff informed the audience about upcoming events. 
 
5.  A public hearing was held regarding a zoning change application submitted by James 
C Hassell for the properties located in the A0062 J Whitesides Abstract. The zoning 
change application requests to change the zoning from A/O: Agriculture/Open Space 
District to Pecan Lakes Estates Phase IV PUD, a planned unit development, for the 
development of a 63.55-acre single dwelling unit subdivision. The properties affected 
are legally described as A0062 J Whitesides, Tract 17-2, Acres 31.76, A0062 J 
Whitesides, Tract 17, Acres 31.79 , located in Navasota, Grimes County, Texas.  Mayor 
Bert Miller opened the public hearing at 6:28 p.m.  The following residents spoke during 
the public hearing:  Todd Wisner, Jim Hassell, Deborah Richardson, Connie Clements, 
James Harris and Benny Torres.  With no other comments from the public, Mayor Bert 
Miller closed the public hearing at 7:04 p.m. 

 

6. Mayor Pro-Tem Grant Holt moved to approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 985-
21, approving a zoning change application submitted by James C Hassell for the 
properties located in the A0062 J Whitesides Abstract. The zoning change application 
requests to change the zoning from A/O: Agriculture/Open Space District to Pecan Lakes 
Estates Phase IV PUD, a planned unit development, for the development of a 63.55-acre 
single dwelling unit subdivision. The properties affected are legally described as A0062 J 
Whitesides, Tract 17-2, Acres 31.76, A0062 J Whitesides, Tract 17, Acres 31.79 , located 
in Navasota, Grimes County, Texas, based on the Planning and Zoning Commissions 
recommendation, seconded by Councilmember Bernie Gessner and with Councilmember 
voting AYE, the motion carried. 

 

7. Councilmember Bernie Gessner moved to approve Resolution No. 705-21, accepting 
the water, gas, street and underground storm drainage improvements of Phase Three 
section in Pecan Lakes Estates Subdivision except entrance signage, sewer 
infrastructure, common areas, detention pond and open channel storm drainage 
improvements, in the City of Navasota, Texas, seconded by Councilmember Josh Fultz 
and with each Councilmember voting AYE, the motion carried. 

 

8. Councilmember Bernie Gessner moved to approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 
986-21, amending Chapter 3 Building Regulations, Article 3.06 Signs, Section 3.06.013 
Signs on Public Property, for the purpose of allowing and regulating signs on public 



property owned or controlled by a governmental entity, seconded by Councilmember 
Josh Fultz and with each Councilmember voting AYE, the motion carried. 

 

9. A public hearing was held regarding an application submitted by Serafin Estupinan to 
the City of Navasota requesting to abandon a twenty foot (20') public alleyway located 
in Block H of the Park Place Addition, in the City of Navasota, Grimes County, Texas.  
Mayor Bert Miller opened the public hearing at 7:19 p.m. With no comments from the 
public, Mayor Bert Miller closed the public hearing at 7:21 p.m. 

 

10.Councilmember Josh Fultz moved to approve the first reading of Ordinance No. 987-
21, approving an application submitted by Serafin Estupinan to the City of Navasota 
requesting to abandon a twenty foot (20') public alleyway located in Block H of the Park 
Place Addition, in the City of Navasota, Grimes County, Texas, seconded by 
Councilmember Bernie Gessner and with each Councilmember voting AYE, the motion 
carried. 

 

11. A discussion was held on the lease agreement between the City of Navasota and the 
Kiwanis Club of Navasota for the use of the “Old Pro-Shop” property. 

 

12. The City Council did not take any action on the purchase of a software upgrade from 
Tyler Technologies. This item will be put on a future agenda. 

 

13. Councilmember Bernie Gessner moved to approve the consent agenda items which 
include the minutes and expenditures for the month of November 2021, seconded by 
Councilmember Josh Fultz and with each Councilmember voting AYE, the motion 
carried. 

 

14. Mayor Bert Miller adjourned the meeting at 7:34 p.m. 

_________________________ 

BERT MILER, MAYOR 

ATTEST: 

_______________________________ 

SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY 

 











































































































ORDINANCE NO. 985-21 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMEDNING THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF 
NAVASOTA, TEXAS TO REZONE 63.55 ACRES, MORE PARTICULARLY 
DESCRIBED AS A0062 J WHITESIDES, TRACT 17-2, ACRES 31.76 AND 
A0062 J WHITESIDES, TRACT 17, ACRES 31.79, FROM A/O: 
AGRICULTURE/OPEN SPACE DISTRICT TO “PECAN LAKES ESTATES PHASE 
IV PUD” A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT; PROVIDING OR A 
SEVERABILIY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, on the 12th of November 2021, property owner James Hassell, filed a 

petition requesting the rezoning of 63.55 acres more particularly described as A0062 J 
WHITESIDES, TRACT 17-2, ACRES 31.76 AND A0062 J WHITESIDES, TRACT 17, ACRES 31.79, 
and legally described by metes and bounds on Exhibit “A” which is attached hereto and 
incorporated herein for all purposes pertinent, from A/O: Agriculture/Open Space District to 
“Pecan Lakes Estates Phase IV PUD” a planned unit development to expand the existing 
residential subdivision Pecan Lakes Estates; and 
 

WHEREAS, the rezoning request is in harmony with the Comprehensive Plan of the City 
of Navasota; and 
 

WHEREAS, on the 9th day of December 2021, a public hearing was held before the 
Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Navasota, a quorum being present on the 
occasion and said matter of rezoning being part of the agenda for said Commission meeting, an 
opportunity to present arguments for and against the proposed rezoning was held; and 
 

WHEREAS, the properties are shown on Exhibit “B” attached hereto and incorporated 
herein for all purposes pertinent; and  
 

WHEREAS, the “Pecan Lakes Estates Phase IV PUD: Concept Plan” is also attached 
hereto as Exhibit “C” and incorporated herein for all purposes pertinent, outlining the 
requirements and standards of the “Pecan Lakes Estates Phase IV PUD” a Planned Unit 
Development; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommends to the City Council of the 
City of Navasota that it is in the best interest and to the benefit of the residents of the City of 
Navasota, that the said properties be rezoned from A/O Agriculture Open Space District to 
Pecan Lakes Estates Phase IV PUD a Planned Unit Development; and 
 

WHEREAS, on the 13th day of December 2021, after notice as required by law, a public 
hearing was held before the Navasota City Council, a quorum being present on the occasion 
and said matter of rezoning being part of the agenda, an opportunity to present arguments for 
and against the proposed rezoning was held; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
NAVASOTA, TEXAS THAT: 
 



SECTION 1. The Official Zoning Map of the City of Navasota is hereby amended to change the 
property legally described on Exhibit “A” and shown on Exhibit “B” from A/O Agriculture 
Open Space District to “Pecan Lakes Estates Phase IV PUD” a Planned Unit Development. 
Unless otherwise provided for or modified by Exhibit “C”, the property located within the 
Pecan Lakes Estates Phase IV PUD area shall conform to the provisions of the City’s Zoning 
Ordinance, Subdivision Ordinance and all other applicable ordinances. 
 
SECTION 2. If any section, subsection, word, sentence or phrase of this Ordinance is held 
invalid, it shall not affect the remaining parts of this Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 3. This Ordinance shall become effective from and after its passage, approval, and 
adoption on second reading. 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED ON FIRST READING THIS THE 13th DAY OF 
DECEMBER 2021. 
 
 
                                                                     _________________________ 
                                                                          BERT MILLER, MAYOR 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY 
 
 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED ON SECOND READING THIS 10th DAY OF 
JANUARY 2022. 
 
 
 
                                                                       ______________________ 
                                                                            BERT MILLER, MAYOR 

 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY 
 
 

 
 
 









 

 

Exhibit “B” 

 

Pecan Lakes Estates Phase IV 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Exhibit “C” 

 

Pecan Lakes Estates Phase IV PUD: Concept Plan 

 
Subdivision Homeowner’s Association 

Pecan Lakes Estates will have an HOA which will be responsible for public/common areas of the 

subdivision, regulate parking off of the street, provide for design covenant review/construction 

finishes.   

 

Permitted Uses  

1. Single dwelling units  

2. Temporary construction buildings for use incidental to permitted construction work on the 

premises.  Such buildings must be removed upon completion or abandonment of construction.    

3. Real Estate sales offices during the development of residential subdivisions, but not to exceed 

two (2) years. 

4. Accessory units, customarily incidental to the above uses, and located on the same lot not 

involving the conduct of retail business except as allowed by the Zoning Ordinance, and 

provided that any accessory structure shall be located not less than five (5) feet from any side or 

rear lot line. 

5. Parkland and open space 

6. Water supply, sanitary sewer, storm sewer and similar utility facilities 

Prohibited Uses 

1. Uses that are not listed as permitted uses. 

 
Development Standards 

1. Height Restrictions 
a. Thirty-five (35) feet high is the maximum height including roof gables, chimneys, vent 

stacks, or other mechanical equipment 
2. Building Setbacks 

a. Front setback 
i. Twenty-five (25) feet 

b. Rear setback 
i. Twenty (20) feet 

c. Side Setback 
i. On each side of a single dwelling unit having a width of not less than five (5) 

feet. When abutting a street, the minimum side setback shall be at least twenty 
(20) feet. 

3. Lot Dimensions 
a. Lot Area for Single Dwelling Unit minimum lot area shall be 6,000 square feet 
b. Lot Width for Single Dwelling Unit shall be a minimum of 50 feet wide 
c. Lot Depth shall average a minimum of 100 feet in depth between the side lot lines 



 
4. Density  

a. The maximum number of single dwelling units, shall not exceed 6 units per acre 
5. Parking 

a. Two on-site parking spaces per single dwelling shall be required 
 

6. Facades 
a. Front and Side exterior facades of the single dwelling units shall be constructed of 100% 

brick or stone masonry. 
 

7. Exterior Lighting 
a. All Street Lighting and Exterior Lighting of the dwellings shall be designed to direct light 

down onto the site and away from neighboring property.  Lighting shall be designed to 
include cut-off shielding to minimize light pollution. 
 

8. Landscape Standards 
a. Landscape designs shall be prepared to enhance the visual appeal of the built 

environment, screen undesirable views, strengthen the pedestrian scale, provide a 
buffer between auto and pedestrian environments, help define the site, provide 
congruency with the existing neighborhood, and break up large areas of hard surface. 

b. Re-naturalization of all areas disturbed by the construction of the site and buildings is 
required. Re-naturalizing includes the following native plant materials: 

i. 5–10% Trees 
ii. 25–45% Shrubs (a minimum of 3 varieties encouraged) 

iii. 35–55% Grasses 
iv. 0–25% Forbs 

c. Development shall minimize potable water consumption for irrigation. Reductions can 
be attributed to any combination of the following items: 

i. Predominate use (greater than fifty (50) percent) native plant species. 
ii. Efficient irrigation systems (WaterSense labeled irrigation controllers, rain 

guards, check valves, drip irrigation, etc.). 
iii. Use of captured rainwater for irrigation. 

d. Where landscaping is intended to provide a visual screen, the species, quantity, maturity 
(size), and spacing of the initial plantings shall be sufficient to provide a functional 
screen within a single growing season. 

e. Landscaping shall be completed within one year of receiving building occupancy. 
Exceptions for weather delays to landscape completion may be considered. 

f. No evergreen tree with a mature width greater than twenty (20) feet shall be planted 
within fifteen (15) feet of a hardscaped area. 

 
9. Sidewalks 

a. 4’ wide sidewalks shall be installed on at least one side of all public streets. 



ORDINANCE NO. 986-21 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF NAVASOTA, TEXAS AMENDING 
CHAPTER 3, ARTICLE 3.06 SIGNS, SECTION 3.06.013     SIGNS 
ON PUBLIC PROPERTY, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE 
CITY OF NAVASOTA, TEXAS REGARDING GOVERNMENTAL SIGNS; 
PROVIDING FOR A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR A 
REPEALER CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE; 
FINDING PROPER NOTICE OF MEETING; AND PROVIDING FOR 
CERTIFICATION OF ADOPTION. 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Navasota (“City”) is a Texas home-rule municipality; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Texas Local Government Code, Section 51.001, the City 
has the authority to adopt ordinances and regulations for the good government, peace 
and order of the City; and 

WHEREAS, as a home-rule municipality, Texas Local Government Code, Section 
51.072 confirms that the City has the full power of local self-government; and 

WHEREAS,  the City Council of the City of Navasota previously adopted certain 
regulations relating to signs; and  

WHEREAS,  the City Council desires to amend certain regulations applicable to 
signs; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds and determines that it is in the best interest 
of the City to adopt the regulations as set forth herein below; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of 
Navasota, Texas that: 
 
SECTION 1. FINDINGS INCORPORATED 
 
The findings set forth above are incorporated into the body of this ordinance as if fully 
set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 2. AMENDMENTS 
 
Chapter 3 Building Regulations, Article 3.06 Signs, Section 3.06.013 Signs on public 
property, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Navasota is hereby amended to read 
as follows: 
 
 
 
 



Sec. 3.06.013     Signs on public property 
 
(A) It is unlawful for any person to erect, maintain or cause to be erected or maintained 
any sign of any type upon any public property owned or controlled by the City of 
Navasota, including, but not limited to: public buildings, streets, bridges, sidewalks, 
easements, or rights-of-way within the city without the prior written approval of the city 
manager or his designee; provided, however, this section shall not apply to a public 
employee in the regular course and scope of the employee's employment. 
 
(B) Public facility signs. Signs located on public property owned or controlled by a 
governmental entity (such as a city, school district, county or other political subdivision) 
for property identification, public information or notice, or community safety purposes 
shall be permitted on such public property, notwithstanding any other provision of this 
article or whether such sign is a principal, separate or secondary use on such public 
property. 
 

(a) Required conditions.  
 

(i) Zoning overlay district: Sign area 32 sq. ft. - maximum height 4 ft. 
(ii) Within 400 feet of Highway 6: Sign area 64 sq. ft. - maximum 
height 10 ft. 
(iii) All other areas: Sign area - 32 sq. ft. - max height 6 ft. 

 
SECTION 3. CUMULATIVE EFFECT  
 

This Ordinance shall be cumulative of all laws of the State of Texas and the United 
States governing the subject matter of this Ordinance, now existing or as hereafter 
amended.  
 
SECTION 4. SEVERABILITY CLAUSE 
 
It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that the phrases, clauses, 
sentences, paragraphs and sections of this Ordinance are severable, and if any phrase, 
clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Ordinance shall be declared 
unconstitutional or invalid by the valid judgment or decree of any court of competent 
jurisdiction, such unconstitutionality or invalidity shall not affect any of the remaining 
phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of this Ordinance, since the same 
would have been enacted by the City Council without the incorporation of this 
Ordinance of any such unconstitutional or invalid phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph 
or section. 
 
SECTION 5. REPEALER CLAUSE 
 



Any provision of any prior ordinance of the City whether codified or uncodified, which 
are in conflict with any provision of this Ordinance, are hereby repealed to the extent of 
the conflict, but all other provisions of the ordinances of the City whether codified or 
uncodified, which are not in conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance, shall remain 
in full force and effect. 

 
SECTION 6. EFFECTIVE DATE 
 
This Ordinance shall become effective from and after its passage, approval and 
adoption on second reading, and its publication as may be required by law. 

 
SECTION 7. NOTICE OF MEETING 
 
Notice of the time and place, where and when said Ordinance would be considered by 
the City Council at a public meeting was given in accordance with applicable law, prior to 
the time designated for meeting.  

 
 
PASSED ON FIRST READING THIS THE 13th DAY OF DECEMBER, 2021. 
 
                                                                             
                                                         __________________________ 
                                                                   BERT MILLER, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY 
 
 
PASSED ON SECOND READING THIS THE 10th DAY OF JANUARY, 2022. 
 
                                                                       
                                                          __________________________ 
                                                                   BERT MILLER, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY 



ORDINANCE NO. 987-21 

  

AN ORDINANCE PROVIDING FOR THE ABANDONMENT OF A 

TWENTY FOOT (20’) PUBLIC ALLEYWAY; PROVIDING FOR 

THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH ABANDONMENT  

  

 WHEREAS, the City of Navasota, Texas (“City”) owns a twenty-foot (20’) wide 

alleyway as shown on Exhibit “A”; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City desires to abandon, close, and vacate the alleyway shown 

on Exhibit “A”; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the abandonment and closing of the alleyway shown on Exhibit 

“A” will not create an undue burden on traffic; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the City has no need or use for the alleyway as a public 

thoroughfare; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Navasota desires to abandon, close, 

and vacate the alleyway as shown on Exhibit “A”, said closure and abandonment 

being in the best interest of the citizens of Navasota;  

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF NAVASOTA, TEXAS:  

  

PART 1: That the following described portion of public rights-of-way, to wit: the 

twenty foot (20’) wide alleyway, as shown and described in more detail on 

Exhibit "A", attached hereto and made a part of this ordinance for all purposes, 

be, and the same is hereby ABANDONED, VACATED, and CLOSED insofar as 

the right, title or easement of the public is concerned.  

  

PART 2: That said portion of alleyway is not needed for public purposes and it 

is in the public interest of the City of Navasota, Texas, to abandon said 

described portion of alleyway.  

  

PART 3:  That the City hereby reserves all public utility easements located 

within that portion of the alleyway so abandoned.  

  

PART 4:  That all right, title, and interest in the oil, gas, and other minerals in, 

on, under, and that may be produced from the public alleyway be reserved by 

and to the benefit of the City.  

  



PART 5: That the abandonment provided for herein shall extend only to the 

public right, title and easement in and to the tracts of land described in Part 1 of 

this Ordinance, and shall be construed only to that interest the governing body 

of the City of Navasota may legally and lawfully abandon, and excepting 

therefrom the reservations in favor of the City noted herein.  

 

PART 6: That the Mayor of the City of Navasota is hereby authorized to execute 

any documents necessary for the conveyance of the public alleyway as shown 

on Exhibit “A” to the adjoining property owners.  

  

PASSED ON FIRST READING THIS THE 13th DAY OF DECEMBER, 

2021.   

                                                                                    

                                                                           

                                                          _____________________                                                                         

                                                                 BERT MILLER, MAYOR  

 

 

ATTEST:  

  

  

          ________________________________         

          SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY          

  

  

   PASSED ON SECOND READING THIS THE 10TH DAY OF JANUARY, 

2022.   

                                                                                    

                                                                           

                                                          _____________________                                                                         

                                                                 BERT MILLER, MAYOR  

  

 

 

 

ATTEST:  

  

  

          ________________________________         

          SUSIE M. HOMEYER, CITY SECRETARY 

 



shomeyer
Text Box
          "EXHIBIT A"





ITEM: 

CITY OF NAVASOTA
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA

AGENDA ITEM NO.: 13. AGENDA DATE: January 10,
2022

 

PREPARED BY:

 
APPROVED BY: BS
 

Executive Session: The City Council will conduct an
Executive Session in accordance with Section 551.072, Texas
Government Code, deliberation regarding real property and
discussion regarding the potential sale and/or value of City-owned
property.
 

ITEM BACKGROUND:
 
 

BUDGETARY AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY:
 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
 
 

ATTACHMENTS:

Lupe Diosdado, Development Services
Director



ITEM: 

CITY OF NAVASOTA
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA

AGENDA ITEM NO.: 14. AGENDA DATE: January 10,
2022

 
PREPARED BY:
 
APPROVED BY: BS
 

Executive Session: The City Council shall meet in Executive
Session in accordance with Section 551.086 - Texas Government
Code - Utility Competitive Matters - City of Navasota Gas Utility
System - Natural Gas Supply Agreements, Arrangements and
Associated Matters.
 

ITEM BACKGROUND:
The time is ________ p.m.
 

BUDGETARY AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY:
 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends conducting an Executive Session.
 

ATTACHMENTS:

Lance Hall, Finance Director



ITEM: 

CITY OF NAVASOTA
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA

AGENDA ITEM NO.: 15. AGENDA DATE: January 10,
2022

 
PREPARED BY:
 
APPROVED BY: BS
 

Reconvene in open session.
 

ITEM BACKGROUND:
The time is _______p.m.
 

BUDGETARY AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY:
 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
 
 

ATTACHMENTS:

Susie M. Homeyer, City Secretary



ITEM: 

CITY OF NAVASOTA
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA

AGENDA ITEM NO.: 16. AGENDA DATE: January 10,
2022

 

PREPARED BY:

 
APPROVED BY: BS
 

Deliberation and possible action regarding the sale of a
certain tract of City-owned real property located in Navasota,
Grimes County, Texas; determination of the method of sale; and
authorize City staff to complete the procedures necessary for the
proposed sale of said real property subject to final approval by the
City Council.
 

ITEM BACKGROUND:
 
 

BUDGETARY AND FINANCIAL SUMMARY:
 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:
 
 

ATTACHMENTS:

Lupe Diosdado, Development Services
Director



CITY OF NAVASOTA
MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS

1. PLANNING CALENDAR

http://packets.shea.agendease.com/downloadScripts/getAttachment.php?cID=10000125&authSessId=&aName=1641415256x_at.pdf


 
AGENDA PLANNING CALENDAR 

 
 

JANUARY 10, 2022 – DEADLINE FOR SUBMITTING ITEMS AND COVER SHEETS FOR THIS MEETING IS 12/27/2021 

1. Called to order 
2. Invocation/Pledge of Allegiance 
3. Remarks of visitors 
4. Staff Report: (a) Introduce State Representative Kyle Kacal; (b) Introduce new employees;  
    (c) Update on Capital Improvements Project; (d) Navasota Housing Authority update;  
    (e) Library update; (f) EDC update; (g) Update on Blue Santa; (h) Board and Commission  
    update; and (i) Reports from staff and City Council 
5. Contract with Republic Services 
6. 1st reading of Ordinance No. 988-21, adopting 2021 International Building Codes 
7. 1st reading of Ordinance No. 989-21, adopting 2021 Fire Codes 
8. Change Order No. 2 – WWTP Improvement Project 
9. Contract with Tyler Technology – software agreement 
10.Resolution No. 707-22, authorized signatures for bank business 
11.Sale of city owned properties 
12.Consent agenda: (a) Minutes for December 2021; (b) Expenditures for December 2021;  
    (c) 2nd reading of Ordinance No. 985-21, Pecan Lakes PUD; 2nd reading of Ordinance No.  
    986-21, Signs on Public Property; and (d) 2nd reading of Ordinance No. 987-21,  
    abandoning 20 ft. alleyway, Block H, Park Place 
13.Executive Session: Deliberation regarding real property and potential sale of City owned  
     property 
14.Executive Session: Utility Competitive Matters – CON Gas Utility System – Natural Gas Supple  
    Agreements and Associated Matters 
15.Reconven in open session 
16.Possible action on sale of City owned property 
17.Adjourn 

 
 

JANUARY 12, 2022 – 

State of the City Address 

 
 

JANUARY 18, 2022 – DEADLINE FOR SUBMITTING ITEMS AND COVER SHEETS FOR THIS MEETING IS 01/04/2022 

1. Called to order 
2. Invocation/Pledge of Allegiance 
3. Remarks of visitors 
4. 1st reading of Ordinance No. 990-22, Texas Enterprise Zone Application 
5. Consent agenda: (a) 2nd reading of Ordinance No. 988-21, adopting 2021 International  
    Building Code; and (b) 2nd reading of Ordinance No. 989-21, adopting 2021 Fire Codes  
6. Adjourn 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 

JANUARY 24, 2022 – DEADLINE FOR SUBMITTING ITEMS AND COVER SHEETS FOR THIS MEETING IS 01/10/2022 

1. Called to order 
2. Invocation/Pledge of Allegiance 
3. Remarks of visitors 
4. Staff Report: (a) Board and Commission update; and (b) Reports from staff and City Council 
5. Bid award for AWOS system 
6. Contract with Lions Club on use of building at August Horst Park for the Boy Scout Troop 
7. Resolution No. 708-22, Election Contract for 2022 
8. Gas Study – February Freeze 2021 
9. Quarterly Investment Report for December 2021 
10.2nd reading of Ordinance No. 990-22, Texas Enterprise Zone Application 
10. Adjourn 

 
 

FEBRUARY 14, 2022 – DEADLINE FOR SUBMITTING ITEMS AND COVER SHEETS FOR THIS MEETING IS 01/31/2022 

1. Called to order 
2. Invocation/Pledge of Allegiance 
3. Remarks of visitors 
4. Staff Report: (a) Update on Capital Improvements Project; (b) Board and Commission  
    update; and (c) Reports from staff and City Council 
5. Consent agenda: (a) Minutes for January 2022; and (b) Expenditures for January 2022 
6. Adjourn 

 
 

FEBRUARY 28, 2022 – DEADLINE FOR SUBMITTING ITEMS AND COVER SHEETS FOR THIS MEETING IS 02/14/2022 

1. Called to order 
2. Invocation/Pledge of Allegiance 
3. Remarks of visitors 
4. Staff Report: (a) Board and Commission update; and (b) Reports from staff and City Council 
5. Adjourn 

 


	Regular Meeting
	Agenda Item No.  -  City Manager's Message and Statements and Priorities
	 Statements and Priorities

	Agenda Item No. 4 -  Staff Report:
(a) Introduce State Representative Kyle Kacal;
(b) Introduce new employees;
(c) Update on Capital Improvements Project;
(d) Navasota Housing Authority update;
(e) Library update;
(f) EDC update;
(g) Blue Santa update;
(h) Board and Commission update; and
(i) Reports from City Staff or City Officials regarding items of community interests, including expressions of thanks, congratulations or condolence; information regarding holiday schedules; honorary or salutary recognition of public officials, public employees, or other citizens; reminders about upcoming events organized or sponsored by the City; information regarding social, ceremonial, or community events organized or sponsored by a non-City entity that is scheduled to be attended by City officials or employees; and announcements involving imminent threats to the public health and safety of people in the City that has arisen after the posting of the agenda. [Jason Weeks, City Manager]
	Agenda Item No. 5 -  Consideration and possible action on Republic Services contract. [Lance Hall, Finance Director]
	 Proposed Contract
	 Current contract

	Agenda Item No. 6 -  Consideration and possible action on the first reading of Ordinance No. 988-22, amending Chapter 3 Building Regulations, Article 3.02 Technical and Construction Codes and Standards, of the City of Navasota Code of Ordinances, adopting 2021 International Building Codes & 2020 National Electrical Code (NEC). [Jack Kelso, Building Inspector]
	 Ordinance No. 988-22

	Agenda Item No. 7 -  Consideration and possible action on the first reading of Ordinance No. 989-22, amending Chapter 5 Fire Prevention and Protection, Article 5.04 Fire Prevention Code, of the City of Navasota Code of Ordinances, adopting 2021 International Fire Codes. [Jason Katkoski, Fire Chief/EMC]
	 Ordinance No. 989-21

	Agenda Item No. 8 -  Consideration and possible action on the approval of Change Order No. 2 for the Wastewater Treatment Plant Improvement Project. [Jennifer Reyna/Bleyl Engineering]
	 WWTP Improvement Project Change Order No. 2

	Agenda Item No. 9 -  Consideration and possible action on the purchase of a software upgrade from Tyler Technologies. [Lance Hall, Finance Director]

	 Contract

	Agenda Item No. 10 -  Consideration and possible action on Resolution No. 707-22, designating the persons authorized to sign checks and authorizing designated persons to access bank accounts for certain purposes. [Lance Hall, Finance Director]
	 Resolution No. 707-22

	Agenda Item No. 11 -  Discussion, consideration and possible action regarding the sale of certain tracts of City-owned real property located in Navasota, Grimes County, Texas; determination of the method of sale; and authorize City staff to complete the procedures necessary for the proposed sale of said real property subject to final approval by the City Council. [Lupe Diosdado, Development Services Director]
	 Request Letter
	 Staff Report

	Agenda Item No. 12 -  Consent Agenda: The following items may be acted upon with one motion and vote. No separate discussion or action is necessary unless requested by the Mayor or City Councilmember, in which event the item will be removed from the Consent Agenda for separate discussion and/or action by the City Council as part of the regular agenda. [City Council]
Consent Items are:
A. Consideration and possible action on the minutes for the month of December 2021;
B. Consideration and possible action on the expenditures for the month of December 2021;
C. Consideration and possible action on the second reading of Ordinance No. 985-21, approving a zoning change application submitted by James C Hassell for the properties located in the A0062 J Whitesides Abstract. The zoning change application requests to change the zoning from A/O: Agriculture/Open Space District to Pecan Lakes Estates Phase IV PUD, a planned unit development, for the development of a 63.55-acre single dwelling unit subdivision. The properties affected are legally described as A0062 J Whitesides, Tract 17-2, Acres 31.76, A0062 J Whitesides, Tract 17, Acres 31.79 , located in Navasota, Grimes County, Texas;
D. Consideration and possible action on the second reading of Ordinance No. 986-21, amending Chapter 3 Building Regulations, Article 3.06 Signs, Section 3.06.013 Signs on Public Property, for the purpose of allowing and regulating signs on public property owned or controlled by a governmental entity; and
E. Consideration and possible action on the second reading of Ordinance No. 987-21, approving an application submitted by Serafin Estupinan to the City of Navasota requesting to abandon a twenty foot (20') public alleyway located in Block H of the Park Place Addition, in the City of Navasota, Grimes County, Texas. 
	 Minutes - 12/06/2021 - Special
	 Minutes - 12/13/2021
	 Expenditures for December 2021
	 Ordinance No. 985-21
	 Ordinance No. 986-21
	 Ordinance No. 987-21

	Agenda Item No. 13 -  Executive Session: The City Council will conduct an Executive Session in accordance with Section 551.072, Texas Government Code, deliberation regarding real property and discussion regarding the potential sale and/or value of City-owned property.
	Agenda Item No. 14 -  Executive Session:  The City Council shall meet in Executive Session in accordance with Section 551.086 - Texas Government Code - Utility Competitive Matters - City of Navasota Gas Utility System - Natural Gas Supply Agreements, Arrangements and Associated Matters.
	Agenda Item No. 15 -  Reconvene in open session.
	Agenda Item No. 16 -  Deliberation and possible action regarding the sale of a certain tract of City-owned real property located in Navasota, Grimes County, Texas; determination of the method of sale; and authorize City staff to complete the procedures necessary for the proposed sale of said real property subject to final approval by the City Council.
	Agenda Item No. 17 -  1. Planning Calendar
	 Planning Calendar




